# INTERNATIONAL TECHNOLOGY ROADMAP FOR SEMICONDUCTORS

# $2007 \ \text{Edition}$

# **EMERGING RESEARCH MATERIALS**

THE ITRS IS DEVISED AND INTENDED FOR TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT ONLY AND IS WITHOUT REGARD TO ANY COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS PERTAINING TO INDIVIDUAL PRODUCTS OR EQUIPMENT.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Emerging Research Materials	1
Scope	1
Difficult Challenges	1
Introduction	3
Potential ERM Applications	3
Low-Dimensional Materials	4
Carbon Nanolubes	/
Catalyst Design And Control For Nanotubes And Nanowires	
Graphitic Systems	10
Nanoparticles for High Refractive Index Immersion Fluids	11
Nanostructures For Package Applications	11
Macromolecules	.12
Macromolecules in Lithography	13
Molecular State Device Materials	15
Macromolecules for Low-K ILD	16
Directed Solf Accomply	. 17
Directed Self Assembly for Extending Lithographic Technologies	.18
Applications where Random Patterns are Usable	21
Directed Self Assembly of Low Dimensional Nanomaterials	22
Selective Etch, Clean or Deposition	22
Spin Materials	23
Spin functions and Material Properties	23
Ferromagnetic Transition Metals/Alloys and Half Metals	24
Multiferroics	24
DMS Materials and Their Properties	25
Complex Metal Oxides	.26
Electrical Interfaces and Defects	20
Materials for Memories	20
High Dielectric Constant (κ) Materials	27
Strongly Correlated Electron State Materials	28
Interfaces and Heterointerfaces	.29
Heterointerfaces	29
Electrical Contacts and Schottky Barriers	30
Spin Injection or Spin Filter Interfaces	30
Dielectric Interfaces	31
Fackage Interfaces	
Environment Safety and Health	31
Emerging Materials Synthesis	32
Nanomaterials	32
Metrology	. 32
Imaging Structure and Composition at the Nanometer Scale	33
Embedded Nano-interface Characterization	33
Property Mapping	34

Simultaneous Spin and Electrical Properties	34
Characterization of Vacancies and Defects in nm Scale Structures	34
Modeling and Analysis of Probe-Sample Interactions	34
Metrology Needs for Low-dimensional Materials	34
Via Metrology Needs	35
Self Assembly Metrology Needs	35
Complex Metal Oxide Metrology	35
Package Needs	35
Modeling and Simulation	
0	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure ERM1	Current State-of-the-Art of Self-assembled Shapes required by the Design Community	21
Figure ERM2	Schematics of the natural dopant wavefront: a. Macroscopic perspective and b. a 2D atomic scale perspective	22
Figure ERM3	Design Factors that Drive the Performance of Integrated Emerging Research Materials	36
Figure ERM4	Hierarchy of Models for Emerging Research Materials	37

# LIST OF TABLES

Table ERM1	Emerging Research Material Technologies Difficult Challenges	2
Table ERM2	Applications of Emerging Research Materials	4
Table ERM3	Potential Applications and Challenges for Low Dimensional Materials	5
Table ERM4	Emerging Research Materials—Demonstrated and Projected Parameters	6
Table ERM5	Potential Applications and Challenges for Macromolecules	13
Table ERM6	Potential Applications and Challenges for Self Assembly	19
Table ERM7	Critical Properties of Spintronics Materials	24
Table ERM8	Potential Applications and Challenges for Complex Metal Oxides	26

# **EMERGING RESEARCH MATERIALS**

# SCOPE

This chapter provides the material research community with guidance on specific research challenges that must be addressed in a laboratory setting for an emerging family of candidate materials to warrant consideration as a viable ITRS solution. Each international technology working group (ITWG) identified needs for new materials to meet future technology requirements and assessed the potential for low dimensional materials (carbon nanotubes (CNTs), nanowires, graphitic systems, and nanoparticles), macromolecules, self-directed assembled materials, spin materials, complex metal oxides, and selected interfaces. For these emerging materials, this chapter also presents requirements for their interfaces, and supporting metrology, modeling, and simulation. While many potential applications were identified for carbon nanotubes, and semiconductor and metallic nanowires because of their unique properties, significant technical challenges must be overcome for them to be useful. As more is understood of other materials have the potential to be used in multiple applications (e.g., complex metal oxides are considered in both the Spin Materials and the Complex Metal Oxide sections). Similarly, macromolecules for resists may also be used in self assembling materials, so intentional overlaps exist between materials and applications.

As more is understood about the properties and capabilities of other emerging research materials, the mix of materials and applications will change, which will be reflected in future roadmaps. For example, subsequent revisions of this chapter will include quantitative metrics and state-of-the-art results integrated into a table for each family of emerging materials. These tables will summarize, for each potential application, the most likely materials and techniques and sets of performance, interface compatibility, and materials integration requirements.

The scope of emerging research materials (ERM) covers materials properties, synthetic methods, metrology, and modeling required to support future emerging research devices (ERD), lithography, front end process (FEP), interconnects, and assembly and package (A&P) needs. ERD memory and logic devices include evolutionary MOS device technology and more revolutionary devices. Many of the evolutionary and some of the revolutionary ERD can be fabricated with conventional materials and process technologies that are already covered in other sections of the ITRS. Consequently, the ERM chapter will not cover these materials and processes. Emerging lithographic materials include novel molecules that exhibit the potential to enable ultimate feature patterning with resist, imprint, or self assembled technologies. FEP materials include ERM required for future device technologies, as well as novel materials to support selective etch, deposition, and cleaning of future technologies. Interconnect materials include emerging materials for low resistance sub-20 nm electrical contacts, interconnects, vias, and ultra-low  $\kappa$  inter level dielectrics (ILD). Assembly and Packaging materials include novel materials to enable reliable electrical and thermal interconnects, ultra-high power density high speed capacitors, and polymers with unique and potentially useful combinations of electrical, thermal, and mechanical properties.

This year's ERM chapter includes the following material families: low dimensional materials, macromolecules, self assembly mechanisms and self-assembled materials, complex metal oxides, spin materials, interfaces, and heterointerfaces. Many of these materials exhibit potential to address projected requirements in multiple application areas. Table ERM2 in the Introduction section maps families of ERMs to potential applications identified by the above Focus ITWGs. Future editions of this chapter also will comprehend and evolve projected ERM requirements for targeted functional diversification related applications.

# **DIFFICULT CHALLENGES**

The current set of sub-22 nm ERM Difficult Research Challenges is summarized in Table ERM1. Perhaps ERM's most difficult challenge is to deliver material options, with controlled and desired properties, in time to impact insertion decisions. These material options must exhibit the potential to enable high density emerging research devices, lithographic technologies, interconnect fabrication and operation at the nanometer scale, and packaging options. This challenge, to improve the control of material properties for nanometer (nm) scale applications, requires collaboration and coordination within the research community. Accelerated synthesis, metrology, and modeling initiatives are needed to enhance targeted material-by-design capabilities and enable viable emerging material technologies. Improved metrology and modeling tools also are needed to guide the evolution of robust synthetic methods for these emerging nanomaterials. The success of many ERMs depend on robust synthetic methods that yield useful nanostructures, with the required

control of composition, morphology, an integrated set of application specific properties, and compatibility with manufacturable technologies.

To achieve high density devices and interconnects, ERMs must assemble in precise locations, with controlled directions. Another critical ERM factor for improving emerging device, interconnect, and package technologies is the ability to characterize and control embedded interface properties. As features approach the nanometer scale, fundamental thermodynamic stability considerations and fluctuations may limit the ability to fabricate nanomaterials with tight dimensional distributions and controlled useful material properties. For novel nanometer scale materials emerging within the research environment, methodologies and data also must be developed that enable the hierarchical assessment of the potential environment, safety, and health impact of new nanomaterials and nanostructures.

Difficult Challenges $\leq 22$ nm	Summary of Issues
	Ability to pattern sub 20nm structures in resist or other manufacturing related patterning materials (resist, imprint, self assembled materials, etc.)
	Control of surfaces and interfaces
	Control of CNT properties, bandgap distribution and metallic fraction
	Control of stoichiometry and vacancy composition in complex metal oxides
Control of nanostructures and properties	Control and identification of nanoscale phase segregation in spin materials
	Control of growth and heterointerface strain
	Ability to predict nanocomposite properties based on a "rule of mixtures"
	Data and models that enable quantitative structure-property correlations and a robust nanomaterials-by-design capability
	Control of interface properties (e.g., electromigration)
	Placement of nanostructures, such as CNTs, nanowires, or quantum dots, in precise locations for devices, interconnects, and other electronically useful components
Control of self assembly of nanostructures	Control of line width of self-assembled patterning materials
	Control of registration and defects in self-assembled materials
	Correlation of the interface structure, electronic and spin properties at interfaces with low- dimensional materials
Characterization of nanostructure-	Characterization of low atomic weight structures and defects (e.g., carbon nanotubes, graphitic structures, etc.)
property correlations	Characterization of spin concentration in materials
	Characterization of vacancy concentration and its effect on the properties of complex oxides
	3D molecular and nanomaterial structure property correlation
	Characterization of the electrical contacts of embedded molecule(s)
Characterization of properties of	Characterization of the roles of vacancies and hydrogen at the interface of complex oxides and the relation to properties
embedded interfaces and matrices	Characterization of transport of spin polarized electrons across interfaces
	Characterization of the structure and electrical interface states in complex oxides
	Integration for device extensibility
Compatibility with CMOS processing	Material compatibility and process temperature compatibility
	Geometry, conformation, and interface roughness in molecular and self-assembled structures
Fundamental thermodynamic stability and	Device structure-related properties, such as ferromagnetic spin and defects
incluations of materials and structures	Dopant location and device variability

 Table ERM1
 Emerging Research Material Technologies Difficult Challenges

The difficult challenges listed in Table ERM1 may limit the progress of the emerging research materials considered in this chapter. Significant methodology development is needed that enables material optimization and projected performance analysis in different device structures and potential application environments. Hence, the importance of significant collaboration between the synthesis, characterization, and modeling communities cannot be over stated. Material advances require an understanding of the interdependent relationships between synthetic conditions, the resulting composition and nanostructure, and their impact on the material's functional performance. Thus, characterization methods must be sufficient to establish quantitative relationships between composition, structure, and functional properties. Furthermore, it must enable model validation and help to accelerate the design and optimization of the required materials

properties. The need for validated models requires strong alignment between experimentalists and theorists when establishing a knowledge base to accelerate the development of ERM related models and potential applications.

# INTRODUCTION

Emerging device, lithographic, interconnect, assembly, and packaging technologies will require materials with new and dramatically improved properties. The Emerging Research Materials Working Group anticipates and identifies the critical materials properties required for high priority applications in each of these areas. Achieving optimal performance with many of these new materials may require fabrication methods that incorporate novel chemicals, synthetic techniques, and metrology methods. The evaluation and successful integration of emerging materials within targeted applications will depend on our ability to design in and control specific sets of critical material and interface properties. Therefore, the development of a characterization and modeling infrastructure that supports the evolution of robust quantitative structure property correlations represents a strategic priority. These integrated tools would generate a more foundational understanding of novel switching mechanisms, contact formation, and transport mechanisms and drive new synthetic methods and device concepts. Similarly, the fabrication of nano-structured materials, such as nanotubes or nanowires, for devices or interconnects would benefit from an improved understanding of the impact of process and structure on the resulting electronic, mechanical, thermal, and interface properties. For example, spin-related devices may require unprecedented levels of synthetic control, material and isotopic purity, crystal structure, and dopant incorporation to optimize potentially viable spin relaxation, interface spin transmission, and spin de-coherence mechanisms. Self assembling systems must demonstrate the feasibility of high density device, interconnect, or packaging assembly in desired patterns, with the projected dimensional control, beyond what can be achieved by top down lithography. These challenges also will require new measurement capabilities to characterize critical material and interface properties across a hierarchy of temporal and dimensional scales, from atomic through mesoscopic domains. In addition, modeling and simulation, aligned with validation experiments, will be needed to optimize the chemical and structural attributes that improve critical material properties and performance in targeted applications.

# POTENTIAL ERM APPLICATIONS

The current set of emerging research materials exhibits potential to impact a wide array of emerging applications. During the past year, several ITWGs identified multiple potential application opportunities for each ERM family, including low dimensional materials (LDM), macromolecules, and self-assembled materials. Conversely, the potential impact of other emerging materials, such as complex metal oxides and spin materials, appears to be more focused on emerging device applications. Consequently, this year's ERM chapter identifies projected structural and property control requirements for these identified application opportunities. Also, where sufficient published data exist, it benchmarks the status of candidate material capabilities. Table ERM2 provides a matrix of ERM families and selected ITRS Technology Working Groups. Each matrix element contains the ITWG-identified potential application opportunities for the specified ERM family of materials included in this year's chapter.

MATERIALS	ERD Memory	ERD LOGIC	Lithography	FEP	INTERCONNECTS	Assembly and Package
Low Dimensional Materials	Nano-mechanical Memory	Nanotube Nanowire Graphene and graphitic structures	High-index immersion liquids		Nanotubes Metal nanowires	Electrical applications Thermal applications Mechanical applications
Macromolecules	Molecular memory	Molecular devices	Resists Imprint polymers	Novel cleans Selective etches Selective depositions	Low-к ILD	Polymer electrical and thermal/ mechanical property control
Self Assembled Materials			Sub- lithographic patterns Enhanced dimensional control	Selective etch Selective deposition Deterministic doping	Selective etch Selective deposition	High performance capacitors
Spin Materials	MRAM by spin injection	Semiconductor spin transport Ferromagnetic (FM) semiconductors FM metals Tunnel dielectrics Passivation dielectrics				
Complex Metal Oxides	1T Fe FET Fuse-anti-fuse	Multiferroics (Spin materials) Novel phase change				High performance capacitors
Interfaces and Heterointerfaces	Electrical and spin contacts and interfaces	Electrical and spin contacts and interfaces			Contacts and interfaces	

 Table ERM2
 Applications of Emerging Research Materials

# LOW-DIMENSIONAL MATERIALS

Low-dimensional nanostructured materials [LDM], such as nanotubes, nanowires, and nanoparticles, have unique properties that may enable their use as potential solutions for future devices, interconnects, lithography, and packaging technologies. These nanomaterials exhibit a diverse array of novel properties. For example, carbon nanotubes may offer high thermal conductivity and ballistic electronic transport. Semiconductor nanowires may enable efficient surround-gate transistors, and metal nanowires may be useful for low-resistance metal interconnects. Metal nanoparticles, with a high surface-to-volume ratio, can melt at temperatures well below that observed for the corresponding bulk metal and may enable future packaging options. Additionally, quantum confinement in semiconductor nanoparticles and nanowires may enable efficient bandgap engineering, as their optical bandgap energies appear to vary inversely with LDM size. Table ERM3 identifies potential applications and key research challenges, which gate their adoption as potential solutions.

Application	POTENTIAL MATERIAL VALUE	Key Challenges
Devices: 1D Memory and Logic Devices	Nanotubes exhibit ballistic transport and potential high performance	Control of bandgap and metallic versus semiconducting Control of carrier type and concentration Electrical properties must not degrade when embedded in a dielectric Control of location and orientation Control of contact resistance
	Nanowires could enable surround gate structures and novel heterostructures	Control of location and orientation Performance exceeding patterned materials Catalyst and processing temperatures compatible with CMOS
Devices: Planar CMOS	Graphene and related graphitic structures have high mobility without CNTs alignment challenges	Compatibility with CMOS Edge passivation Control of dielectric interfaces
Interconnects and Vias: Nanotube	Nanotubes have ballistic transport, high current carrying ability, and resistance to electromigration (EM)	Ability to place CNTs in precise locations and with controlled direction Ability to grow with high density Conductivity must not degrade when embedded in a dielectric Low contact resistance
Interconnects: Nanowire	Single crystal smooth metal nanowires could reduce grain-boundary and sidewall scattering	Ability to grow long single-crystal high-conductivity nanowires Ability to place the nanowires in precise locations and with controlled direction
Lithography: High Index Immersion Fluids	High refractive index nanoparticles increase solution refractive index (>1.8)	Identifying high refractive index nanoparticles that have low absorption at 193 nm and are insoluble in the liquid Achieving low solution viscosity Low 193 nm radiation scattering Low abrasion to optics
Packaging: Nanotube Chip-to- package Interconnects	Nanotubes can carry high current density, have high mechanical strength and thermal conductivity Compensation for materials with dissimilar CTEs	Temperature compatibility with CMOS or package Low contact resistance High density for low resistance Low cost
Packaging: Nanotubes for Thermal Heat Spreading	Nanotubes have a high intrinsic thermal conductivity and high flexibility	Integrating a high density of aligned CNTs in a polymer matrix Achieving a low thermal contact resistance Functionalizing and integrating the CNTs in the polymer without degrading thermal conductivity
Packaging: Nanoparticles to Modify Package Polymer Properties	Nanoparticles can change polymer CTE, modulus, toughness, and reduce diffusion of impurities	Ability to integrate multiple nanoparticle types and predictably achieve all required properties (rule of mixtures) Effective functionalization to keep different nanoparticles from agglomerating Cost
Packaging: Nanoparticle solders	Metal nanoparticles can sinter at low temperatures and result in high conductance, high reliability solders	Integration and infrastructure

 Table ERM3
 Potential Applications and Challenges for Low Dimensional Materials

CTE—coefficient of thermal expansion

Table ERM4	Emerging Researc	h Materials–	-Demonstrated	and Prop	ected Parameters
I WOIC LIMIT	Briter Stills Rebear e		Demonstrated	ana 1 nop	

LOW DIMENSIONAL MATERIALS		Nanotubes for Vias	Nanotubes	Nanotubes for EET Channels	Nanowires for	Nanowires for	
Operating Mechanism		Ballistic transport	Ballistic transport	Ballistic transport	Drift/diffusion	Interconnect	
-S AND QUES	Material System		MWCNT or SWCNT	MWCNT or SWCNT	SWCNT	Si, Ge, or III-V compounds	Metal (especially. Cu)
ATERIAI TECHNI	Synthetic Method		In situ thermal CVD Hot filament CVD Plasma CVD	Thermal CVD Hot filament CVD Plasma CVD	Thermal CVD Plasma CVD	CVD	CVD or ECD
2	Critical Material	Property	Diameter, density, metallic	Diameter, density, metallic	Semiconducting bandgap	Diameter, doping	Resistance
	Diameter (nm)	Goal	≤ 5	≤ 5	≤ 2	3–200	M1 (14 nm half pitch)
		Demonstrated	0.4–10	0.4–10	0.4–3	<5 [g] -200 [h]	
	Density or angular	Goal	Density ( $\geq 0.05$ MWCNT/nm <sup>2</sup> )	Density ( $\ge 0.05$ MWCNT/nm <sup>2</sup> )	Density (0.5 SWCNT/nm <sup>2</sup> )	$\sim 10^{-2}$ radians (0.6 deg)	$\sim 10^{-3}$ radians (0.06 deg)
	placement accuracy	Demonstrated	~0.01 MWCNTs/nm <sup>2</sup> [a]	In progress	In progress		[k]
	Direction	Goal	Perpendicular to the substrate	Parallel to the substrate	Controlled direction (TBD)	Controlled direction (TBD)	Parallel to the substrate
	/Orientation	Demonstrated	MWCNTs: Good SWCNT: Poor	MWCNTs: Fair[d] SWCNT: Poor	Controlled using SAM template or electric field	Mainly (111), Also (100 and 110) [i]	
	Length (µm)	Goal	0.05-0.30	M1: 1–5	≤1	2	M1: 1
ENTS		Demonstrated	0.06–0.52 [b]	>100	Good	Si: >20 (12 nm diameter)	Cu: ~6 [l]; 40 [m]
EN	Doning	Goal	Metallic	Metallic	n and p type	$\sim 10^{18} - 10^{19}$	N/A
E REQUIR	[electrically active] ( $cm^{-3}$ )	Demonstrated	Mostly Metallic	Mixed	Demonstrated by Chemical Functionalization	Si~2×10 <sup>18</sup> [h]	
IANCE	Resistivity (μΩ-cm)	Goal	TBD	M1: ≤8 (for 14 nm half pitch)		5000-40,000	Cu:≤3
S PERFORM		Demonstrated				30,000 [h]	Cu(ECD): 5.7 (D=15 nm), [1]
ITR	Contact resistance	Goal	$\leq$ 0.50 /MWCNT	$\leq$ 0.50 /MWCNT	$\leq 10$ /SWCNT	<10% NW resistance	<10% NW resistance
	$(k\Omega/LDM)$	Demonstrated	10-200 /CNT[c]	10-200 /CNT		Ohmic [h]	
	CMOS	Goal	T = 400°C, compatible catalyst	T=400°C, compatible catalyst		Non-Au catalyst	T < 450°C
	compatibility	Demonstrated	T = 400°C Co catalyst[d]	In progress	In progress	Ti, Pt, etc. for Si Not for Ge	100°C for Cu [1]
	Electro-	Goal	>10	>10		Bulk	Bulk
	migration (10 <sup>6</sup> A/cm <sup>2)</sup>	Demonstrated	CNT: >3 [e]	None			
		Goal	$\geq 10^7$	$\geq 10^7$		Bulk	
	Maximum current density (A/cm <sup>2</sup> )	Demonstrated	$\geq 10^9 [f]$	$\geq 10^9$		$I_{dsat} = 1.94 \text{mA}/\mu\text{m}$ (pFET) $I_{dsat} = 1.44 \text{mA}/\mu\text{m}$	

MWCNT—multiwire CNT SWCNT—single wire CNT SAM—self-assembled material

Each demonstrated result posted in Table ERM4 requires support from at least two published papers. "Demonstrated results" with one referenced citation warrant confirmation and should be considered as preliminary.

Notes for Table ERM4:

[a] Y. Awano, "Carbon Nanotube Technologies for LSI via Interconnects", IEICE transactions on electronics E 89, 1499-1503 (2006)

[b] M. Nihei, T. Hyakushima, S. Sato, T. Nozue, M. Norimatsu, M. Mishima, T. Murkami, D. Kondo, A. Kawabata, M. Ohfuti, and Y. Awano. "Electrical Properties of Carbon Nanotube Via Interconnects Fabricated by Novel Damascene Process", Proc. IEEE Int. Interconnect Tech. Conf. (IEEE – IITC) 2007, 11.2 (2007).

[c] J. Kong, E. Yenilmez, T. W. Tombler, W. Kim, H. Dai, R. B. Laughlin, L. Liu, C. S. Jayanthi, and S.Y. Wu "Quantum Interference and ballistic Transmission in nanotube Electron Waveguides" Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 106801 (2001)

[d] M. Nihei, A Kawabata, T. Hyakushima, S. Sato, T. Nozue, D. Kondo, Hiroki Shioya, T. Iwai, M. Ohfuti, and Y. Awano, "Carbon Nanotube Via Technologies for Advanced Interconnect Integration", Extended Abstracts of the 2006 International Conference on Solid State Devices and Materials, Yokohama, 2006, 140-141 (2006).[e] M. Horibe\_, M. Nihei, D. Kondo, A. Kawabata, and Y. Awano, "Carbon Nanotube Growth Technologies Using Tantalum Barrier Layer for Future ULSIs with Cu/Low-k Interconnect Processes", Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 44, 5309 (2005).

[f] B. Q. Wei, R. Vajtai, and P. M. Ajayan, "Reliability and current carrying capacity of carbon nanotubes", Appl. Phys. Lett. 79, 1172 (2001).

[g] N. Singh, A. Agarwal, L. K. Bera, T. Y.Liow, R. Yang, S. C. Rustagi, C. H. Tung, R. Kumar, G. Q. Lo, N. Balasubramanian, and D.-L. Kwong, "High-performance fully depleted silicon nanowire (diameter ≤5 nm) gate-all-around CMOS devices", IEEE Electron Device Letters 27, 383-6 (2006). [h] K.-I Seo, S. Sharma, A. A. Yasseri, D. R. Stewart, and T. I. Kamins, "Surface charge density of unpassivated and passivated metal-catalyzed silicon

[n] K.-1 Seo, S. Sharma, A. A. Tasseri, D. K. Stewari, and T. I. Kamins, Surface charge density of unpassivated and passivated metal-calatyzed stitcon nanowires," Electrochem. Solid-State Lett. 9, G69-G72 (2006).

[i] M. Kobayashi, and T. Hiramoto, "Experimental study on quantum structure of silicon nano wire and its impact on nano wire MOSFET and singleelectron transistor," IEDM Technical Digest (2006), paper 6.7

[j] K. Hwan Yeo, S. D. Suk, M. Li, Y.-y. Yeoh, K. H. Cho, K.-H. Hong, S. K. Yun, M. S. Lee, N. Cho, K. Lee, D. Hwang, B. Park, D.-W. Kim, D. Park, and B.-I. Ryu "Gate-all-around (GAA) twin silicon nanowire MOSFET (TSNWFET) with 15 nm length gate and 4 nm radius nanowires," IEDM Technical Digest (2006), paper 20.2.

[k] S. Jin, D. M. Whang, M. C. McAlpine, R. S. Friedman, Y. WuY, and C. M. Lieber, "Scalable interconnection and integration of nanowire devices without registration," Nano Lett. 4, 915-919 (2004).

[1] A. Bid, A. Bora, and A. K. Raychaudhuri, "Temperature dependence of the resistance of metallic nanowires of diameter >15 nm: Applicability of Bloch-Gruneisen theorem", Phys. Rev. B 74, 035426(2006).

[m] Y. Chang, M. L. Lye, and H. C. Zeng, "Large-scale synthesis of high-quality ultralong copper nanowires", Langmuir 21, 3746-3748 (2005).

### **CARBON NANOTUBES**

Carbon nanotubes can exhibit many unique properties, including high thermal conductivity, mechanical strength, and current carrying ability. Additionally, their long ballistic transport lengths are valued for device and interconnect applications. Mobilities of 79,000 cm<sup>2</sup>/V-sec<sup>1</sup> have been reported for SWCNTs over 300  $\mu$ m long and ballistic transport has been reported for ~300 nm SWCNTs.<sup>2</sup> For MWCNTs synthesized at low temperatures, the ballistic transport length can be as long as 80 nm,<sup>3</sup> while MWCNTs grown at higher temperature have ballistic lengths over 1  $\mu$ m.<sup>4</sup> In the ballistic-transport regime, the resistance corresponds to the quantum resistance, which is independent of the length. This section defines the CNT related research requirements for potential applications identified this year by the other ITWGs. While there is much interest in their properties, many challenges remain. For electronics applications, chemical vapor deposition (CVD) is currently the dominant fabrication technology because of its cleanliness and relatively low growth temperature. CNTs can be formed as single-walled nanotubes (SWCNTs) and multi-walled nanotubes (MWCNTs).

#### **DEVICE APPLICATIONS**

A key challenge for carbon nanotubes to be viable in high performance FETs is the requirement for processes that provide a tight distribution of semiconductor bandgaps, with each nanotube placed in a desired location, with a specified direction, and a low contact resistance. Please refer to the 2007 ITRS ERD chapter for detail on these devices.

#### Nanotube Bandgap Control

Carbon nanotube FET-related applications are motivated by their high mobility and ballistic transport.<sup>5</sup> For SWCNTs to be viable for future CMOS applications, the ability to grow them with a tight bandgap distribution must be demonstrated. To achieve *in situ* bandgap distribution control, the diameter and chirality must be controlled in the growth process. While the diameter of single-walled nanotubes scales controllably with decreasing catalyst size, as discussed in the Catalyst Design Section, chirality control remains a significant synthetic challenge. Recent reports show that CNTs grown by plasma CVD tend to exhibit a relatively high ratio (~90%) of semiconducting CNTs,<sup>6, 7</sup> however, this level of bandgap distribution control is far short of the projected requirements. Considerable research is needed to develop understanding that will enable design of catalysts and processes for *in situ* growth of CNTs with sufficiently controlled bandgap distributions.

An alternate approach to achieving tight bandgap control is to chemically purify the nanotubes after growth. Methods that show some promise for enabling post-growth separation include selectively reacting and evaporating metallic CNTs within a mixed nanotube bundle. Hydrogenated metallic SWCNTs can be selectively etched over semiconducting SWCNTs by passing a high-current through the bundle in the presence of hydrogen and laser irradiation. Key challenges

include the development of separation schemes that can differentiate between nanometer structures that are chemically the same, but structurally and electronically different, and achieving parts per trillion purity for bandgap control. A promising set of metallic/semiconducting CNT separation techniques includes dielectrophoresis,<sup>8</sup> selective precipitation,<sup>9</sup> ion exchange chromatography,<sup>10</sup> and compaction/centrifuging.<sup>11, 12</sup>. The purity achieved with these techniques is far short of the parts per trillion required for CMOS applications. More work is required to improve the effectiveness of these or other techniques, but off wafer purification techniques also required processes that enable accurate placement control.

#### Control of Carrier Concentration (Nanotube "Doping")

A critical device challenge is carrier concentration control in embedded p-type and n-type materials. Typically, semiconducting CNTs tend to be p-type after growth. Research is needed to develop a mechanistic understanding of selective and controllable n- and p-type CNT doping. While CNT carrier concentrations can be modulated by exposure to NO<sub>2</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub>,<sup>13</sup> this modulation does not appear to be stable in the absence of the gas. Schottky-barrier CNT transistors treated with trifluoro-acetic acid (TFA) exhibit improved device performance over untreated CNTs.<sup>14</sup> These approaches may be suitable for chemical-sensor applications, but not for embedded-device applications. The ability to control hole concentrations in CNTs by surface functionalization<sup>15</sup> has been demonstrated to be stable in air. However, guiding principles are needed to satisfy projected p- and n-type doping-control requirements for CNTs embedded in dielectrics. Research also is needed to explore different mechanisms for controlling carrier type, such as chemical substitution during or after growth, as well as charge transfer through interface layers.

#### Gate Dielectric Interface

High-performance CNT-FETs have been reported with high-permittivity dielectrics, such as SrTiO<sub>3</sub>, employed as the gate insulator.<sup>16</sup> Since a CNT's sidewall is relatively inert, the surface may be chemically functionalized to improve dielectric adhesion. The behavior and operational stability of the CNTs can be influenced by functionalization and by the nature of the local passivation film environment. CNT-FETs that use SiN as the passivation layer appear to exhibit very low I-V curve hysteresis.<sup>17</sup> Research and guiding material design principles are needed for enhancing functionalization, interface passivation, and dielectric deposition. This is discussed in more detail in the Interface and Heterointerface section.

#### NANOTUBES FOR ELECTRICAL INTERCONNECT AND VIA APPLICATIONS

For nanotubes to be used as interconnects or vias, high densities of highly conducting nanotubes in desired locations must be demonstrated, with controlled direction and low-resistance contacts. Both SWCNTs and MWCNTs are potentially viable candidates for electrical interconnects. SWCNTs exhibit ballistic transport over longer distances,<sup>18,19</sup> but consist of a mixture of metallic and semiconducting tubes, while the MWCNTs are metallic.

A potential advantage of CNTs for vias is their ability to carry high current density without electromigration. For via applications, achieving a competitive resistivity is a critical challenge, which requires a high packing density of highly conducting SWCNTs or MWCNTs and good electrical contacts. In the case of MWCNTs, tradeoffs may need to be made in the diameter and number of walls to achieve the highest density. For SWCNTs, processes are needed that enable a higher fraction of metallic tubes. Both types of CNTs need to form low resistance contacts that are resistant to electromigration, as is discussed in more detail in the Interface and Heterointerface Section.

The low resistivity of CNTs may offer potential advantages for interconnect applications. This low resistivity may be attributed to their ability to achieve ballistic transport, high current carrying ability, and potential electromigration resistance. SWCNTs also exhibit quantum limited contact resistance. Consequently, their length must be sufficient to yield favorable effective resistivities, as described in the Interconnect chapter.

Similarly, for via or interconnect applications, CNT conductivity must remain high and stable during operation. Research and guiding material-design principles are needed for improved CNT functionalization, deposition, and positional control.

#### **GROWTH IN CONTROLLED LOCATIONS WITH ALIGNMENT**

For CNTs to be used as either devices or interconnects, they must be grown in precise locations and aligned in required directions. Since interconnects span relatively long distances, i.e.,  $\sim 1$  micron, the alignment requirements for this application are more stringent than for individual devices. While progress has been made in growing nanotubes in desired locations,<sup>20</sup> directional alignment remains a challenge. Recent results suggest that CNTs grown in a directed electric field or along crystal steps could achieve general directional alignment;<sup>21, 22</sup> however, the practical implementation of this concept to manufacturing remains elusive.

Synthetic methods have yet to be developed that ensure the growth of CNTs in desired locations with the required alignment and performance. Post-growth assembly options also are being explored, as will be discussed in the Directed Self Assembly section; however, these approaches also lack the required positional control or alignment accuracy.

### **CONTACT FORMATION (OHMIC AND SCHOTTKY BARRIERS)**

A critical challenge for device and interconnect applications is the ability to form reliable, low-resistance electrical contacts between the CNT and the metal electrode. For device applications, reproducible Schottky barriers are needed. Low contact resistance can be achieved by selecting metals that form a low-resistance carbide layer and/or a low Schottky barrier, as is described in more detail in the Interface section. In the case of MWCNTs, it is important to obtain low contact resistance and good electric contact between the electrode and the inner layers of the MWCNT. In CNT vias, it has been proposed to cut a CNT perpendicularly to its axis by chemical mechanical polishing (CMP) and to form an electrode across the entire cross section, thereby making use of the inner layers as well as the outer layer for electric conduction.<sup>23</sup> Refer to the Interface section for more details

### NANOWIRE SYNTHESIS AND PROPERTIES

#### SEMICONDUCTOR NANOWIRES FOR DEVICES

Nanowires may enable new device functionality with surround gate structures and novel heterostructures. The most important challenges for nanowires are to 1) position the nanowires during growth or reposition them after growth at the desired location and with the desired direction; 2) provide performance exceeding patterned materials; and 3) have CMOS compatible catalysts. Several techniques may enable nanowires to be grown in predefined locations with controlled crystal orientation; however, selective nanowire growth in a preferred direction remains a challenge. (Refer to the Emerging Research Devices chapter.)

Catalytic CVD methods can be used to grow single crystal nanowires of many semiconductor materials, including Si,<sup>24</sup>, <sup>25</sup> Ge,<sup>26, 27, 28</sup> and compound semiconductors such as InP, InAs,<sup>29, 30, 31, 32</sup> and ZnO.<sup>33</sup> A metal-catalyst nanoparticle accelerates the decomposition of a gaseous precursor to form the nanowire at a temperature lower than the normal decomposition temperature of the precursor gas. Larger diameter nanowires often grow in the <111> orientation, which can be used to define a growth direction; however, very thin nanowires may grow with different crystal orientations<sup>34, 35, 36</sup> and consistent control is not routine. While sidewall growth can be limited by the choice of growth conditions or chemical passivation, more research is needed to understand the factors that drive sidewall growth and passivation. Because of the limited contact area between a nanowire and the substrate on which it is grown, nanowires can be grown on substrates with different lattice parameters. Additionally, defects that propagate at angles to the growth axis can terminate on the sides of the nanowires, so their impact appears to be limited.

Like CNTs, nanowires either can be grown in the location where they are to be used, or they can be positioned after growth. Advanced techniques, such as nanoimprint lithography or the application of an electric field, can be used to position the catalyst nanoparticle and, consequently, determine where the nanowire will grow. By forming the catalyst nanoparticle at the desired location, nanowires can be grown in place, so the position of the nanowire and its ends are known accurately.

The electrical properties of larger-diameter nanowires (i.e., >8 nm for Si) appear to be similar to those observed in bulk materials. However, surface scattering may reduce carrier mobility, as observed for nanostructures formed by other techniques. The electronic structure of very narrow nanowires (i.e., <6 nm for Si) appears to be modified by quantum confinement, increasing the effective band gap.<sup>37</sup>

Dopant atoms can be incorporated into nanowires, either during growth or subsequent to growth; however, doping mechanisms can vary, depending on the material and the dopant incorporation technique. Dopant atoms may be incorporated through the catalyst nanoparticle, which is preferred,<sup>38</sup> or may be diffused though the sidewalls after growth. Preliminary experiments with Si nanowires indicate that techniques used to control surface states on bulk silicon should be applicable to nanowires, with the added complication that many different crystal lattice planes are exposed on the nanowire's surface. For example, thermally grown silicon dioxide reduces the Si nanowire surface-state density.<sup>39</sup> To form low-temperature nanowire devices, Ge often is used in conjunction with atomic layer deposition (ALD) techniques that deposit a high-permittivity gate dielectric after removing the unstable germanium oxide *in situ*.<sup>40</sup> Nanowire interfaces and contacts are critically important for any electrical application, as will be discussed in the section on Interfaces and Heterostructures.

#### Nanowire Heterostructures

Axial nanowire heterostructures can be formed by sequentially depositing regions of different semiconductor materials when the same catalyst can be used.<sup>41, 42</sup> The transition region from one semiconductor material to another during nanowire growth may limit the possible useful combinations of semiconductors,<sup>43</sup> as interface grading may occur at high temperatures or with a molten catalyst due to slow removal of previous species from the catalyst nanoparticle. In other

cases, spatially abrupt transitions occur when atoms of the element whose concentration is decreasing rapidly escape from the nanoparticle into the gas phase, when the gas-phase partial pressure of that species is reduced.

In addition to forming axial segments of different semiconductors, a "core-shell" nanowire heterostructure can be formed.<sup>44</sup> For these heterostructures, a nanowire of one semiconductor is first grown by metal-catalyzed CVD. Then the growth conditions are changed so that a layer of a different semiconductor is grown by uncatalyzed CVD on the sides of the nanowire to form the "core-shell" structure. For example, a Si shell can be grown around a Ge nanowire <sup>44</sup> to create a structure that confines holes away from the surface of the composite nanowire because of the valence-band offset between Si and Ge. Heterostructures are discussed in more detail in the Interfaces and Heterostructures section.

#### **METAL NANOWIRES**

If single crystal nanowire metals could be grown with smooth surfaces, they could reduce many of the issues associated with grain boundary induced resistivity increases and sidewall roughness scattering, as illustrated in the Interconnect Cu Resistivity chart in the Interconnect chapter. Metal nanowires typically are produced by electrochemical deposition in a template, often made of porous Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> or polycarbonate,<sup>45</sup> containing pores of the desired nanowire diameter. Nanowires also can be formed by reaction in a liquid solution without using a template.<sup>46</sup> Nanowires of several different low-resistivity metals have been formed, e.g., Au, Ag, Cu, but only limited electrical resistivity data are available. Resistivities of 3–6  $\mu$ Ω-cm are reported for Cu nanowires, with diameters of 15–50 nm, grown by electrodeposition within templates,<sup>45</sup> which is consistent with the normal Cu interconnect resistivities cited in the Interconnect Cu Resistivity chart in the Interconnect chapter. Self-assembly methods may produce nanowires with smoother surfaces, reducing surface scattering. Hydrogen passivation might reduce diffuse surface scattering and the diameter-dependence of resistivity.<sup>47</sup> In polycrystalline nanowires, hydrogen passivation also might reduce grain-boundary scattering.

#### NANOWIRE POST-GROWTH ASSEMBLY TECHNIQUES

Consensus has yet to be reached on preferences for *in situ* versus *ex situ* growth and placement processes. In principle, growing nanowires and then positioning them allows a wider range of nanowire deposition and growth conditions. A critical challenge for this approach is to position and bond each nanowire on the substrate, precisely where it is needed and in the right orientation. Nanowire suspensions that are flowed across a substrate can deposit nanotubes or nanowires on a substrate surface, but in random positions and directions. Defined 3D structures, such as channels, or external electric field gradients can provide some one-dimensional order and control over nanowire positioning. For more information, please see the Self Assembly topic in the Nanomaterials section.

# **CATALYST DESIGN AND CONTROL FOR NANOTUBES AND NANOWIRES**

The synthesis of nanotubes and nanowires often relies on catalytic processes. Consequently, catalyst design represents an emerging challenge for enabling the controlled synthesis of these potentially useful low-dimensional materials. SWCNT catalysts typically are composed of varying compositions of Fe, Co, and/or Ni. Catalysts used to synthesize MWCNTs also are made from these elements, as well as refractory metals, such as Pt. Nanowire growth is catalyzed by a range of metals. One commonly used catalyst, Au, is known to introduce deep levels near the middle of the Si bandgap, which raises serious concerns about contamination in the nanowire or in the nearby devices. Other metals, such as Ti, Pt, Pd, Ni, and Ga, also promote Si nanowire growth and should be more compatible with CMOS processing. Catalysts for Ge nanowire growth are more limited, with Au being used almost exclusively.

Nanotube<sup>48, 49, 50</sup> and nanowire diameters roughly correlate with catalyst diameter. Correlations of catalyst nanoparticle composition, catalyst nanoparticle morphology, and the growth process with nanotube or nanowire location, orientation, structure, electronic properties, and performance also appear to be significant; however, many of these correlations are not well understood. Guiding principles are needed that enable robust catalyst design and growth processes, which yield nanotubes with controlled dimensions, orientation, placement, chirality, and electrical properties.

Catalyst nanoparticles can be pre-formed by solution or gas-phase techniques and then dispersed on the surface where the nanowires are to be formed. Gas-phase techniques allow *in situ* nanoparticle formation, size selection, and placement on the substrate surface prior to nanowire growth. Solution techniques also tend to yield nanoparticles with narrow diameter distributions. Alternatively, surface tension and heating can cause catalyst material evaporated on a substrate to agglomerate into nanoparticles, although with broader diameter distributions. None of these techniques guarantee catalyst particles with identical nanostructure. Electrochemical and block co-polymer techniques have also been used to form and position the nanoparticles. This is discussed in more detail in the *Self Assembly* section.

# **GRAPHITIC SYSTEMS**

Graphitic materials, such as graphene, have potential for circumventing many of the integration challenges that face CNT technology for fabricating high mobility planar devices. (Refer to the Emerging Research Devices chapter.) The key

challenges are to identify viable CMOS compatible processes, edge, and interface passivation control, and the formation of structures with geometries suitable for devices. Graphene<sup>51</sup> may enable novel and complementary applications to carbon nanotubes (CNT), its 1D counterpart. Graphene is receiving considerable attention because it exhibits ambipolar carrier conduction,<sup>52</sup> a carrier mobility as high as  $\sim 2 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>2</sup>/V-sec, and a defect density of  $\sim 1 \times 10^{10}$ /cm<sup>2</sup>.<sup>53</sup> This mobility is better than the mobility reported for small gap InSb and also is practically independent of temperature, thus opening the possibility of room temperature ballistic transport at the submicrometer scale. Currently, graphene films are fabricated by silicon sublimation from SiC, chemical vapor deposition, or by physical transfer deposition onto a substrate.

Graphene on SiC can be patterned and etched by conventional planar lithography techniques and has the best reported transport properties, <sup>54</sup> but processing temperatures, 1200–1400°C, are incompatible with CMOS fabrication. Planar graphene layers have been grown by CVD on nickel substrates, <sup>55</sup> but they are over twenty graphene layers thick. <sup>56</sup> Physical transfer of small sheets of graphene film onto an insulating substrate, <sup>52</sup> typically SiO<sub>2</sub>, yields monolayer transfer, <sup>57</sup> but it is a complex process involving multiple micro cleaving steps. To date, physical transfer deposition of graphene films is the most reliable technique to obtain monolayer graphene films for further electronic device fabrication, but the process is very cumbersome.

Since the bandgap of nanoribbons varies inversely with the ribbon width, it is possible to pattern and tune their electronic properties, such as bandgap opening due to lateral size quantization, though dimensional control. Additionally, the states at the edges of the graphene ribbons significantly affect graphene's electronic properties.<sup>58, 59</sup> A foundational understanding of the factors that control graphene's properties is needed.

In contrast to nanotubes, graphene's planar structure is expected to display more interactions with the substrate on which it is deposited, showing sensitivity to the substrate trapped charge.<sup>58</sup> The ability to deposit high-permittivity dielectric on graphene is just emerging,<sup>59</sup> and needs more research.

# NANOPARTICLES FOR HIGH REFRACTIVE INDEX IMMERSION FLUIDS

Lithography is seeking a high refractive index,  $n_D>1.8$ , immersion fluid for 193 nm applications, with low absorption and low viscosity. It also must be non-corrosive and exhibit optimal resist and lens wetting properties. Viable candidates have yet to be identified.

A liquid suspension of transparent ultra-high refractive index nanoparticles<sup>60</sup> represents one potential approach for increasing a liquid's refractive index. For nanoparticle immersion fluids to be viable, the refractive index of the suspension must exceed 1.8. This suspension also must not increase the 193 nm scattering or absorption, have reasonable viscosity, and not be abrasive to the optics or resist. Research is needed to design ultra high refractive index nanoparticles and compatible liquids that satisfy these requirements.

# NANOSTRUCTURES FOR PACKAGE APPLICATIONS

Future packaging applications require new materials that provide low electrical resistance, high reliability, chip-topackage interconnects, improved thermal management, and packaging polymers with improved mechanical properties. Potential material solutions are needed that enable chip-to-package electrical connections with high electrical conductivity, low inductance, high electromigration resistance, and low mechanical stress on the chip. Efficient heat removal requires new materials and engineered contacts, with high thermal conductivities, i.e. > 400W/m-K, and low thermal contact resistance. Additionally, packaging polymers, nanoparticles, and additive composites are needed that exhibit sufficient toughness, along with low coefficients of thermal expansion and decreasing modulus, to demonstrate the feasibility of satisfying projected ITRS packaging requirements. Certain families of nanoparticles have properties that may support these requirements, but significant material and integration challenges must be overcome for these lowdimensional materials to be viable as potential solutions.

#### CHIP-TO-PACKAGE ELECTRICAL INTERCONNECTS

Low-dimensional materials, such as carbon nanotubes or nanosolder alloys, may provide electromigration resistant chip interconnects. However, key challenges will be for the assembly of these materials to be compatible with packaging processes and to provide the required electrical resistance, reliability including interface electromigration, and low assembly cost. The magnitude of electromigration is a function of the carrier material and the current density, which is expected to increase with future generations of interconnect technology. Electromigration in chip to package interconnect solders <sup>61</sup> occurs at current densities above  $\sim 10^4$  A/cm<sup>2</sup>. Correspondingly, electromigration<sup>61</sup> occurs in copper above current densities of  $\sim 10^6$  A/cm<sup>2</sup>. Carbon nanotubes and novel low melting point nanosolders may provide high resistance to electromigration.

The important challenges for SWCNT or MWCNT interconnects include controlled contact resistance, accurate nanotube and bundle placement, low-temperature growth methods, mechanical and thermal performance, and package reliability.

Lowering the nanotube growth temperatures to <250 °C is challenging. While nanotubes are reported to be stable at current densities  $>10^7$  A/cm<sup>2</sup>,<sup>62</sup> it remains to be demonstrated whether they can be integrated to achieve sufficiently high densities of reliable low-resistance and low-inductance contacts. Consequently, while significant research challenges remain, nanotubes show promise for enabling higher current density package-interconnect applications.

For many metallic nanoparticles, e.g., Cu, Sn, In, Bi, Ga, Au, their melting points decrease with particle size.<sup>63</sup> This behavior is attributed to increasing surface to volume ratios and the emerging significance of surface energy. For example, five nanometer diameter gold nanoparticles are observed to melt at  $<150^{\circ}$ C.<sup>64</sup> These low-melting point metal nanoparticles could be useful for low-temperature interconnect and packaging assemblies, forming relatively soft, compliant interconnects and contacts; however, their current-carrying capability, electromigration resistance, and scalability remain to be understood.

#### THERMAL INTERFACE MATERIALS

The intrinsic high thermal conductivity<sup>65</sup> of nanotubes justifies their consideration as potential candidates for thermal interface materials. The key challenges that must be overcome for this application to be viable are to achieve low thermal contact interface resistance and a high density of nanotubes that provide a direct thermal path between the heat source and the sink. Significant research is needed to understand the fundamental nature of thermal contact resistance and to validate emerging theoretical hypotheses, reported in the literature.<sup>66</sup> Macromolecules or self assembly techniques that could enable nanotubes to be integrated at high density in a polymer matrix, without degrading their thermal conductivity, are needed. Alternatively, recent experiments demonstrate that aligned nanotube arrays under pressure also exhibit decreased thermal contact resistance.<sup>67</sup>

#### PACKAGE POLYMER PROPERTIES

Package polymers need to have a coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) of <16 ppm/K, controlled mechanical modulus, high toughness, and low moisture absorption. Several nanoparticles have properties that could aid in achieving low CTE, improved mechanical toughness, and reduced molecular diffusion.<sup>68</sup>, <sup>69</sup> Unfortunately, these fillers also may increase the composite's modulus and reduce the polymer's flexibility. Significant improvements in several composite material properties, such as its modulus, CTE, and toughness, may be effected by the addition of certain nanoparticles to the polymeric formulation. The key challenge is to develop guiding principles to integrate multiple nanoparticle types in a polymer and achieve all of the required properties simultaneously.

Significant research is needed to develop guiding principles for designing and tailoring the nanoparticle-matrix interface; achieving the desired nanoparticle dispersion within the polymer matrix;<sup>70</sup> and developing an appropriate "rule of mixtures" for nano-composites. Since the nanoparticle-matrix interface appears to control a nanocomposite's properties, novel and appropriate chemistries are needed to optimize the design of a nanoparticle-matrix interface to obtain a specified combination of composite properties. Finally, empirical "rules of mixtures" exist for only a few nanocomposite systems, but global, predictive, "rule of mixture" guidelines for nanocomposites are needed to enable designed nanomaterials with optimized sets of specified properties.

# MACROMOLECULES

Conventional macromolecules, in the form of polymers, enable a wide range of competitive applications in the semiconductor industry. New molecular architectures, including functional design, molecular glasses and novel molecules, such as dendrimers, may provide solutions to emerging material challenges. Macromolecular materials with new properties are needed for future lithography, devices, ultra low- $\kappa$  interlevel dielectrics, and package applications. While new macromolecular techniques and macromolecular architectures may provide solution options, significant challenges must be overcome for these to be viable. The most significant challenge for all of the identified applications is to establish models that correlate macromolecular structure with the functional performance of material matrices in complex environments. Table ERM5 presents Macromolecules applications, potential values, and challenges.

APPLICATION	POTENTIAL VALUE	Key Challenges
Resist	Extend lithography	Ability to simultaneously achieve (resolution, sensitivity and line edge roughness)
		Compatibility with immersion fluids
High refractive index		Refractive index of >1.8
immersion fluids	Extend 193nm immersion innography	Low absorption at 193 nm
		Low viscosity
Imprint lithography	New lithography technique	Fast expose and cure
		Dimensional stability
		Low contact barrier for transport
Molecular Devices	High density beyond CMOS Device	Repeatability of switching mechanisms
		High mechanical strength
Low-к ILD	Enable high speed electrical	Low water absorption
	increoincets	Low process integration complexity
Selective Etch and Cleans Improved process stability		Identifying a material that can attach to a specific material, protect against etch or cleans, and then be easily removed
		Low viscosity in application
Package Polymer Adhesion	Improved package reliability	Increased adhesion to heterogeneous materials including Cu, silica, etc. after cure
		Controlled CTE, modulus and toughness
Package polymer properties	Improved mechanical properties, reduced	Low electrical loss
	inoistare absorption	Low moisture absorption and transport
Nanomaterial	Polichle integration of nonometarial-	Good nanomaterial to polymer adhesion
Functionalization	Kenable integration of nanomaterials	No degradation of nanomaterial properties (e.g., thermal conductivity)

 Table ERM5
 Potential Applications and Challenges for Macromolecules

### **MACROMOLECULES IN LITHOGRAPHY**

The biggest challenge for resist is to simultaneously achieve the required resolution, speed, line edge roughness, and stability during the patterning process. As highlighted in the Lithography chapter, resists with the ability to pattern increasingly small features are required for future technology generations, whether with 193 nm, 193nm immersion, EUV, or imprint technologies. Also, higher refractive index liquids are needed to extend immersion lithography. New macromolecular architectures and designs exhibit the potential to enable improved control of resist feature sizes and properties. It is important to develop the correlations between molecular structure and functional performance that will enable materials fabrication methods that simultaneously satisfy all required properties.

The dynamic nature of today's lithography environment requires continued research focus on chemistry and functional materials. Given the broad array of future lithographic options under consideration, strategic patterning materials research warrants organization along common themes, such as immersion, resist, and imprint materials. This section highlights several critical issues and discusses potential research pathways for enabling future patterning related materials.

#### **MACROMOLECULES FOR IMMERSION LITHOGRAPHY**

The Lithography chapter notes significant effort on extending water-based 193 nm immersion lithography through the creative incorporation of enabling materials and processes. The interaction of water with 193 nm photoresists creates a new set of immersion-specific defectivity mechanisms.<sup>71</sup> Initial immersion resist processes used functional fluoropolymer topcoats to protect tools from resist component leaching and for defect reduction.<sup>72</sup> While the topcoat provides barrier properties to a limited extent, water still is able to penetrate into the resist; however, the amount of extracted photoacid generator is greatly reduced. Recent attention has been focused on two areas: 1) the need for improved resist surfaces for immersion lithography<sup>73</sup> and 2) simplified processes involving topcoat-free resists. Improved surfaces and simplified processes have been achieved through the development of a class of surface active resist additives that provide controlled hydrophobicity to 193 nm resist surfaces.<sup>74</sup> Ultimate extension of water immersion lithography involves the use of immersion resist materials and more complex processes in double patterning applications.

#### HIGHER INDEX IMMERSION FLUIDS AND RESISTS

One method for extending the resolution of immersion lithography is through the introduction of higher refractive index fluids and resists. For a more detailed description of this requirement, refer to the Lithography chapter. Several

cycloalkanes show promise as "Generation 2" fluids, with an index of ca. 1.64 at 193 nm and acceptable transparency.<sup>75</sup> On the other hand, resists with refractive indices above 1.85 have remained elusive. While rational incorporation of sulfur into acrylic polymers increases the resist's refractive index,<sup>76</sup> resist optical density and imaging performance are not maintained. Getting all three, i.e. transparency, high refractive index, and imaging performance, with one material is a significant challenge that remains to be achieved. The sulfur-substituted polymers also have very high optical absorbance.

#### **BEYOND IMMERSION (EUV)**

EUV lithography remains a leading candidate to extend lithography beyond the 193 nm wavelength, as discussed in the Lithography chapter. The relatively low output of current EUV sources requires fast, high resolution resists for this wavelength that exhibit low line edge roughness (LER). In chemically amplified resist, changes in chemistry to enhance speed tend to degrade resolution and LER, while similar changes of chemistry to improve resolution tend to reduce speed and possibly LER. This triangular relationship of speed, resolution, and LER<sup>77</sup> identifies the competing factors that must be managed. A recent focus on molecular glass resists has been directed toward understanding the role of polymer architecture on LER. Merging low activation energy resist design,<sup>78</sup> with molecular glasses, has produced low temperature bake resists from non-polymeric macromolecules.<sup>79</sup> Recent modeling predicts that line edge roughness decreases with reduced molecular weight of the photoresist polymer, for classical and chemically amplified photoresists. The radius of gyration (RG) of a photoresist polymer also has been directly correlated to LER,<sup>80</sup> such that a smaller RG appears to yield a smaller LER. Recent work demonstrates that compared to a polymeric system, certain molecular glass resists will consistently have lower LER, due to their distribution of free volume in small packets that inhibits acid diffusion.<sup>81</sup> Based on this theoretical work, a new class of molecular resists based on polycarbocycles is being investigated.<sup>81</sup>

#### Single Component/Pixelated Resist Materials

The basic concept of a pixilated resist is that each molecule has complete functionality to absorb a photon, change solubility, and locally be "photoexposed," This contrasts with conventional resist, where a photoacid is generated diffuses in the resist, and catalytically modifies the solubility of other molecules. A single component resist, based on polymeric dehalogenation, was developed and investigated for e-beam lithography applications.<sup>82</sup> This resist shows reasonable resist sensitivity of 25 µCcm<sup>-2</sup> and resolves 50 nm isolated lines. Photoacid generated (PAG)-bonded resists have demonstrated a LER of 3.5 nm for 75 nm line and space (L/S) features and resolved 55 nm lines and 25 nm spaces.<sup>83</sup> A natural extension to a single component resist is the development of molecular glass (MG) resists, with a photo acid generator [PAG] group attached.<sup>84</sup> This family of materials show excellent sensitivity, e.g. ~4mJcm<sup>-2</sup>, and LER of 3.96 nm for 50 nm lines," during EUV exposure, and exhibits improved etch resistance compared to conventional resist. The modification of the sulfonium core with t-BOC-protected phenyl groups also helps to lower the outgassing relative to unsubstituted triphenylsulfonium salts. Though very low LER values are observed, PAG diffusion induced changes in feature sizes can be significant. Pixelated resist materials endeavor to combine structural disintegration, catalyst preorganization, as well as polarity changes.<sup>85</sup> Their current chemistry involves a scissionable pixilated resist architecture, based on bile acids bound by acid-sensitive tertiary ester linkages into dendrimeric arrays. Preliminary e-beam studies show submicron features for these materials. These materials were also tested for outgassing at the EUV wavelength and found to perform within the required specification. Initial results demonstrate the concept, but the benefits of pixilated resist options on resolution and LER have yet to be demonstrated. Single component chemically amplified resist approaches and materials demonstrate the potential of novel designs, but require further improvements to be viable for robust manufacturing processes.

Resists that undergo chain scission or photo-induced solubility changes have a greater potential to suppress line edge roughness because of the absence of catalytic mobility. These materials, non-chemically amplified resists (non-CAR), show improved line edge roughness, but materials based on chain scission process show higher resist outgassing. In addition, these materials require higher exposure energy to resolve sub micron features. Ideally, single component molecular glass resists that undergo photon induced chain scission or chemical changes should be potential materials for NGL. Molecular glass resists containing cleavable and cross-linkable functional groups have been demonstrated for e-beam lithography.<sup>86</sup> These resists resolved 70 nm lines upon exposure to e-beam radiation. Resist sensitivities for these materials were in the range of 3 to  $3.5 \ \mu \text{Ccm}^{-2}$ . Recently, a single component molecular glass resist, based on DNQ chemistry, has been demonstrated.<sup>87</sup> Exposure to electron-beam radiation, followed by flood exposure to 366 nm radiation, resulted in negative tone images as small as 60 nm. Currently, however, the energy required to resolve 60 nm lines is approximately 600  $\mu \text{C cm}^{-2}$ . For these non-CAR molecular resists to be useful in high volume manufacturing, resist sensitivity must increase and outgassing issues must be resolved. However, non-CAR molecular glass resists, which combine the non-diffusive process and the benefit of a molecular glass, represent a potential pathway that warrants research consideration as an alternative to CARs. Patterning of surface attached polymer monolayers, i.e., polymer brushes is another approach to obtain high resolution features.<sup>88</sup>

#### Polymer Brushes

A combination of various patterning techniques (contact printing, scanning probe microscopy, photon or high energy radiation), a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of initiators, and surface-initiated polymerization (SIP) allows for superior pattern formation control at various length scales, from several the hundred micrometer to nanometer scale.<sup>88</sup> (this reference is a duplicated and is correct) In one approach, a combination of styrene based e-beam, SAM, and SIP components results in 200 nm and 70 nm lines of patterned polystyrene brushes. In another approach, a combination of styrene based EUV-IL, SAM and SIP components results in 50 nm patterned polystyrene brushes.<sup>89</sup> SIP applies a significantly thicker layer of flexible polymer brush,<sup>90</sup> which reduces the effect of topological variations on the substrate surface and reduces defects present in all self assembled monolayer systems (SAM). The final resulting structures obtained from a combination of patterning techniques/SAM/SIP display a better contrast between the functionalized and unfunctionalized areas, in terms of their chemical and physical properties, e.g., interfacial roughness, wetting behavior, thermal stability, etch resistance. The wide variety of recently developed patterning techniques SAM/SIP systems enables the patterning of sub-micron and nanometer scale features with different surface structures and material contrast. Several areas need further understanding or improvements, including flexibility in the chemistry, process compatibility, fidelity, pattern roughness, and defects.

### IMPRINT LITHOGRAPHY MATERIALS

Imprint lithography requires low viscosity materials that can be converted to nanometer scale features with reproducible shrinkage and good etch resistance without leaving residue on the imprint tool. Particular attention in these studies is focused on mechano-chemical properties of the resist during cure and the influence of the release chemistry. Work is underway to demonstrate the feasibility of functional patterning materials for back end low- $\kappa$  applications, based on polystyrene sulfonate (PSS) crosslinkers<sup>91</sup> and vinyl ether polymerizations,<sup>92</sup> with satisfactory mechano-chemical release properties.

# **MOLECULAR STATE DEVICE MATERIALS**

The greatest challenge for molecular state electronics is to fabricate low potential barrier electrical contacts that enable reproducible electronic molecular switching. Molecular state devices are reported to exhibit a range of useful properties, including non-linear IV and bi-stable behavior. While a given device's characteristics may be reproducible, significant device to device variations are observed, even when fabricated under "identical" conditions. The electrical performance of many molecular-based devices currently under study appears to be dominated by the high potential barriers of each molecule-electrode contact or defect-like processes. Recent results suggest that changes in molecule-contact conformations or near neighbor interactions may be responsible for observations of electrical switching or negative differential resistance (NDR).<sup>93, 94, 95</sup> In order to understand the complex behaviors of these macromolecular devices, well-designed collaborative experiments are needed that determine and validate the role of contact formation in molecular switching and identify potential contact formation strategies that enable molecular systems show some promise for reducing device variability and enabling very high density circuit functionality.

#### **MOLECULAR STATE CONTACTS**

Understanding and engineering atomic level contacts is critical for molecular scale devices. For these systems, nanoscopic factors, such as bond formation and configuration significantly impact contact potential barriers<sup>96</sup>, and metal molecule interactions<sup>97</sup> and variability occurring in deposition may dominate nanoscale device operation. Research is needed to understand the structure and properties of metal-molecule interactions. The nature of the metal-molecule orbital overlap will be important in determining the properties of their combined occupied states and available conduction pathways.

The fabrication techniques currently used for making the top electrode-molecule contact can effect defect-like reactions, such as bond breaking or undesired intra-device redox reactions. These undesired reactions can disrupt or mask molecular device switching behavior. Currently, many nanoscopic bottom contacts are fabricated on Au, with a thiol sulfur bond, linkage to the molecule. While this contact exhibits significant mechanical strength, it may not be optimal for expressing optimal electrical contact behavior. Also, many reported molecular contacts appear to allow for molecular movement and conformational changes about the molecule-electrode bond.<sup>97</sup> In order to minimize the contribution of contact variability on observed molecular device properties, the designed molecule-electrode docking geometry must lock in a specific conformation. Recent results show that molecule-electrode assemblies on Si need not use a thiol linkage. New molecule-electrode material systems are needed that enable stable, reproducible low potential barrier contacts.

For good mechanical or electrical contacts to be established with a low potential barrier<sup>96</sup> significant orbital overlap between the molecule and the electrode is needed. Sigma type bonding tends to enhance the mechanical strength of the

molecule-electrode bond, and this will likely result from end-on bonding with s, sp, sp<sup>2</sup>, or sp<sup>3</sup> type molecular orbitals. Conversely, to form low barrier electrical contacts, in-plane  $\pi$ -like bonding, such as p-p or p-d, appears to be a prerequisite for low energy and low bandgap contacts. In-plane  $\pi$  bonding typically forms from p orbitals, found in some sp and sp<sup>2</sup> hybridized molecular structures. Good electrical contact is expected through in-plane bent "banana" bond type conjugation, observed for back-bonded overlap with two lobes of a d orbital. Recent work with molecular contacts demonstrates that the orientation of a molecule's orbitals, with respect to those of the contact atom to which it bonds, can change significantly the operation of a molecular device. Consequently, atomic level control of bonding and hybridization may be needed at this interface. In summary, in-plane orbital alignment is critical for low barrier interfaces and molecular scale devices. Contact formation issues and metrology needs are discussed in more detail in later sections.

### TRANSPORT AND IV NON-LINEARITY

As mentioned above, contact resistance and tunneling can dominate the transport properties of molecular wires. Other mechanisms, such as polaron state carrier trapping, also may impact charge transport, even for delocalized molecules with extended conjugation, such as polyethylenes with more that twenty carbon atoms. While individual IV characteristics may be reproducible over millions of cycles, sample to sample onset voltage variations can be significant. Recent results demonstrate that these variations can be due to contact metal and contact bonding hybridization. Since IV characteristics are driven by the lowest resistance mechanisms, nanoscale devices are extremely sensitive to undesired nonuniformities, such as defects, high electric field excursions, and local contact architecture. Currently, Scanning Tunnel Microscopy (STM) and Conductance Force Microscopy [CFM] serve as the primary tools for characterizing variability, molecule-electrode interfaces, and nonlinear tunneling, rectification, and transport through individual or groups of molecules and contacts. These methods enable the characterization of transport variations over dimensionally appropriate regions.<sup>93</sup> Research is needed to understand the role of the contact potential barrier and potential molecule-contact interactions in transport and IV nonlinearities. Furthermore, contacts with lower potential barriers may allow evaluation of electronic transport, nonlinearities, and potential changes in molecular states.

#### **BI-STABLE STATES**

Though low variability bi-stable molecular systems have yet to be demonstrated, they show some promise for memory or logic device applications. Recent results suggest that local conformational changes in the molecule or electrode environment,<sup>97</sup> metal migration, telegraph switching,<sup>94, 95</sup> or other extrinsic factors, such as transient fields, may control molecular bistability and NDR.

Again, a non destructive, *in situ*, 3D test suite needs to be developed that enables a more fundamental understanding of the factors that control bistability and the primary charge management and decay mechanisms.

#### **METROLOGY**

Currently, it is difficult to look through the top contact into the geometry and electronic structure of a molecular device. Collaboration is needed between the metrology, molecular modeling, and synthesis communities to design material systems with required properties. New metrology capabilities such as inelastic electron tunneling spectroscopy and backside FTIR to study vibrational states, STM, Conductive AFM, and Kelvin Probe AFM are beginning to enable understanding of the transport through individual molecules and interfaces. However, additional research is needed to develop new metrologies, such as nondestructive, *in situ*, 3D methods, to resolve these issues.

#### MACROMOLECULES FOR LOW-K ILD

As described in the Interconnect chapter, the most difficult challenges for ultra low- $\kappa$  interlevel dielectrics (ILD) are to simultaneously have a dielectric constant <2.0, good adhesion and mechanical properties (e.g. modulus and toughness), no moisture absorption, and compatibility with interconnect processing, such as CMP, etch, plasma O<sub>2</sub>, etc.

As identified in the interconnect chapter, macromolecular low- $\kappa$  ILDs have employed pores to achieve the required dielectric constant. However, their mechanical properties, integration issues and process compatibility, and moisture absorption have limited their adoption in manufacturing. Due to these challenges, alternative macromolecular designs should be investigated that have the potential to overcome these issues.

#### **POTENTIAL SOLUTIONS**

Silicon –carbon covalent bonds are strong nonpolar bonds that are not prone to environmental degradation and, thus, may be candidates for new ultra low- $\kappa$  (ULK) ILD materials. Unlike silicon-oxygen bonds, which are also strong, but are prone to attack by nucleophiles, acids, bases, etc, the SiC bond is not readily attacked by chemical reagents. One approach for improving chemical compatibility and mechanical strength is the introduction of silicon-carbon covalent network bonds into low- $\kappa$  dielectrics. The presence of a network of strong bonds should result in improved mechanical properties (modulus, cohesive energy, fracture toughness) for both dense and porous samples. Oxycarbosilane- based ultra low- $\kappa$  materials have exceptional mechanical properties<sup>98</sup> compared to solution deposited polymethylsilsesquioxane based low- $\kappa$  materials and chemical vapor deposition (CVD) deposited carbon doped oxide (CDO) materials of comparable densities. Excellent process chemical compatibility of this new polyorganocarbosilane ULK material has been demonstrated as well. Likewise nanocrystalline pure silicon zeolite materials deposited by spin-on processes have been demonstrated with and without porogen to produce ULK dielectrics with elastic moduli > 14GPa.<sup>99, 100</sup> Processing and control of surface roughness and hydrophobicity remains a challenge for back end integration and little integration data has been reported. New classes of materials, with chemical backbones that differ from the organosilicates, also have been proposed as low- $\kappa$  dielectrics. For example, Borazine derivatives,<sup>101</sup> which are comprised of ring structures containing boron and nitrogen double bonds, display a  $\kappa$  value of 2.3 and an elastic modulus of 60 GPa. Properties of CVD and spin-on<sup>102</sup> variants of these materials also are reported. Since this represents a totally new family of chemical backbone, simultaneous process technology development (including etching, polishing, etc.) will be needed for these materials. Computer aided chemistry and modeling predict that new low-  $\kappa$  materials, with  $\kappa$  values of 1.5,<sup>103</sup> can be achieved without the introduction of porosity, but new synthetic routes to such materials are needed.

#### MACROMOLECULES FOR PACKAGE APPLICATIONS

For packaging polymers, macromolecules are needed to improve the adhesion of a wide range of materials, including nanoparticles; improve required mechanical properties, such as CTE, toughness, modulus, flow; reduce moisture absorption and diffusion; and meet cost requirements.

As is highlighted in the Assembly and Packaging chapter Material Challenges table, polymers are needed with a range of properties, such as mechanical, adhesion, electrical, moisture absorption and transport, depending on the application to support future package requirements. Polymers are used in a wide range of package applications, with most being thermosets because they retain their dimensional stability. These polymers include epoxies and silicones.<sup>104</sup> Epoxies are used for under-fills, mold compounds, substrate build-up layers, and die attach adhesives. Silicones usually serve as compliant adhesives physically attach materials with dissimilar coefficients of thermal expansion and mechanical properties, such as attaching metals to polymers or metals to ceramics. As packages increase in complexity and as multiple components are integrated into the package, the epoxies and silicones need reduced viscosity during application; improved mechanical properties, e.g., modulus, toughness, etc.; increased adhesion to various heterogeneous materials; and reduced moisture absorption and diffusion and enhanced dimensional stability. Novel macromolecules may provide potential solutions to overcome this challenge of achieving multifunctional properties simultaneously in future package polymers.

Epoxy systems must satisfy a set of pre-cure requirements, including low viscosity, and the ability to wet different materials. They also must exhibit specific cure properties, such as mechanical properties (CTE ~16 ppm; modulus, toughness, etc.); electrical properties ( $\kappa$  and loss); adhesion to a set of materials (metals, polymers, ceramics); moisture absorption, and diffusion after cure. Since each application in the Assembly and Packaging chapter has a different set of requirements, macromolecules that could improve viscosity and wet package and chip materials, while achieving high ultimate toughness post cure, would be valuable. Adhesion to copper is of critical importance, since in many cases, the copper must be roughened to achieve adhesion, which increases electrical loss at high frequency. Consequently, macromolecules that increase polymer adhesion to smooth copper would be important. Adhesion to silicon or other ceramic materials integrated in a future package would also be very important. Delamination of the polymer from the silicon or a ceramic would increase stress on the ceramic. This likely would induce cracking during thermal cycling in operation or reliability tests, since there would be no epoxy-polymer to help dissipate the stress. Moisture is known to be particularly detrimental to the performance of under-fill epoxies. Because of moisture diffusion and absorption, the dangling bonds at the corner fillet crack tip get saturated, causing catastrophic fillet cracking of underfills.<sup>105</sup> For MEMS packages, hermetic sealing of the MEMS device is required. Otherwise, the moisture diffusion can cause corrosion of the fine metal lines. Since packages must function in humid environments, macromolecular additives that reduce moisture absorption or diffusion would be valuable. Since novel nanometer size fillers may be added to epoxies to reduce CTE, macromolecules that could improve integration (dispersion) and adhesion of the nanoparticles within the matrix without degrading their properties while increasing toughness are needed.

Research is needed to understand correlations between the structures of designed macromolecular additives and cross linked polymer systems and designed sets of desired properties, including thermomechanical, adhesion, electrical loss, viscosity, and thermal stability attributes.

Silicone-based resins or composites are used as adhesives, sealants, and thermal interface materials. Their critical properties include low-moisture absorption; high adhesion with heterogeneous materials; good compliancy to allow for package expansion, and contraction during assembly, reliability tests, and operation. For thermal interface applications,

the required thermal conductivity typically is achieved by the addition of thermally conducting fillers, such as aluminum, phase change materials, etc. Guiding principles are needed to design macromolecules that enable the integration of dense nanotube arrays, without introducing defects and degrading thermal conductivity. In a separate study, aligned individual polymeric chains have been observed to exhibit higher thermal conductivity than bulk polymers. In fact, gyration effects, which dampen phonon vibrations, appears to contribute to poor thermal conductivity of bulk polymers.<sup>106, 107</sup> In order to realize single macromolecules that exhibit an interdependent set of required attributes, predictive material design methods must be developed that leverage emerging metrology, material database, and modeling capabilities

Interface control is critical to achieving improved mechanical properties,<sup>108</sup> such as viscosity, toughness, modulus, adhesion, and thermal conductivity. Higher interface adhesion implies higher toughness, due to a more efficient load transfer to fillers. Another aspect that indirectly controls nanocomposite properties is filler dispersion. Because of high surface areas, nanofillers typically tend to segregate in a given matrix. Segregated fillers reduce the effective surface area, and also make resin infiltration difficult. Thus, filler segregation gives rise to potential voids which could be on the order of the crack lengths, thereby drastically lowering the fracture toughness of the composites. Thus, macromolecules are needed for nanocomposites to provide a robust filler-matrix interface, and improve interfacial properties, and filler dispersion.

# DIRECTED SELF ASSEMBLY

Self assembly is a natural process driven by intermolecular repulsion that can deposit a monolayer of aligned molecules on surfaces in processes such as atomic layer deposition [ALD], or cause phase separation into locally ordered structures in block copolymers. It also exhibits potential for generating lithographic features, such as contacts or lines, in block copolymers. Research has demonstrated the ability of top down lithographically generated features to force alignment of self-assembled patterns in desired locations with predicted shapes. Furthermore, these techniques enable registration of the self-assembled structures to the lithographically generated pattern. Annealing times, which are thermodynamically driven, have been reduced from multiple days to hours, so this option is becoming more realistic for potential processing applications. Self-assembled structures have been generated with <15 nm dimensions and the ability to generate sub-10 nm structures may be possible.

While self assembly has made considerable progress, it faces significant challenges before it can become a viable lithographic extension option; however, other less challenging, nearer term applications may be able to benefit from these capabilities. Directed self assembly shows some potential for enhancing etch selectivity, placing dopants in ordered arrays, or to generating high density close packed electrodes in capacitor arrays. The requirements for these applications are less complex and less severe than those for lithography extension applications. This section will review the potential and challenges for different applications. Refer to Table ERM6.

APPLICATION	POTENTIAL VALUE	Key Challenges		
		Ability to generate required features at 2× lithographic density		
	Higher density features than lithography	Ability to align features to previous structures		
Lithography Extension	Reduced line edge roughness	Ability to achieve low defect density		
		Reducing process complexity		
		Etch selectivity		
High Charge Density       Assembly of close packed electrodes separated by         Capacitors       dielectric		Electrically connecting adjacent electrodes to opposite polarity contacts at low cost Achieving high dielectric constant for thin dielectrics		
Selective Etch	Ability to selectively protect materials during etch or cleaning operations	Ability to design polymer brushes to selectively coat and protect new materials against chemical etches		
Deterministic Doping	Reduced variation in transistor performance	Ability to pattern dopant array with periodicity required for device operation Mechanism to reproducibly introduce dopant from self assembled material into transistor structures		
Directed Assembly of Low Dimensional Materials	Robust and affordable pattern placement and matching capability, with low dimensional variability	Accurate placement of nanomaterials Achieving required throughput Achieving the required yield		

 Table ERM6
 Potential Applications and Challenges for Self Assembly

# DIRECTED SELF ASSEMBLY FOR EXTENDING LITHOGRAPHIC TECHNOLOGIES

The biggest challenge for directed self assembly (DSA) as an extensible patterning option is to be able to assemble a desired set of structures with  $2\times$  lithographic resolution in predefined locations with respect to existing structures with low defect density (Refer to Figure ERM1.). More information is provided for DSA at this link. Polymer self-assembly can easily define a limited set of highly symmetric patterns. Even such simple patterns as line/space (L/S) and cylindrical hole arrays may be useful in defining circuit elements, but they must be positioned accurately with respect to previous lithography levels. To be competitive, self-assembly must demonstrate the formation of features that are at least twice as small and twice as dense as can be achieved by top down lithographic methods. This corresponds to resolution, LWR, and LER targets of <12 nm, <1.3 nm, and < 1.7 nm, respectively. The net time required to form and fix a pattern must be short, less than 4 minutes, and compatible with processing one hundred twenty 300 mm wafers/hour. No current material satisfies all of these requirements. Defect densities represent a significant research challenge, as the best results observed to date are orders of magnitude larger than the requirement of <.01/cm<sup>2</sup>. The ability to achieve controlled alignment and registration, while minimizing defects and line roughness, are critical barriers to inserting self assembly as a potentially competitive lithography solution.

Directed self assembly is a hybrid top-down/bottom-up approach for achieving positioning accuracy and dimensional control. The two leading methods are to either generate a trench to confine self assembly, topological alignment, or chemically pattern neutral and selective regions, chemical patterning and alignment, will be discussed below.

#### SURFACE PROPERTIES FOR PATTERN GENERATION

For lithographic feature generation, the wafer surface must enable lateral phase separation, the surface must be neutral and not have preferential adhesion to one part of the molecule or block co-polymer. Lithographically generating these "neutral" regions enables pattern formation to occur in predefined locations. Demonstrated substrate modification approaches for generating neutral regions include exposure to radiation (such as X-rays) or reactive species ( oxygen plasma, HF, etc.); binding specific molecules (self-assembled monolayers of octadecyltrichlorosilane) to the surface; or coating with a designed polymer, such as a random copolymer or random copolymer brush. Requirements for a useful neutral interface layer include ease of application, effectiveness as a very thin layer, insignificant etch resistance or removable by the process that removes the developable block.

# **TOPOGRAPHIC ALIGNMENT**

For topographically induced ordering, or "graphoepitaxy," lithographically-defined topographic features and boundaries direct the ordering of a self-assembled block copolymer film. The self-assembled patterns self register to the lithographically defined pattern and subdivide into features with sublithographic resolution. Patterns of spherical and both parallel- and perpendicularly-oriented cylindrical features have been studied. Perpendicularly-oriented lamellar patterns are more difficult to self-align, although a few examples are reported.<sup>109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124</sup>

The number of features *n*, fitting within each lithographically defined groove is determined by commensurability between the lithographic width, *w*, and the intrinsic polymer period, L<sub>0</sub>. Defect-free polymer patterns form when the lithographic width satisfies the condition  $w \sim nL_0$ . For example, striped cylindrical patterns of polystyrene-*b*-poly (ethylene-*alt*-propylene) (PS-*b*-PEP)<sup>123</sup> or PS-b-PMMA exhibit a single-valued number of stripes within each channel for widths as wide as  $9L_0$ , ~300 nm. For wider lithographic trench width, >9L<sub>0</sub>, dislocation defects generate multi-valued numbers of stripes within a given channel.<sup>121, 122</sup> Defect levels, spacing distributions, and line straightness are strongly sensitive to small deviations from commensurability. Lines also tend to reproduce and track defects in the lithographically defined wall. A key challenge for high resolution patterning is to develop systems that are tolerant to small variations in the lithographically patterned trench width.<sup>121, 122, 124</sup>

These self assembled block copolymeric systems exhibit placement errors that depend upon template edge roughness and polymer domain non-uniformity. Registration accuracy is dictated by phase-separation thermodynamics, composition, and polydispersity effects.<sup>120</sup> The projected requirement of 1.4 nm registration accuracy for 16 nm half pitch corresponds to a spacing accuracy of .04 L<sub>0</sub> the intrinsic polymer period. This is considerably smaller than typical domain size/spacing distributions of  $3\sigma \sim 0.09-0.3L_0$  for sphere or cylinder-forming patterns.<sup>125</sup> The formation of lamellar structures currently requires a planarization step, as pattern formation is particularly sensitive to film thickness. Research is needed to develop less sensitive material systems or methods that maintain constant film thickness over substrate topography.

### CHEMICAL PATTERNING AND ALIGNMENT

Directed block copolymer assembly on lithographically defined chemically nanopatterned substrates offers another potential route for aligning and registering patterns.<sup>126</sup> In this process, a molecular monolayer, e.g., a self-assembled monolayer or polymer brush, is deposited on a substrate, lithographically patterned, and oxygen plasma etched to define regions with distinct chemistry and surface energy. Subsequently, the surface modified substrate is coated with a thin block copolymer film and thermally annealed. During the anneal process, preferential wetting drives each block to migrate towards chemically compatible surface regions that minimize the film's free energy. Final useful patterns reflect equilibrium morphologies at lithographic dimensions. Improved CD control and LER at nanoscale dimensions are key drivers for this directed self-assembly approach.

An example of this pattering approach is the formation of periodic arrays of lines by lamellae-forming block co-polymer films on chemically patterned surfaces. The lamellae, with a bulk period of  $L_o$ , can assemble perpendicular to the substrate and align with the axis of the underlying chemical surface pattern, if the period of the surface pattern,  $L_s$ , is commensurate with  $L_o$ . When  $L_s = L_o$ , the block copolymer film assembled patterns will be defect free, if the corresponding chemically defined surface pattern also is free of defects.<sup>127</sup> Wafer scale statistics may be required to decouple surface patterning related defects from other factors, such as contaminants. Furthermore, each block copolymer domain aligns with the underlying chemical surface pattern, implying registration and overlay are determined by the lithographic tool capability. If interfacial interactions between the chemical pattern and the polymer film are strong, then the same polymer can create equal line and space patterns, with a variation of  $L_s = L_o \pm ~10\%$  (for example, 21 nm–26 nm period for  $L_o = ~24$  nm).<sup>128, 129</sup> Over this range, the polymer also appears to exhibit some self healing behavior. Such films can correct for line width variations in the chemical surface pattern and maintain the copolymer pattern CD equal to 0.5 Ls.<sup>130</sup> Block copolymer domains can be directed into many of the essential features required for manufacturing integrated circuits with regular fabric architectures, including dense and isolated bends, jogs, spots, line terminations, and T-junctions,<sup>126, 131</sup> as shown in Figure ERM1 below.



Figure ERM1 Current State-of-the-Art of Self-assembled Shapes required by the Design Community

A particular challenge for chemically directed self assembly is demonstrating subdivision of the chemical pattern into desired features with sub-lithographic resolution. Thus far, only 1-to-1 reproductions of the chemically modified surface patterns have been reported. This approach depends upon a multi-step process to produce the local alterations of the neutral layer's chemical properties. Research is needed on materials and methods that would enable direct lithographically induced spatial variation in surface chemistry and functionalization in one step.

### **APPLICATIONS WHERE RANDOM PATTERNS ARE USABLE**

Some applications do not require pattern registration to underlying features. The easiest are those that require only an array of similar sized holes, which can be created from spherical or cylindrical phase separation. Examples include capacitors, nanocrystals for flash memory, air gap masks, and low refractive index cladding for optical waveguides.<sup>126, 132</sup> The primary challenges are the ability to make uniform sized features with adequate etch selectivity. Though patterns of spherical domains are the easiest to form, they place exceptional requirements on the etch selectivity of the two phases.

In extremely scaled CMOS, the trend in the number of channel electrons suggests that by the year 2014 there may be less than one hundred active dopants in the channel region.<sup>133</sup> This low number of dopants in the channel may emerge as a critical performance and yield limiter. (A more detailed discussion on the number of dopants in the channel can be found in the supplemental document.)

Under this scenario, device engineers no longer can assume that large numbers of dopants are stochastically and uniformly distributed in the channel. Recent results show that in this regime, small differences in the number and positions of the dopants impact device to device performance and variability. These results suggest that deterministic doping, which would enable precise control of the numbers and positions of channel dopants, could provide several orders of magnitude improvements in device to device variability.<sup>134</sup>

It is debatable whether fully depleted devices avoid the deterministic patterning challenge; however, their performance also remains susceptible to subtle variations in device structure. Figure ERM2a defines the natural dopant wavefront at the source-channel and channel-drain interfaces. Within this region, the dopant concentration is  $\sim 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, which no longer is high enough to provide a uniform field for the carriers. At the natural dopant wavefront, transiting carriers experience localized point charges, approximately three to six nanometers apart, extending into the channel region like random arrays of atomic lightening rods, as shown in Figure ERM2b.<sup>135</sup> (More detailed discussion on the natural dopant wavefront can be found in the supplemental document.)



*Figure ERM2* Schematics of the natural dopant wavefront: a. Macroscopic perspective and b. a 2D atomic scale perspective

Local random variations within the natural dopant wavefront will induce uncontrolled scattering of carriers entering and exiting the channel. This scattering will induce variations in the spread of carrier transit times within a given device. Additionally, this dopant roughness at either edge of the channel will present to the carriers local variations in the effective channel length. A three to six nanometer dopant roughness at either edge of the channel implies that carriers will experience net intra-device variations in local effective gate lengths of six to twelve nanometers. The magnitude of this dopant roughness may exceed projected ITRS MPU physical gate lengths by the end of the next decade<sup>136</sup> unless the challenge of controlling the structure of this natural dopant wavefront is resolved. Recent studies suggest that inter-device variability also may be exacerbated by the concurrent scaling of device line widths.<sup>137</sup> These emerging sources of variability suggest a need for a deterministic patterning option in extremely scaled CMOS devices. Considerable research is needed to develop materials and fabrication methods that would enable deterministic doping to warrant consideration as a potential solution for extending extremely scaled CMOS technology and to control doping of nanowires for novel applications.

#### DIRECTED SELF ASSEMBLY OF LOW DIMENSIONAL NANOMATERIALS

#### DIRECTED ASSEMBLY OF NANOMATERIAL, INCLUDING NANOTUBES

Whether used for device, interconnect, or in packaging applications, useful nanomaterials must assembled in predefined locations, orientations, and morphologies, with low thermal or electrical resistance. Several strategies for achieving these goals are under consideration and include 1) patterning the surface with a chemical that selectively inhibits or promotes the bonding of the nanomaterial in the patterned areas, 2) chemically treating the nanomaterial surface to selectively bond to specific surfaces to enable selective bonding in predefined locations and orientations. Chemicals used to promote assembly must be removed from or integrated into the final component structure. Substrate specific strategies may be employed to selectively place and align the nanomaterials in desired conformations. For example, hydrophobic and hydrophilic surfaces, respectively, prevent and promote the adhesion of carbon nanotubes to SiO<sub>2</sub>.<sup>138</sup> Amine terminated nanotubes selectively bind to oxidized metal areas on the surface. Additionally, surfactant treated nanotubes will not adhere to untreated areas of the surface. However, methyl terminated phosphonic acid prevents nanotube adhesion and eliminates the need for a surfactant. Such layers can be patterned with conventional lithographic or imprint processes.<sup>139</sup> Alternatively, nanotube surfaces functionalized with acidic groups, such as phosphonic or hydroxamic acid, can selectively deposit on a metal oxide surfaces, but not to acidic surfaces, such as SiO<sub>2</sub>. The original nanotube functionality can restored, after a 600 C anneal in N2. Recent results suggest the feasibility of larger scale integration.<sup>140, 141</sup> While progress is being made, this approach requires considerable improvement before it warrants consideration as a potential solution to fabricate nanotube based devices.

# **SELECTIVE ETCH, CLEAN OR DEPOSITION**

With the wide range of new materials potentially being integrated into future technologies, there are significant needs for materials that enable selective and customized etching, cleaning or material deposition. Either macromolecules or self assembly processes that can enable coating of a specific material in the presence of other chemical processes, such as etching or chemical mechanical polishing could improve process selectivity and yield. Similarly, as feature sizes are reduced, cleaning processes will need to be more selective in removing particles without disturbing the desired structures. Thus, there are opportunities for macromolecules and self assembled materials to enable the enhanced selectivity of future manufacturing processes.

# **SPIN MATERIALS**

Electron spin orientation, like its charge, can be used to represent information. The ERD chapter describes the spin-based devices and their challenges. This section describes spintronics materials, their critical properties, and the issues of preparation that are important for realizing the spin-based devices. In order to realize spin-based logic devices one needs to control (1) equilibrium spin properties (such as tunneling magneto resistance (TMR)) or (2) induced (out of equilibrium) spin polarization and magnetization. For the class "2" devices using induced (non-equilibrium) polarization to become practical, there is an urgent need to develop spin-based materials and structures and to characterize and understand their critical properties. It is necessary to have materials with properties that enable spin injection, spin coherent transport, spin manipulation via field effects (e.g., external fields, magnetic or electric or by current), and operate above room temperature, Curie temperature >350 K. The spin-based materials along with their critical properties and challenges are covered as illustrated in Table ERM7.

The development of spin-based devices will require an understanding of spin-based phenomena, especially in the nanometer scale structures. There are also metrology needs for spintronics materials. However, unlike the measurement of electron charge, single spin reading and writing is still in its infancy.<sup>142</sup> This section covers important spintronic materials and their properties, summarizes some of the significant results, and provides insight to the research directions needed for development of spintronics materials.

### SPIN MATERIAL CHALLENGES

The key challenges for spintronic materials to meet device needs are 1) magnetic semiconductor materials with  $T_C$  (Curie temperature) >350 K with carrier mediated spin exchange; 2) semiconductor materials with long spin coherence time; 3) material properties and tailored interfaces to enable effective spin injection from magnetic materials to semiconductors; 4) compatibility with CMOS processing, and 5) have interfaces with low spin decoherence. In addition, the synthesis must produce materials with consistent properties. It is critical to understand the mechanisms and physical principles that control these properties. The methods for characterizing critical attributes at the nanometer scale, including structural, temporal magnetic, electrical, and optical properties need to be assessed for their accuracy and reproducibility.

# SPIN FUNCTIONS AND MATERIAL PROPERTIES

The set of critical properties for different spintronics materials will depend on the specific device applications, as discussed in ERD. (See Table ERM7.) The following properties will be described along with the challenges for each material:

- Ferromagnetic transition temperature (T<sub>C</sub>)
  - Dilute magnetic semiconductor Tc (ability to achieve  $T_C>350K$ )
  - $\circ$  Size dependence of T<sub>C</sub>
  - Wide bandgap magnetic doped oxides and nitrides
- Spin decoherence time
  - Semiconductors
  - Tunnel barrier materials
- Spin Injection efficiency
- Electric field coupling to spin
  - Rashba effect
  - Spin torque
  - Spin dynamics
  - Spin Hall effect
- Spin amplification or gain
  - o Properties TBD

(For more information on materials and T<sub>C</sub> refer to the supplemental file).

EMERGING SPIN BASED MATERIALS	MATERIAL EXAMPLES	MECHANISM TO READ COMPUTATIONAL STATE	CRITICAL PROPERTIES	Challenges
Ferromagnetic metals	Co, Ni, Fe	Spin injection/extraction	Spin polarization and band symmetry	Interface stability, Schottky barrier control
Half Metals	Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> , CrO <sub>2</sub> Heusler–LSMO Mixed mangantites NiMnSb	Spin polarization	Interface properties and spin band symmetry,	Stoichiometry control Method of characterization Reproducible material fabrication
Multiferroic materials	BiFeO <sub>3</sub> PZT/NiFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> CoFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> /BaTiO <sub>3</sub> PZT/Terfenol-D	Voltage Magnetic field	Magnetic and electrical coupling coefficients	High electric and magnetic coupling
(Diluted) Magnetic SemiconductorsFerromagnetic semiconductorsEle alig(Collective ferromagnetic spin orientationDMS (II,Mn)/VI DMS IV,Mn SilicidesEle alig		Electrical, control of spin alignment	T <sub>C</sub> , Carrier control of ferromagnetism Spin orbit coupling (as manifest in spin lifetimes, and diffusion lengths) g-Factor** Coercivity	Achieving Curie temperature above room temperature Structural homogeneity
Semiconductors	GaAs, etc. Nanotubes Nanowires, etc.	Spin transport	Spin decoherence time	
Dielectric Barrier	MgO	Spin transport or spin selective filter	Spin band symmetry	Control of interfacial properties

 Table ERM7
 Critical Properties of Spintronics Materials

\*\* The g-Factor relates the total magnetic moment to the electron spin angular momentum and the Bohr magneton.

# FERROMAGNETIC TRANSITION METALS/ALLOYS AND HALF METALS

Metallic ferromagnetic materials are important for spintronics device applications, as sources of spin polarized electrons. To overcome the conductivity mismatch between the metal and the semiconductor, the spin polarized electrons are injected through either a modified Schottky barrier or a tunnel dielectric into a semiconductor material. The most important properties of these materials are that they have a very high electron spin polarization and a spin state band symmetry that is close to that of the tunnel and semiconductor materials. Both ferromagnetic metals and alloys, such as Fe, CoFe, and half metals like  $CrO_2$ ,  $Fe_3O_4$ , <sup>143</sup>, <sup>144</sup> are considered for this application.

The principal difficulty of spin injection into a semiconductor from a ferromagnet is that the materials in FMsemiconductor junctions usually have very different electron affinities and, therefore, high Schottky barriers form at the interface.<sup>145</sup> Thus, in GaAs and Si, a barrier height of  $\Delta \approx 0.5$ –0.8 eV is formed with practically all metals, including Fe, Ni, and Co<sup>145, 146</sup> and the barrier width (d) is large, d≥100 nm for doping concentrations N<sub>d</sub>≤10<sup>17</sup>cm<sup>-3</sup>. The spin-injection corresponds to a reverse current in the Schottky contact, which is saturated and usually negligible due to such large d and barrier height  $\Delta$ .<sup>145, 147</sup> Therefore, a thin heavily doped n-layer between FM metal and the semiconductor is used to increase the reverse current, determining the spin-injection in lattice-matched systems like Fe/GaAs.<sup>147, 148, 149</sup> This layer sharply reduces the thickness of the barrier and increases its tunneling probability. Injection is shown to be quite efficient and there appears to be a path to electrically controlled devices that can potentially work at room temperature.<sup>150</sup>

When using an insulating tunneling barrier, similar to that used in the tunneling magneto resistance, the band symmetry of crystalline MgO on Fe, on the [001] crystal surface, of tunneling states is such that the minority spin tunneling may be totally suppressed, leading to very large tunneling magneto resistance (TMR).<sup>151</sup> While large TMR is observed through MgO, the calculations predict the TMR to be several orders of magnitude larger than is observed. Temporal response of the magnetic tunnel materials is of great importance for switching applications, and has been measured in a metal insulator metal (MIM) tunneling junction to be less than 500ps. using X-ray magnetic circular dichroism (XMCD) effect with a resolution of sub 200ps.<sup>152</sup>

#### **MULTIFERROICS**

Multiferroic materials may offer potential spintronic devices the ability to control spin via optical, magnetic, and electrical methods. Materials that have coupled electric, magnetic, and structural order parameters that result in simultaneous ferroelectricity, ferromagnetism, and ferroelasticity are known as multiferroics.<sup>153</sup> These compounds present opportunities for potential applications for information storage and logic devices; however, the understanding of ferroelectricity remains limited, especially when the vertical and lateral dimensions decrease to small dimensions in thin

films. For example, structural analysis of BiFeO<sub>3</sub> indicates that the crystal structure of the film is monoclinic in contrast to the bulk, which is rhombohedral. The films display a room-temperature spontaneous polarization (50-60  $\mu$ C cm<sup>-2</sup>) almost an order of magnitude higher than that of the bulk (6.1  $\mu$ C cm<sup>-2</sup>). The observed enhancement is corroborated by first-principles calculations and found to originate from a high sensitivity of the polarization to small changes of lattice parameters, due to lattice mismatch. The films also exhibit enhanced thickness-dependent magnetism compared with the bulk. These enhanced and combined functional responses in the thin film form present an opportunity to create and implement thin film devices that actively couple the magnetic and ferroelectric order parameters.<sup>154</sup>

The first observation of electrical control of antiferromagnetic domain structure in a single-phase multiferroic material at room temperature has been demonstrated.<sup>155</sup> High-resolution images of both antiferromagnetic and ferroelectric domain structures of (001)-oriented multiferroic BiFeO<sub>3</sub> films show a clear domain correlation, indicating a strong coupling between the two types of order. The ferroelectric structure was characterized using piezo force microscopy, whereas X-ray photoemission electron microscopy, as well as its temperature dependence, was used to verify the antiferromagnetic configuration. Antiferromagnetic domain switching (unusable for storage) induced by ferroelectric polarization has been achieved in agreement with theoretical predictions.<sup>156</sup> Strong magnetoelectric coupling does not imply the possibility of switching of magnetic domains by electric field or that an extra bit can be stored in a magnetic subsystem.

There are only a few multiferroic materials with  $T_C>350$  K known today,<sup>157</sup> e.g., BiFeO<sub>3</sub> (1  $\mu_B$  per formula unit, ~50– 60  $\mu$ C cm<sup>-2</sup>) and its derivatives, but hybrid material approaches may enable this coupling. An alternative method for engineering enhanced magnetoelectric effects is to introduce indirect coupling between two materials such as a ferromagnet and a ferroelectric.<sup>158</sup> Each material may then be independently optimized for room temperature performance. The combination of piezoelectric-magnetoresistive materials represents an artificial multiferroic, whose magnetization can be controlled by an electric field. There are several promising candidates for the piezoelectricmagnetostrictive structure, which have been experimentally studied: PZT/NiFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> (1,400 mV cm<sup>-1</sup> Oe<sup>-1</sup>),<sup>159</sup> CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (50 mV cm<sup>-1</sup> Oe<sup>-1</sup>),<sup>160</sup> PZT/Terfenol-D (4,800 mV cm<sup>-1</sup> Oe<sup>-1</sup>).<sup>161</sup> The understanding of multiferroicferromagnetic coupling mechanisms may have significant impact on the development of novel spin-based memory devices, allowing for information encoding independently in electric and magnetic polarizations

#### **DMS MATERIALS AND THEIR PROPERTIES**

Dilute magnetic semiconductors (DMS)—semiconductors doped with 3d transition metals, like (Ga,Mn)As Table ERM7—enable electrically controlled electron spin for either injection into a semiconductor or as part of an active device. Since the DMS band and crystal structures may be compatible with other semiconductors, they could offer significant integration advantages, but they currently are ferromagnetic only at low temperatures ( $T_C < 200K$ ) The dilute magnetic semiconductors listed in the supplemental document for materials and  $T_C$  afford electric control via carrier mediated exchange interactions for emerging research devices.<sup>162, 163, 164</sup> In DMS, the structural homogeneity is critical for assessing the contributions from other separate phases, if present. For the determination of  $T_C$  using superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUID), the Arrott plot (vertical axis is magnetization squared ( $M^2$ ) and horizontal axis is B/M) is critical to determine  $T_C$  correctly.<sup>165</sup> These data should be corroborated and validated with those of the Anomalous Hall effect.

Much attention has been devoted recently to exploring the possibility of a three-terminal spin injection logic device, <sup>166,</sup> <sup>167, 168</sup> where spin is injected into semiconductor from either metallic ferromagnetic electrode or from magnetic semiconductors was recently demonstrated at low temperatures. <sup>169</sup>; however, the magnetization in ferromagnetic semiconductors (FMS) usually vanishes or is too small at room temperature. Although attempts to achieve efficient room-temperature spin injection face substantial challenges, spin injection efficiencies greater than 10% are reported in metal insulator semiconductor (MIS) structures. <sup>170, 171</sup> Furthermore, the ability to inject and measure spin in silicon was recently demonstrated at low temperatures, the ability to inject and measure spin in silicon was recently demonstrated at low temperatures. <sup>172, 173, 174</sup> which offers hope for integration of spin devices with CMOS. Attempts to calculate T<sub>C</sub> based on basic principles of carrier-mediated exchange<sup>175, 176</sup> have been unsuccessful with computed Curie temperatures being significantly different than experimental results. Therefore, improved models are needed.

### DMS TO ACHIEVE T<sub>c</sub> > 350 K

Since the discovery of DMSs, their Curie temperatures have increased, as a result of research to increase substitutional magnetic impurity composition in existing well-established DMS, such as (Ga,Mn)As.<sup>176, 177</sup> Further research to increase the solubility limit and self compensation effect of magnetic elements in semiconductors has further increased  $T_C$ .<sup>178</sup> More radical techniques, such as simultaneously using delta-doped magnetic structure with modulation doping,<sup>179</sup> are being investigated. An alternative approach to achieving high- $T_C$  DMS uses wide bandgap semiconductor host nitrides and oxides, such as GaN, AlN, ZnO, TiO<sub>2</sub>, doped with 3d transition metal impurities, Fe, Co, Ni, Mn, V, etc. In these

materials, high magnetic impurity concentrations are needed, due to the lack of long-range interaction among magnetic spins.<sup>175, 180, 181</sup> In order to firmly establish whether the observed ferromagnetic order is intrinsic and produced by carrier mediated exchange, a series of measurements is needed to carefully rule out the possibility of having magnetic precipitates.<sup>182, 183</sup>

The nonuniform distribution of magnetic ions was studied theoretically<sup>184</sup> and observed in several DMSs.<sup>185, 186, 187</sup> The magnetically condensed region has nanometer dimensions and often has the same crystal structure as the host semiconductors. This nanoscale phase separation is suggested to be controlled by charge state.<sup>187</sup> In an effort to monolithically integrate ferromagnetic materials to nonmagnetic semiconductors, ferromagnetic materials that have the same crystal structure as the host in semiconductors are under investigation. So far, zinc blended CrAs and CrSb grown by molecular-beam epitaxy were confirmed to show ferromagnetism over 400 K.<sup>188, 189</sup>

Nanostructures of  $MnGe^{186}$  were observed to have a  $T_C > 400$  K, which seems to suggest a size effect. Likewise, the electric field control of similar structures using MOS also suggests the importance of the size.<sup>190</sup> Clearly the challenge will be to have these data repeated and to improve the understanding of these effects.

# COMPLEX METAL OXIDES

Complex metal oxides cover a wide range of materials that include transition metal oxides alone or in combination with group II and lanthanide metal oxides. Many of these materials exist in a perovskite crystal structure and their functionality depends on the existence of bi-stable locations of the transition metal. The properties of these materials depend on the stoichiometry of the cations and anions and their properties can be dramatically changed by stress and oxygen vacancies. Furthermore, hydrogen can diffuse through these materials and change properties in the materials and at the interfaces. These materials are of interest for potential application to nonvolatile memories, by use of ferroelectric, resistance change or other properties. They are also of interest for a wide range of applications, including high dielectric constant capacitors in devices. Their more complex properties, such as coupled ferroelectric and ferromagnetic and anti-ferromagnetic properties, are of interest for potential application in novel memory or logic applications. Recently, complex properties of heterointerfaces between these materials have been observed and have stimulated interest for potentially enabling novel logic applications. Refer to Table ERM8.

APPLICATION	POTENTIAL MATERIAL VALUE	Key Challenges
FE FET	Static polarization	Control of defects and interfaces during fabrication
		Degradation of materials properties during use
Fuse-antifuse Memory	New high density memory cells	Reliability of the fuse mechanism
High Performance Capacitor	High dielectric constant	Dielectric constant decreases with thickness(<150 nm)
Spin Tunnel Barriers	See Spin Materials section	See Interfaces section
Novel Logic Devices	Strongly correlated electron state materials and heterostructures: novel coupling of electric and magnetic properties	Identification of dynamic properties compatible with logic applications
		Control of stoichiometry, vacancy concentration, and stress
		Material compatibility with CMOS processing

 Table ERM8
 Potential Applications and Challenges for Complex Metal Oxides

# **ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES AND DEFECTS**

Most complex metal oxides are very wide bandgap semiconductors and their properties can be modulated by the concentration of oxygen vacancies or hydrogen. At any given growth temperature, there will be an equilibrium concentration of oxygen vacancies. This equilibrium concentration can be increased if the oxygen partial pressure is too low, so growth conditions are important for determining vacancy concentration. Depending on the material, oxygen vacancies can act as donors or traps that can change the conductivity of the material. Hydrogen can be a source of fixed positive or negative charge.<sup>191</sup> Defects can also serve to create fixed charge in dielectrics, which can impact leakage as they change the Fermi level.

#### **ELECTRICAL INTERFACES AND DEFECTS**

Defects at interfaces can pin the Fermi level and cause the band offsets to be different than expected, based on work function differences. Whether interfacial defects, such as oxygen vacancies or hydrogen, are introduced during the growth

or deposition of interfacial materials, this Fermi level pinning<sup>192</sup> by defect levels in the bandgap may produce barriers that allow carrier tunneling,<sup>193</sup> which may make them undesirable for their chosen application. These issues are discussed in more detail in the Interfaces and Heterointerfaces section.

#### **MATERIALS FOR MEMORIES**

These complex metal oxides are being explored in Ferroelectric FET (FeFET), ionic, fuse-antifuse, and some versions of the electron injection memory with device requirements explained in more detail in the Emerging Research Devices chapter, Memory section. While each of these memories use different materials and mechanisms that require different properties, the stoichiometry of the materials, oxygen vacancies, and stress state have a significant role in the properties of these materials and their interfaces for all applications.

#### FERROELECTRIC RANDOM ACCESS MEMORY (FEFET MEMORY)

FeFET memories have gained interest due to their unique way of storing data based on the polarization states available in ferroelectric materials ( $Pb(Zr_{1-x}Ti_x)O_3$ ). There are two stable polarization states available in  $Pb(Zr_{1-x}Ti_x)O_3$  thin films where the Ti atom can move up or down based on the applied program electric field, the electric field must exceed a critical magnitude to move the Ti atom between the states. Perovskite (lead zirconate titanate, or PZT) and layered (Strontium Bismuth Tantalate, or SBT) ferroelectric field cycling<sup>194, 195</sup> is a major issue that must be resolved. The interfaces to silicon and the conductive electrode are critical in this failure mode. Refer to the Emerging Research Devices chapter.

The FeFET has the ferroelectric material deposited on silicon with a conductive electrode deposited on top of the ferroelectric material. For the ferroelectric interface to silicon, since PZT and SBT do not form passivating interfaces with silicon, a dielectric buffer must be used, but this requires larger operating voltages and results in shorter retention time.<sup>196</sup> The top conductive electrode uses either a refractory metal or a conductive metal oxide, but both approaches have significant challenges with the refractory metals (Pt, Ir, Ru) catalyzing the dissociation and diffusion of hydrogen that degrades the ferroelectric material, and the conducting oxides ( $IrO_2$ ,  $RuO_2$ )<sup>194, 197</sup> causing high leakage currents in the ferroelectric materials. The most commonly studied electrode is Pt with a Ti adhesion layer. But due to the high processing temperatures the oxidation of Ti to TiO<sub>2</sub> and interdiffusion of Pt and Ti leads to the interface degradation.<sup>198</sup> PZT thin films on Pt electrodes have good polarization and low leakage currents, while the fatigue is very poor. In order to avoid fatigue associated with oxygen vacancies, conductive oxides such as  $IrO_2$  and  $RuO_2$  have been used to replace the Ti layer in the electrode stack,<sup>199</sup> but they have higher leakage currents. Thus, to have better fatigue resistance, high remnant polarization and low leakage current electrodes, consisting of Pt films (10nm) grown on conductive oxide (e.g.,  $RuO_2$  or  $IrO_2$ )<sup>198, 199</sup> are being employed.</sup>

#### FUSE ANTI-FUSE MEMORIES

Recently, transition metal oxides have been used to demonstrate bi-stable resistance states that can serve as a basis for high density, low voltage non-volatile memory. In all cases, OFF-state current is driven by some form of defect-mediated transport, including defect mediated hopping transport and trap assisted tunneling. While the conduction mechanisms are not clearly understood in the ON-state, two classes of mechanisms are proposed to be involved: 1) defect mediated conduction, and 2) random localized filamentary conduction. In the first case, the conduction occurs first in the ON-state because the Fermi-level in the metal is pinned and aligned to donor type trap states that are typically oxygen vacancies,<sup>200</sup> so it is necessary to control and form the oxygen vacancies during processing. Further, the Fermi level pinning can be modified by deliberately having an appropriate interfacial layer between the metal electrode and the dielectric. In the case of filamentary conduction systems,<sup>201</sup> the oxides are doped with a metal, such as copper, and single or multiple random conduction filaments form in the oxide when a high electric field is applied. These conducting filaments may be broken by reversing the bias or re-formed by reapplying the programming bias. In this case, it is desirable to make the oxide defect-free to eliminate alternate conduction paths that can increase OFF state leakage. Oxygen electro-migration in these materials may produce device reliability issues, because it produces time dependant changes in oxide resistance that vary with electric field and current density,<sup>202</sup> which can be detrimental in device applications. Further, the dopant/dielectric combination must be chosen to increase dopant mobility, which impacts switching speed. An added materials challenge is that lateral diffusion barriers may be required to keep dopants in place within the memory cell. In all of these cases, control of oxygen vacancies and stoichiometry are crucial.

# HIGH DIELECTRIC CONSTANT (K) MATERIALS

Key requirements for high performance capacitors include 1)high capacitance density, 2)linearity or very weak if any dependence of capacitance on voltage, 3)low temperature or very weak dependence of capacitance on temperature, and 4) minimal or no dispersion that represents the dependence of capacitance on frequency, high break-down field, and low

cost.<sup>203</sup> A critical issue that may limit the ability to increase charge storage of high- $\kappa$  dielectrics is the decreasing dielectric constant with film thickness and grain size. In experiments with several thicknesses of BaTi<sub>4</sub>O<sub>9</sub> capacitors, the dielectric constant was found to decrease significantly below a thickness of about 50 nm.<sup>204</sup> Thickness dependence is important because the expected increase of capacitance density by scaling thickness is offset by decrease of dielectric constant. The dielectric constant of BST drops by a factor of 5–10 as the film thickness is decreased from 950- 145 nm.<sup>205</sup>

A critical property for MIM capacitors is linearity or weak dependence of capacitance on applied voltage. A primary cause for this is that the polarization inside the dielectric is no longer strictly proportional to the electric field.<sup>206</sup> More materials work needs to be focused on developing materials that are linear at higher electric fields. The trade-off is a reduction in the dielectric constant.

In conclusion, the most important need is for films with near perfect stoichiometrically and dispersion; however, deposited films tend to be imperfect due to limited oxygen in the ambient. Interface engineering is very important, as interface states in the bandgap can pin the Fermi-level of the electrode and modify charge transport barriers. Fundamental understanding of the switching mechanisms is critical to develop single high- $\kappa$  materials with desired properties.

# STRONGLY CORRELATED ELECTRON STATE MATERIALS

Strongly correlated electron state (SCES) materials have complex phases where the spin, charge, lattice, and orbital hybridization are coupled simultaneously. Complex phase transitions exist where charge ordering and electric properties change, and ferromagnetic and anti-ferromagnetic states occur Also, heterointerfaces formed between correlated materials have new state properties and interfaces to ferromagnetic materials have enabled coupling between ferroelectric properties and ferromagnetic properties in these structures. Most of the existing applications of these materials utilize relatively slow processes for high  $T_C$  superconductors, colossal magnetoresistance (CMR), and ferroelectric memories. The challenge is to determine whether these complex interactions can be controlled at high enough speeds and densities to enable new logic device functionality at the nanometer scale. Parameters such as energy, phase switching speed, field required to switch the state, dynamics of the states, and size dependencies need to be quantified to determine if SCES materials could be employed as a building block for an information processing system. Further, these electronic complexities in SCES materials occur due to charge (semiconducting electronic), or charge and spin (spintronics), and lattice and orbital degrees of freedom in the oxide system that result in several competitive metallic and insulating phases, increasing the potential for novel behavior. For details on emerging research devices, refer to the ERD chapter.

SCES materials exhibit correlated functions via their charge, spin and orbital symmetry. The challenge is to create a phase change through an external stimulus that will result in a dramatic change in electrical or magnetic properties. <sup>207, 208</sup> The ionic radius can also be varied to tune the phase transition and behaviors in oxides, such as manganites. In doing so, it has been shown that phase transitions of charge order, spin glass, and ferromagnetic phases<sup>209</sup> can be controlled, which could induce CMR and colossal electroresistance (CER).<sup>210</sup>

An interesting proposal is for *orbitronics*, which aims at controlling the electric current and, possibly, spin by triggering changes in d-electron orbital hybridization that propagate as a wave. This orbital wave could potentially transfer information and is called an *orbiton*. Orbital waves are characterized by peaks in orientation dependent Raman spectra that occur at approximately a few times the phonon frequency in LaMnO<sub>3</sub> (e.g., electron system).<sup>211</sup> Experimental evidence of orbitons being controlled by an electric field is still required, as is the understanding of orbiton dynamics and the energy required to generate an orbiton.

An important parameter that comes from spin-orbit interactions is the toroidal moment, which is the product of polarization and magnetization. For instance, a material such as  $GaFe_2O_3$  has been shown to possess magnetoelectric properties in an optical frequency region, as revealed by nonlinear Kerr rotation detection.<sup>212</sup> This may have value in electro-magneto-optical devices. This optical technique has also been shown to be applicable for detecting interface magnetism of SCES heteroepitaxial structures.<sup>213</sup>

The ability to initiate CMR via electric control of a frustrated, frustration is a situation where a system cannot simultaneously minimize interaction energies and may have multiple effective ground states, spin-structure has been demonstrated. Competition between ferromagnetic, paraelectric, antiferromagnetic, and ferroelectric phases causes a phase change at a bi- or multi-critical point by applying an electric or a magnetic field on a multiferroic material.<sup>214</sup> TbMnO<sub>3</sub> exhibits gigantic-magnetoelectric and magnetocapacitance effects, which can be attributed to switching of the electric polarization induced by magnetic fields. Frustrated spin systems provide a new area to investigate for magnetoelectric media.

# STRONGLY CORRELATED ELECTRON STATE HETEROINTERFACES

Heterointerfaces between strongly correlated electron state (SCES) materials have been found to have new properties that may enable new functionality for device applications. For example, the conductivity of the interface between two insulators, LaAlO<sub>3</sub> and SrTiO<sub>3</sub>, can be dynamically tuned across a metal-insulator transition by applying an external gate field. The result is a system that can be switched from highly insulating to highly conducting.<sup>215</sup> The switching has been demonstrated to have a seven-order of magnitude change in resistivity and has a hysteretic effect. It has been shown that a critical thickness of four-six unit cell layers is required for the increased interface conductivity and carrier density to occur.<sup>216, 217</sup>

By growing precise structures that incorporate an external gate, the interface can be statically and dynamically tuned over many orders of magnitude -  $R_{on}/R_{off} 10^{7.217}$  Due to the long time constant, it was hypothesized that this may be controlled by creation and migration of defects, such as oxygen defects. The switching voltages used were very high (60-100V)<sup>217</sup> due to the thick insulating substrate, but it is important to understand the local fields required to cause the formation and elimination of the conductive interface. Electronic switching has also been reported in manganite materials with nanometer scale thicknesses of  $Sm_{0.7}Ca_{0.3}MnO_3$  deposited on  $La_{0.7}Sr_{0.3}MnO_3$ .<sup>218</sup> Alternating LaMnO<sub>3</sub>/SrMnO<sub>3</sub> heterostructures, with thicknesses of 6 and 4 unit cells, respectively, exhibited properties different than the alloy with the same average composition.<sup>219</sup> It is important to determine the fundamental mechanism that enables these new states and determine the role of interfacial strain and oxygen related defectsOxide heterostructure property control and challenges are discussed in more detail in the Interfaces and Heterointerfaces section.

New metrology is needed to characterize charge, potential, and spin properties at these interfaces simultaneously. Scanning probe techniques are used to characterize ferroelectric interfaces at the nanometer scale,<sup>220, 221, 222</sup> but this also needs to include characterization of spin and magnetic properties to correlate these effects. These requirements are discussed in more detail in the *Metrology* section of this chapter.

# INTERFACES AND HETEROINTERFACES

Interfaces provide charge and spin access to low-dimensional nanoscale materials and devices and also serve as barriers. Interfaces are of long-term importance, because their properties dominate the performance and limit the reliability of electronic devices, particularly at the nanoscale. It is critical to understand the correlation of interface physical and compositional nanostructure to electronic and spin properties. Also, the underlying physical and chemical mechanisms of interface factors that control reliability must be understood.

The types of interfaces considered here include on-chip device and interconnect structures, as well as packages with electrical and thermomechanical constraints. This section summarizes the key issues and challenges involved in controlling interface structures, composition, and properties for various emerging research device types. The major issues for each device type are organized as heterostructure interfaces (semiconductor-semiconductor, oxide-oxide, and organic-organic), contacts (electrical and magnetic), and dielectric interfaces (passivation, barriers, low- $\kappa$  and high- $\kappa$  dielectric interfaces). Recent research on interfaces discussed in this section has emphasized the use of engineered interfacial molecular monolayers to ameliorate some of the adverse effects of abrupt compositional, phase, and bond changes inherent to interfaces. Refer to the ERD chapter.

# HETEROINTERFACES

For heterostructure interfaces, control of the charge and spin transfer, transport, and modulation requires that the electronic band structures be properly aligned in the presence of interface band bending and that no defects are generated that pin the Fermi levels. Furthermore, any stress effects that can occur due to lattice mismatch of the materials or other factors must be controlled, since they can change the electronic properties of the materials. Typically, for nanoscale heteroepitaxial film thicknesses, the films remain elastically strained and do not relieve stress through misfit dislocation formation. At these stress levels, the electronic properties of the films can be affected.

For compound semiconductors or complex metal oxides, the stoichiometry at the interface must be controlled, since composition and stress can change the electronic properties. For semiconductor heterostructures, carrier transport is affected by both phonon scattering and interface scattering, due to topological roughness and heteroepitaxial elastic stress and defects. For nanoscale lengths, carrier dynamics are well within the scattering lengths typical for bulk materials and must be treated as electromagnetic waves rather than particles obeying Boltzmann statistics.

In the case of complex metal oxide heterointerfaces, stress can cause one material to change crystal structure and produce dramatic changes in properties. Furthermore, since properties of complex metal oxides depend on stoichiometry and vacancy concentration, control of both cationic and anionic stoichiometries, including the oxygen vacancy concentration

in each material and at the interface is needed. Characterization of oxygen vacancy concentration down to the 1E10 cm<sup>-2</sup> level in these materials and at their interfaces is very difficult, which makes analysis of the role of vacancies at the interface difficult. In addition, the role of atomic hydrogen, [H], in neutralizing vacancies must be carefully understood. Apart from stoichiometry concerns, the control of band offset in oxide heterostructure interfaces, through the use of *interfactant* compositional layers, has been reported.<sup>223</sup> For organic-organic heterostructures, charge transport layers require bonding and conformational transformations from pi to sigma bonds across relatively large molecular distances and impurity effects must be minimized.<sup>224</sup>

# **ELECTRICAL CONTACTS AND SCHOTTKY BARRIERS**

For electrical contacts, the energy required to inject charge into the active material becomes critical and is determined by alignment of metal work functions to the energy bands of the active material when interface states or interface reactions don't occur. To achieve Ohmic contacts to semiconductor devices, degenerate doping of the semiconductor has produced low-resistance contacts, but as devices approach the nanometer scale, electrical contacts may need to be formed without degenerately doping the semiconductor contacts. The lack of degenerate doping creates challenges for the formation of reliable contacts to semiconductor nanowires. In the case of carbon-based structures, whether molecular, nanotube or graphitic structures, high contact resistances or high tunnel barriers may limit electrical performance in device or interconnect applications. For carbon nanotube FETs, the contact resistance is modulated by the gate voltage.<sup>225</sup> Thus, it is important to understand the interfacial bonding and how this controls the interface electrical properties and barriers. For example, the use of intermediate amide linkers on carbon nanotubes has been shown to affect the deposited coverage of contact metals.<sup>226, 227, 228</sup> Also, at the nanoscale, dipole moments and charge screening exist at the or near the interface , their affect on contact behavior is poorly understood.

In the case of complex metal-oxide interfaces, the metal must not react with the oxide.<sup>229</sup> Oxygen vacancies and hydrogen can dramatically change the properties of the contacts. This is especially important during the life of the device structures as electric fields in the presence of hydrogen may affect electronic properties. Detection of vacancy concentrations and hydrogen at these interfaces is extremely difficult and limits the ability to determine their role in interface formation and reliability. In some cases, metals are known to catalyze the formation of atomic hydrogen which can interact with oxygen and oxygen vacancies to change the behavior of the interfaces. This formation of atomic hydrogen is believed to be associated with a failure mode for devices based on these materials, so metals that catalyze the formation of atomic hydrogen may be of limited value. In addition to unwanted chemical and electrochemical behavior, the metal-dielectric interfaces usually show dipole effects associated with interface charges and contamination effects.

Another issue in ferroelectric oxide-metal interfaces is the effect of bottom electrodes on the crystalline structure of the deposited oxides and a resultant degradation of ferroelectric properties. In addition, problems of metal adhesion and diffusion of metals into ferroelectric oxides can be significant and interface adhesion promoters and diffusion barriers such as Ti or conductive oxides ( $IrO_2$  and  $RuO_2$ ) interlayers between Pt and the ferroelectric oxides have been developed. Conductive oxides also improve the fatiguing of the ferroelectric bit at the expense of higher leakage current.<sup>230</sup>

For metal-organic interfaces, contact properties may be determined by whether the metal is deposited on the organic or organic deposited on metal since metal deposition processes are more energetic and may result in damage to the organic material. The challenge is to fabricate low-impedance top contacts with reliable, repeatable properties. Interface energy barriers are determined by various factors such as molecular hybridization, matching of metal work functions to organic highest occupied and lowest unoccupied molecular orbital [HOMO and LUMO respectively] levels, and the control of dipole energy barriers  $^{228, 231, 232, 233, 234}$  Any uncontrolled interface chemistry will introduce variability in the contact properties and affect the performance of devices such as transparent organic FETs and LEDs. In addition to interface compositional control, the molecular conformation at the interface is a critical factor in determining the contact electrical properties.  $^{235, 236}$  The current through molecular films can vary by more than one order of magnitude depending on the angle between the axis of the molecules and the interface normal. This is a consequence of the strong directional character of the *p* binding orbitals that determine the transport of electrons through the conjugated molecules.

# SPIN INJECTION OR SPIN FILTER INTERFACES

Spin injection interfaces are of two basic types: 1) ferromagnetic metals on non-magnetic semiconductors and 2) magnetic semiconductors on non-magnetic semiconductors. The key physical process involves injecting spin polarized current from the magnetic metal or semiconductor to the non-magnetic semiconductor or preferentially extracting electrons with certain spin direction. It has been found that the interface defect densities do not need to be as low as for FETs or laser diodes because of the relative inefficiency of spin flips induced even by substantial numbers of interface defects.<sup>237</sup> Thus, spin flip scattering does not become a problem until interface defect densities are relatively high. In addition to the band alignment required for electron transport in epitaxial systems, in spin transport, the symmetry of the

spin bands in the materials need to align, limiting the choices of material combinations that can be used. Heterointerfaces between a magnetically doped semiconductor and an undoped semiconductor have demonstrated high injection efficiency, because the symmetry of the bands is similar, but these systems currently only operate at low temperatures, due to low Curie temperatures. Iron (Fe) and iron-cobalt (Fe-Co) have good spin-band symmetry, with the bands of group IV and III-V semiconductors, but they have much higher conductivities than the semiconductors and need to form either a Schottky barrier or have a tunnel barrier between the ferromagnetic metal and the semiconductor. The Schottky barrier between the ferromagnetic metal and the semiconductor case, the bands in the tunnel barrier must align and have spin symmetry compatible with the metal and the semiconductor bands. Epitaxial Fe/MgO appears to be the current best-choice interface material<sup>239</sup> that satisfies these constraints. In addition to proper band alignment, tunneling spin filters with extremely well controlled barrier thicknesses and very small interface roughness are needed.<sup>240</sup>

#### **DIELECTRIC INTERFACES**

For dielectric interfaces, such as gate dielectrics and metal-low- $\kappa$  dielectrics, the major issue is to control the dielectric properties at the interface to preserve the desired electrical properties. For high- $\kappa$  gate dielectrics, unwanted chemical reactions and stoichiometry changes can occur that degrade the electrical behavior. For low- $\kappa$  dielectrics, interface adhesion stress effects are significant because of the very low elastic modulus of such dielectrics, the low adhesion energies, and the resulting enhancement of metal electromigration. One remedy is to increase the Cu-low- $\kappa$  interface toughness by 6× through the use of molecular monolayers, where one end of the molecule has a thiol (sulfur) termination for binding to Cu and the other end has a siloxane bridge for binding to the dielectric.<sup>241</sup>

For ferroelectric oxide-semiconductor interfaces, defects can cause a loss of polarization, known as fatigue, due to charge trapping. Dielectric interface buffers have been explored to improve the interface characteristics and reduce fatigue.<sup>234</sup> However, larger operating voltages are required and charge retention times are shortened.

#### **PACKAGE INTERFACES**

Package interfaces dominate the electrical impedance, thermomechanical stress, and heat-transfer characteristics. The main opportunities are in package designs that minimize the number of interfaces and configure them to minimize electrical, thermal, and stress effects. Interface engineering will be required to optimize the performance of future packages.

#### SUBSURFACE INTERFACE MEASUREMENTS

Subsurface interface measurements are critical to the control of interface properties through the various stages of fabrication, packaging, and operation. Detailed requirements are described in the Metrology embedded interfaces section.

Modeling of embedded interface electron and spin properties is needed to provide a proper basis for the design of future devices, interconnects, and circuits. In particular, modeling is needed to separate the probe-specimen interactions to determine the unperturbed interface properties. Phenomena such as interface chemical bonding, interdiffusion and reactivity, physical scattering mechanisms, mechanical adhesion energies, and charge/spin injection behaviors need to be modeled and included in future CAD capabilities.

# **ENVIRONMENT, SAFETY, AND HEALTH**

Emerging research materials covers a very broad range of materials with wide potential applicability. Even with the potentially broad range of applications, these could be classified as 1) new materials deposited by a conventional deposition process and then patterned and processed with conventional technology; 2) new chemicals that would be integrated onto the wafer or package or used in processing; 3) nanostructured materials that are deposited with conventional technology and embedded in a layer on a wafer or in a package, and 4) nanostructured materials that are produced in a powder or in a liquid suspension to be used in processing or integrated with structures on a wafer or in a package.

In cases where existing or new chemicals are used to fabricate thin films or materials with conventional processes, existing environmental safety and health protocols should be applied in the assessment of their hazard and risk. In the case where "free" nanoparticles are produced in either powder or liquid form, research has raised concerns that these nanoparticles may be mobile in biological organisms and humans and potentially have unknown toxicological effects.<sup>242</sup>, <sup>243, 244, 245, 246, 247, 248, 249, 250</sup> Thus, it is important for researchers working with these materials to employ conservative procedures that reduce the potential for direct human exposure to these materials. The semiconductor and chemical

industries have identified a joint set of research needs to improve detection of nanomaterials and the understanding of their potential for bio-interaction. For further details on these needs, refer to the supplemental online document.

#### **EMERGING MATERIALS SYNTHESIS**

In the cases where new chemicals or materials are used to deposit an emerging research material, conventional protocols should be used to assess the hazards and risk of the material in handling, processing, and disposing of the material or process waste. Researchers should be aware of and follow these protocols in evaluating new chemicals and materials. Refer to the ESH chapter.

#### NANOMATERIALS

Evidence is emerging that "free" nanoparticles may be mobile in biological organisms, but more work is needed to understand the concentration and dose dependence of these effects. Nanomaterials or nanoparticles chemically bonded to substrates and embedded in a structure would have a significantly lower risk for exposure than free nanoparticles. Some studies have indicated that some nanoparticles can induce tissue inflammation and possible toxic responses under some circumstances, and the size dependence is not understood. Although further research is needed to understand the potential for exposure, exposure concentration thresholds, and dose rates that may produce hazards, researchers should be conservative in their management of these materials. They should employ conservative practices in handling these materials and limit direct exposure. As these materials are further processed, researchers should ensure that nanoparticle byproducts formed in processes are contained to limit researcher and environmental exposure. Furthermore, when maintenance is performed on equipment where nanoparticles were processed or generated, procedures should be employed to reduce direct human exposure. Finally, as waste is generated, disposal processes should be employed to minimize human and environmental exposure.

As new research on potential environment, safety, and health effects emerges, researchers and their Environment, Safety, and Health organizations should monitor advances in understanding potential hazards and risks, and new technologies and methodologies to reduce risk. A broad range of research on instrumentation to monitor potential exposure, to understand factors affecting potential mobility of nanoparticles in biological organisms and the factors affecting the potential for inflammation and toxicological reactions is under way and should be monitored in technical journals. Furthermore, the several groups are establishing databases in technical publications on these topics. Also, a number of organizations are assessing current practices and developing best practices to manage these materials. For further details regarding one example, see the linked report of current practices.

As fundamental principles of nanomaterial interactions with biological organisms are identified and understood, improved protocols need to be developed that enable hierarchical assessment of hazard and risk of new nanomaterials, as they are evaluated in research, integrated in manufacturing processes, and potentially used in products. Since increasing material volumes would be used in each of these stages of the manufacturing lifecycle, additional considerations would need to be incorporated in the assessment process. Metrology to detect the presence of nanoparticles is critically needed to improve risk assessment capabilities; details are described in the Metrology section of this chapter.

A hierarchy of risk assessment methodologies needs to be developed that comprehends the different potential exposure risk in research, technology development, product development, product applications, and product end-of-life. In research, sample sizes would be small, with a small number of people involved in a controlled environment. If the material moves to technology development, the volume of material and number of people involved would increase, so risk assessment would need to cover more operational functions and increased material disposal issues. If nanomaterials are to be developed into a product, the risk assessment would need to include manufacturing, distribution, potential consumers, and product end-of-life or recycling. Thus, the risk assessment would need to be expanded in scope with each stage of the technology life cycle. This assessment would need to comprehend learning from recent research. Researchers should continue to improve their processes for managing ESH on conventional and nanomaterials as hazard and risk research progress.

# METROLOGY

Metrology is needed to support emerging research materials (ERM), by imaging chemical composition and structure at sub nanometer dimensions, characterizing structures and properties of embedded interfaces, simultaneously measuring complex properties at nm dimensions, and measuring defect concentrations and distributions on nm scale structures. Further discussion about metrology for ERM can be found in the Metrology chapter, in the section titled *Metrology for Emerging Research Materials and Devices*.

# IMAGING STRUCTURE AND COMPOSITION AT THE NANOMETER SCALE

ERMs potentially will be integrated into nanometer scale structures, so metrology is needed to image the composition and structure of a wide range of complex materials, including low z materials, with atomic scale dimensional accuracy. Other complex materials of interest include nanostructured materials and insulating films with complex properties, etc. If lowdimensional materials, such as carbon nanotubes, are to be used in devices or interconnects, then integrated metrology is needed to measure their in situ structure, composition, and orientation. Examples include the placement and alignment accuracy of patterned gate materials, contacts on nanotubes, and nanotube interconnects over microns in length. Similarly, for self-assembled materials to be a viable option for extending conventional lithographic technologies, accurate measurement methods are needed to characterize ultra-thin films of patterned materials, such as block co-polymers, and measure their alignment to previously patterned structures, with sub nm accuracy. Furthermore, accurate ferromagnetic and magnetic material characterization is needed for developing potential spin structures, decoupled from the impact of the structure's magnetic properties. Complex metal oxides [CMOs] are being investigated for a wide range of applications. The dimensions of structures fabricated with CMOs and other materials on them will need to be measured accurately, even though they may be highly insulating or have ferroelectric and magnetic properties. Recent advances in materials characterization methods needs to continue to meet these needs. Examples of these advances in the area of microscopy include aberration corrected electron microscopy, atom probes, and advances in scanned probe microscopy. Advances in X-ray and optical methods also provide critical compositional and structural information for films and arrays of nano-structures.

#### **EMBEDDED NANO-INTERFACE CHARACTERIZATION**

The ERMs being investigated for applications in devices or interconnects will be integrated with other materials that form interfaces, where understanding and control of the structure, composition, stress, and properties is critical. For carbon nanotubes or nanowires to be viable in transistor applications, the ability to characterize structural and electronic properties of passivation interfaces and contacts when embedded in other structures is difficult and important. In the case of carbon nanotubes, imaging the interface is made even more difficult, because electron beams do not have adequate sensitivity or resolution to locate the carbon atoms. For nanowire transistors, the effect of small diameter, curvature, and different exposed crystal planes on surface- and interface states needs to be determined. Characterization of the in-situ contact-molecule structure and properties in molecular devices is very difficult because any sample preparation such as cross-sectioning will destroy the interface. Determining electronic properties and bonding at the interface are even more difficult to measure, as described in the Macromolecule section. Spin material interfaces require the ability to nondestructively investigate the spin states on each side of an interface and the spin transport across the interface, but often devices must be fabricated to characterize this indirectly. Complex metal oxides have a wide range of properties including electrical, magnetic, polarization and others, so it is important to not only characterize the structure, but also the electronic, polarization and electronic states at these interfaces and understand whether interface states are affecting their operation. Both physical and electrical measurement methods need to advance. Advances in several methods are necessary, if functionally robust nano-interfaces between materials are to be developed. In addition, the use of arrayed test structures should not be overlooked.

Current subsurface interface imaging and measurement techniques are marginally adequate for understanding interface phenomena, and many current techniques are destructive, since they require cross-sections. Although these have been extremely useful for structural examinations,<sup>251</sup> other interface properties are of equal interest.

Some of the non-destructive techniques used for subsurface interface measurements include the following:

- Internal photoelectron emission electron spectroscopy for energy level shifts<sup>252</sup>
- X-ray photoemission spectroscopy (XPS) for compositional changes<sup>253</sup>
- High resolution X-ray diffraction
- Scanning near-field ultrasound microscopy for mechanical measurements<sup>254</sup>
- Raman and FTIR for chemical changes such as hydroxyl (OH] ion measurement and buried nanotube imaging<sup>255</sup>
- Ballistic electron emission microscopy (BEEM)<sup>256, 257, 258</sup> and impedance spectroscopy for electron transport interface behavior
- Spectroscopic ellipsometry and force probe ellipsometry for dielectric property changes
- Scanning electron microscopy with polarization analysis (SEMPA)<sup>259, 260</sup>
- Nonlocal electrical detection of spin injection<sup>261</sup> and magnetic resonance force microscopy for spin state changes<sup>262</sup>

In addition, there is emerging interest in correlated, multimodal microscopies to maximize information return from nanoscale objects and interfaces. Here techniques are combined either simultaneously or asynchronously through nanoscale registration techniques. Modeling of embedded interface electron and spin properties is needed to provide a proper basis for the design of future devices, interconnects, and circuits. In particular modeling is needed to separate the probe-specimen interactions to determine the unperturbed interface properties.

### **PROPERTY MAPPING**

The ability to measure or map properties of a large number of low-dimensional materials is needed to support improvement in materials synthesis for a wide range of applications, such as nanotubes and nanowires for transistors or interconnects, high refractive index nanoparticles for use in immersion fluids, and other applications. For nanotubes to be viable in transistors, they must be fabricated with a tight distribution of threshold voltages. Robust fabrication requires an ability to map bandgap distributions across a wafer and to identify those regions with properties outside of the target. While fluorescence and other spectroscopic techniques are sensitive to the local chemical environment, alternative options are needed to support this capability. Similarly, the conductivity of metallic or multiwalled nanotubes would need to be mapped to determine whether a specified synthetic approach is producing a uniform and satisfactory product distribution. Numerous methods require advancement. These include optical, X-ray, electron and ion beam, and scanned probe. For example, determining the optical (THz to VUV) and low-frequency dielectric properties of low-dimensional materials is critical to enabling rapid optical metrology and measuring property uniformity. Another need is for electrical measurement test structures that allow mapping uniformity across a large area.

### SIMULTANEOUS SPIN AND ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES

For spin state materials and complex metal oxides, the ability to simultaneously measure the electrical and magnetic properties at the nanometer scale is critical. These materials and their interfaces have coupled electronic and magnetic properties, which may be affected by local material defects. Scanning probe techniques can measure the electrical properties or magnetic properties independently, but the maps of properties may not align physically. Hence, methods are needed that are capable of measuring coupled properties simultaneously and providing insight into the local coupling of magnetic and electronic properties to an applied stimulus.

#### **CHARACTERIZATION OF VACANCIES AND DEFECTS IN NM SCALE STRUCTURES**

The properties of most nanostructured materials, including nanotubes, nanowires, spin materials, and complex metal oxides for applications in devices, are dramatically affected by small concentrations of vacancies and defects. In the case of carbon nanotubes, a missing carbon atom locally can change the electronic properties of the nanotube. Alternatively, functionalization also can result in the formation of vacancies, or rehybridization, of the carbon that introduces states in the gap. Such material perturbations can dramatically change these materials' electronic or thermal properties. Complex metal oxide properties, including electrical, ferroelectric, and ferromagnetic, are strongly affected by the presence of oxygen vacancies, since the vacancy creates local distortions of the crystal structure that can break symmetry and induce different electronic states. In some cases, interface conductance properties of insulating oxide heterostructures are reported to be enhanced by the presence of oxygen vacancies in planar structures. The challenge will be to detect the presence of small concentrations of vacancies and defects in nanometer scale structures. In the case of normal transistors, statistical changes in dopant distribution are causing changes in threshold voltage distributions. Therefore, the ability to map vacancies, defects, and dopant atoms may be needed to enable future emerging device options. In addition to the further development of microscopy, other physical measurement methods should also be advanced so that the relationship between defects and properties can be measured, quantified, and understood.

#### MODELING AND ANALYSIS OF PROBE-SAMPLE INTERACTIONS

Nanometer scale measurement tools, such as electron microscopes or scanning or optical probes, exhibit significant coupling between the probe and sample states. Significant research is needed to develop methods for decoupling these interactions and accurately determine nanoscopic structures and properties. Also needed are sample-probe interaction models for characterizing nanoscale structure, defect locations, and electronic, magnetic, and optical properties. At first, these models could be used to simulate probe signals with hypothetical structures and properties. However, algorithms need to be evolved that enable the extraction of actual structures and properties from the coupled signals.

# METROLOGY NEEDS FOR LOW-DIMENSIONAL MATERIALS

New metrologies are needed to determine the feasibility of using carbon nanotubes in devices and on-chip interconnects, as well as in deterministic doping, passivation, gate, and contact applications. For nanotubes to be viable as high-performance transistors, the ability to grow or assemble nanotubes in precise locations with a tight bandgap control across a wafer must be demonstrated, with no metallic nanotubes present. This application requires measurement methods that

can differentiate easily between metallic and semiconducting nanotubes. Such devices also will require an ability to measure accurately dopant placement and distribution that enable controlled p-and n-type doping and surface passivation for gate structures. Other low-dimensional materials, including nano-dots and nanowires, may be used in devices. Metrology needs to be developed to elucidate the physical and electrical properties of these materials. Measurement methods need to be developed for observing and quantifying the impact of defects and stress on low-dimensional materials. Other phenomena such as excitons may be used in new devices. Metrology for the measurement of excitons and other properties needs to be developed.

### VIA METROLOGY NEEDS

For single or multiwalled carbon nanotubes to warrant consideration for via applications, their resistivity must be competitive with existing technology. Nanotubes have yet to achieve adequate density for low resistivity and demonstrate competitive low resistance contacts. The ability to measure nanotube densities in vias would enable researchers to determine whether process conditions specifically correlate with effective nanotube density. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) requires significant time to measure the density. Once synthetic techniques yield adequate nanotube densities, then non-destructive in-situ methods to measure effective contact resistance across the via and nanotube resistivity distributions in the via will be needed.

### SELF ASSEMBLY METROLOGY NEEDS

For directed self assembly to be viable as a lithography extension or to assemble nanostructured materials in predefined locations and alignment, metrology is needed to evaluate the size and location of features and the registration to previously patterned structures. For block co-polymer based directed self assembly to be viable for extending lithography, metrology must be able to measure feature sizes, line width roughness, alignment to existing structures, and defects. However, these thin, sub 100 nm thick organic films are difficult to image with electron microscopy. These thicknesses likely will decrease as dimensions continue to scale. Thus, electron microscopy enhancements or techniques, such as helium ion microscopy, should be explored to determine whether they can provide increased image contrast between ultrathin polymer films and existing structures. Other methods such as X-ray and optical scattering should not be overlooked as means of providing information about dimension, shape, stress, and array structure, e.g., location of nanodots with respect to each other.

# COMPLEX METAL OXIDE METROLOGY

Complex metal oxides are of interest for potential application as ultra-high-κ dielectrics for device gate dielectrics, package capacitors, and possibly for logic devices, where possible dynamic transitions of coupled electrical and magnetic properties may exist close to phase transitions. The properties of these materials are strongly dependent on the presence and concentration of oxygen vacancies and also on cation stoichiometry. While existing metrology is capable of characterizing the concentration of oxygen vacancies<sup>263</sup> and cation stoichiometry in uniform thin films or bulk samples, metrology methods are just emerging to measuring these in nanometer scale structures.<sup>264</sup> Furthermore, some of these methods are destructive in that a small sample must be prepared. For example aberration corrected high resolution TEM can observe single oxygen vacancies in single crystal oxides when it is linked to simulations.<sup>265</sup> Thus, metrology is needed to characterize the oxygen vacancy and cation stoichiometry at the nanometer scale and also enable the characterization of electrical and magnetic properties at the nanometer scale.

Characterization of ferroelectric properties and magnetic properties at the nanometer scale is possible with state of the art scanning probe metrology, but carrier concentration is limited to tens of nanometers. Consequently, it currently is not possible to characterize simultaneously multiple properties, such as electric and magnetic properties at the nanometer scale. Even if instruments were capable of measuring the electric and magnetic forces, models may be needed to decouple and separate the signals from the electrical and magnetic probes and to extract the magnitude and direction of the electric and magnetic fields. Further development of measurement methods for carrier properties in complex oxides is required. In addition to nano-probe based electrical testing, magneto-optic Hall effect measurements can provide non-contact measurements. In addition, electro-optical measurements can determine coupling between the spontaneous polarization in Wurtzite structures and the ferroelectric polarization in perovskite structures and interfaces. The possible use of advanced electron microscopy for observation of shifts in atomic positions should not be overlooked. Further research in the application of all of these methods to complex oxides is necessary.

#### PACKAGE NEEDS

Microelectronic packages have a complex assembly of heterogeneous materials such as metals, ceramics, and polymers and large stresses can develop due to a thermal expansion (CTE) mismatch between these materials. Metrologies are needed for measuring these internal thermo-mechanical stresses and strains within bulk package materials and at various interfaces of the microelectronic package, with accuracy and scalability in use conditions.

# **MODELING AND SIMULATION**

The complexity of materials modeling in nanotechnology is increasing due to the following three factors: 1) the number of materials has continued to increase (over  $3 \times$  increases over a period of 20 years), 2) the ratio of surface-to-volume of the material is inversely proportional to the dimension of the structure, and 3) smaller numbers of atoms that could lead to larger statistical variations. These lead to more atoms of different chemical nature being packed in smaller dimensions. As a result, the measured bulk material properties differ from observed materials behavior in nanostructures. The behavior of devices and materials are directly correlated to their electronic structure. This correlation is equally valid for both chargebased and non-charge-based technologies, as physical and chemical effects at these dimensions are directly related to the electronic structure. Physical modeling and numerical simulations are critically needed: 1) to explain observed phenomena, 2) to predict new phenomena, 3) to direct experimental studies to desired outcomes, and 4) to interpret the metrology. In addition, they enable a fundamental understanding of the mechanisms and the interactions between processes and materials.

Application of materials for ERM requires a fundamental understanding and characterization of *synthesis, structure, and properties (Figure ERM3)*. This understanding comes from the natural logical flow of interactions in integrating newer materials to develop a new device, whether it is for device, interconnects, or packaging. The methods and conditions of synthesis determine the structure and composition of the engineered materials. Structure then determines the material properties and performance.



Figure ERM3 Design Factors that Drive the Performance of Integrated Emerging Research Materials

Materials synthesis is determined by the class of materials and the desired application. For example, nanotube growth and functionalization are determined by the chemical and electrical conditions in the reactor and the interactions with the substrate. Depending on the method of synthesis, in situ and ex situ requirements are different. From a modeling perspective, a key requirement is the understanding of the roles/mechanism of processing and the specific structure resulting from the synthesis. As an example, in atomic layer deposition, the physical model must comprehend gas phase and surface chemistry in addition to mass and energy transport. Film nucleation and subsequent growth, which determine morphology, also require modeling. In addition to description of the temporal evolution of a new phase, it becomes necessary to describe the spatial ordering in many systems (e.g., quantum dots, nano-wires.<sup>266</sup> Classical nucleation and growth concepts adequately describe phase transitions in some nanoscale phase change memory materials.<sup>267</sup> Controlling the morphology of the nanoscopic material requires detailed information on phase stability and dynamics of atomistic processes. In small nanoscale systems, in which dimensions may not be significantly larger than the range of interatomic interactions, classical thermodynamic concepts such as extensive and intensive properties may no longer be valid. In these cases, the classical concept of a phase transition, including the Gibbs Phase Rule that occurs in the thermodynamic limit of an infinitely large system, may not hold.<sup>268, 269</sup> Development of a theory of phase transition in such finite sized systems for understanding the dynamics of phase transition may be critical to control nucleation and growth of certain nanoscale materials. The description and prediction of fragmentation, a process by which phase transitions have been observed to occur in nanoscopic systems, presents a significant challenge in statistical mechanics. Density functional theory.<sup>270, 271</sup>

which is based on density fluctuations rather than the existence of clusters of classical and atomistic nucleation, should be investigated as a tool for describing phase transitions in small systems and fragmentation. More details of the other scales are covered in the Modeling and Simulation chapter.

Synthesis determines the structure and composition of thin films. To predict the material properties, both characterization and physical modeling of the structures are needed. The materials may be crystalline, poly-crystalline, semi-crystalline, amorphous, or visco-elastic. The structure of the materials determines their behavior.<sup>272</sup> For example, the resistivity of films in (100) orientation is different from (111) crystallographic orientation. Realistic structures are not ideal single crystalline films and need advanced metrology for their complete characterization. These characterized structures serve as inputs into the physical models. Given the limited size of problems that can be solved, a combination of techniques spanning different length and timescales are needed to model structures effectively.

The material properties are based on the electronic structure of condensed matter. For a given structure, the Schrodinger equation determines chemical, electrical, mechanical, and thermal properties. In turn, the nature of the hyper-dimensional Schrodinger equation is determined by the number of electrons in the structure. As the number of electrons are very high in condensed matter ( $\sim 10^{23}$  in an unit volume of material), any solution of the equation for realistic macroscopic system is generally accomplished using one of two techniques; 1) single particle approximation and/or 2) multi-scale techniques with distinct formalisms representing different scales.

An example of hierarchy of these models is given below. The models have different scales based on the specific physical phenomena, as follows:

- 1. Atomic or molecular scale is based on self-consistent solutions of Schrödinger equation as mentioned above.
- 2. Nanostructural scale uses multi-scale techniques based on kinetic and quantum formalism (e.g., device, or interconnect with barrier layers).
- 3. The thin film scale (e.g., gate oxide or barrier layer) is mesoscale in nature, and links with kinetic models at the macroscopic level.

In the macroscopic scale (e.g., die, package), bulk properties are used in constitutive models that describe the response of materials to different stimuli. For the area of ERM, the main focus of research should be on the top three levels, with an emphasis on atomic or molecular and nanostructural scale. Since structural dimensions are currently at 45 nm or below, the materials properties at this scale may behave differently when integrated than in bulk. In addition, optimization of the performance reliability of devices or materials in nanodimensions during ambient and accelerated usage conditions requires model extensions that include phonon interactions as well as electronic interactions. More details of the other scales are covered in the Modeling and Simulation chapter in the roadmap.



#### Figure ERM4 Hierarchy of Models for Emerging Research Materials

Despite recent advances, theory has many limitations that gate applicability to systems of practical interest for quantitative correlations. Current applications include equilibrium energies, density of states, reaction rates, effects of defects, and transport within nanostructures and through interfaces. At present, empirical methods can simulate up to 1,000,000 atoms and density functional theory (DFT) and quantum Monte Carlo methods can simulate up to 1000' atoms, although some researchers have demonstrated application of *ab initio*-based DFT method on a million atoms using large clusters.<sup>273</sup> At the quantum scale, the current applicability of available models is rather limited. Major issues that need to be addressed in the quantum models are:

- *1.* Extension to larger scales for equilibrium calculations and understanding the temperature dependence of properties and processes. (This could be enabled by linear scaling of DFT methods or multi-scale methods)
- 2. Metallic systems, specifically transition and inner transition metals. These need specific functionals that could be tested with more rigorous techniques.
- 3. More generalized extension for band gaps. Currently, hybrid and metal functionals are being developed, which need to be thoroughly characterized.
- 4. Strongly correlated systems require model development to explain the interaction between spin, charge, and lattice changes for potential use in spin wave propagation. This requires quantification of the energy associated with spin switching and transport and the identification of speed limitations.
- 5. Extension or linking of quantum models from femtoseconds to microseconds or longer to emulate realistic synthesis and transport.

As mentioned previously, when new material properties are characterized, models must be developed to guide synthesis to further enable exploration of new structures and more complex interactions between materials. Establishment of an experimental database with results from well-characterized structures could accelerate the development of more accurate full *ab initio* and self-consistent reduced models. More quantitative material property mapping at the nanometer-scale requires development of models to probe interactions of nanostructured materials. Improved structure and property mapping for more accurate TEM, AFM, conductance AFM, Kelvin Probe AFM, magnetic force microscopy (MFM), and other new techniques could improve development of nanometer scale material models.

# **ENDNOTES**

- <sup>1</sup> T. Durkop, S. A. Getty, E. Cobas, and M. S. Fuhrer "Extraordinary Mobility in Semiconducting Carbon Nanotubes," *Nano Lett. 4*, 35-39 (2004)
- <sup>2</sup> A. Javey, J. Guo, Q. Wang, M. Lundstrom, and H. Dai, "Ballistic carbon nanotubefield-effect transistors," *Nature* 424, 654-657 (2003).
- <sup>3</sup> Nihei M., Hyakushima T., Sato S., Nozue T., Norimatsu M., Mishima M., Murakami T., Kondo D., Kawabata A., Ohfuti M., and Awano Y., "Electrical Properties of Carbon Nanotube Via Interconnects Fabricated by Novel Damascene Process", 2007 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conference (Burlingame CA, June 406, 2007), paper 11.2.
- <sup>4</sup> Berger C., Yi Y., Wang Z.L., de Heer W.A., "Multiwalled carbon nanotubes are ballistic conductors at room temperature," *Appl. Phys. A* 74, 363-365 (2002).
- <sup>5</sup> T. Dürkop, S.A. Getty, E. Cobas, and M.S. Fuhrer, "Extraordinary Mobility in Semiconducting Carbon Nanotubes," *Nano Lett.*, 4, 35-39 (2004).
- <sup>6</sup> Y. Li, D. Mann, M. Rolandi, W. Kim, A. Ural, S. Hung, A. Javey, J. Cao, D. Wang, E. Yenilmez, Q. Wang, J.F. Gibbons, Y. Nishi, H. and Dai, "Preferential Growth of Semiconducting Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes by a Plasma Enhanced CVD Method", *Nano Lett.* 4, 317-321 (2004).
- <sup>7</sup> H. Ohnaka, Y. Kojima, S. Kishimoto, Y. Ohno, and T. Mizutani, "Fabrication of Carbon Nanotube Field Effect Transistors Using Plasma-Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition Grown Nanotubes," *Japan. J. Appl. Phys.* 45, 5485-89 (2006).
- <sup>8</sup> R. Krupke, F. Hennrich, H. Lohneysen, and M. Kappes, *Science* 301, 344-347 (2003).
- <sup>9</sup> D. Chattophadhyay, I. Galeska, and F.Papadimitrakopoulos, "A Route for Bulk Separation of Semiconducting fromMetallic Single-Wall Carbon Nanotubes", J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125, 3370–3375 (2003).
- <sup>10</sup> M. Zheng, A. Jagota, E.D. Semke, B.A. Diner, R.S. Mclean, S.R. Lustig, R.E Richardson, and N.G. Tassi, "DNA-assisted dispersion and separation of carbon nanotubes", *Nature Mater.* 2, 338–342 (2003).
- <sup>11</sup> Z. Chen, X. Du, M.-H. Du, C.D. Rancken, H.-P. Cheng, A.G. Rinzler, "Bulk Separative Enrichment in Metallic or Semiconducting Single Wall Carbon Nanotubes", *Nano Letters* 3, 1245 (2003).
- <sup>12</sup> M.S. Arnold, A.A. Green, J.F. Hulvat, S.I. Stupp, and M.C. Hersam, "Sorting carbon nanotubes by electronic structure using density differentiation", *Nature Nanotechnology* 1, 60-65 (2006).
- <sup>13</sup> J. Kong, N. R. Franklin, C. Zhou, M. G. Chapline, S. Peng, K. Cho, and H. Dai. "Nanotube molecular wires as chemical sensors," *Science*, 287, 622-625 (2000).
- <sup>14</sup> S. Auvray, J. Borghetti, M. F. Goffman, A. Filoramo, V. Derycke, J. P. Bourgoin, and O. Jost. "Carbon nanotube transistor optimization by chemical control of the nanotube-metal interface," *Appl Phys. Lett.* 84, 5106-5108 (2004).
- <sup>15</sup> J. Chen, C. Klinke, A. Afazali, and P. Avouris. "Self-aligned carbon nanotube transistors with charge transfer doping," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 86, 123108 (2005).
- <sup>16</sup> B.M. Kim, T. Brintlinger, E. Cobas, M.S. Fuhrer, H. Zheng, Z. Yu, R. Droopad, J. Ramdani, and K. Eisenbeiser, "High-performance carbon nanotube transistors on SrTiO<sub>3</sub>/Si substrates", *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 84, 1946-1948 (2004).
- <sup>17</sup> D. Kaminishi, H. Ozaki, Y. Ohno, K. Maehashi, K. Inoue, and K. Matsumoto "Air-stable n-type carbon nanotube field-effect transistors with Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> passivation films fabricated by catalytic chemical vapor deposition", *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 86, 113115 (2005)
- <sup>18</sup> C. Berger, Y. Yi, Z.L. Wang, W.A. de Heer, "Multiwalled carbon nanotubes are ballistic conductors at room temperature", *Appl. Phys. A* 74, 363-365 (2002).
- <sup>19</sup> M. Zamkov, A.S. Alnaser, B. Shan, Z. Chang, and P. Richard, "Probing the intrinsic conductivity of multiwalled carbon nanotubes," *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 89, 093111 (2006).
- <sup>20</sup> J. Kong, H. T. Soh, A. Cassell, C. F. Quate and H. Dai, "Synthesis of Individual Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes on Patterned Silicon Wafers", *Nature* 395, 878 (1998).
- <sup>21</sup> A. Ural, Y. Li, and H. Dai, "Electric-field-aligned growth of single-walled carbon nanotubes on surfaces", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 81, 3464 (2002).
- <sup>22</sup> C. Kocabas, M. Shim, and J. A. Rogers," Spatially Selective Guided Growth of High-Coverage Arrays and Random Networks of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes and Their Integration into Electronic Devices", J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128, 4540 (2006).
- <sup>23</sup> M. Nihei1, D. Kondo, A. Kawabata, S. Sato, H. Shioya, M. Sakaue, T. Iwai, M. Ohfuti, and Y. Awano, "Low-resistance Multiwalled Carbon Nanotube Vias with Parallel Channel Conduction of Inner Shells", *IEEE IITC*, 234 (2005).

- <sup>24</sup> J. Westwater, D.P. Gosain, S. Tomiya, S. Usui, and H. Ruda, "Growth of silicon nanowires via gold/silane vapor-liquid-solid reaction," J. Vac. Sci. & Tech. B 15, 554-557 (1997).
- <sup>25</sup> J. Westwater, D.P. Gosain, and S. Usui, "Control of the size and position of silicon nanowires grown via the vapor-liquid-solid technique," *Japan. J. Appl.Phys. Part 1*, 36, 6204-6209, (1997).
- <sup>26</sup> D. Wang and H. Dai, "Germanium nanowires: from synthesis, surface chemistry, and assembly to devices," Appl. Phys. A, 85, 217-225 (2006).
- <sup>27</sup> S. Kodambaka, J. Tersoff, M. C. Reuter, and F. M. Ross, "Germanium nanowire growth below the eutectic temperature", *Science*, 316, 729-732 (2007).
- <sup>28</sup> J. H. Woodruff, J. B. Ratchford, I. A. Goldthorpe, P. C. McIntyre, and C. E. D. Chidsey, "Vertically oriented germanium nanowires grown from gold colloids on silicon substrates and subsequent gold removal," *Nano Lett.*, 7, 1637-1642 (2007).
- <sup>29</sup> K.A. Dick, K. Deppert, L. Samuelson, W. Seifert, "InAs nanowires grown by MOVPE," J. Crystal Growth, 298, 631-634 (2007).
- <sup>30</sup> B. Mandl, J. Stangl, T. Martensson, A. Mikkelsen, J. Eriksson L.S. Karlsson, G. Bauer, J. Samuelson, W. Seifert, "Au-free epitaxial growth of InAs nanowires," *Nano Lett.*, 6, 1817-1821 (2006).
- <sup>31</sup> K. Hiruma, H. Murakoshi, M. Yazawa, T. Katsuyama, "Self-organized growth of GaAs/InAs heterostructure nanocylinders by organometallic vapor phase epitaxy," J. Crystal Growth, 163, 226-231 (1996).
- <sup>32</sup> S.S. Yi, G. Girolami, J. Amano, M.S. Islam S. Sharma T.I. Kamins, I. Kimukin, "InP nanobridges epitaxially formed between two vertical Si surfaces by metal-catalyzed chemical vapor deposition," Appl. Phys. Lett., 89, 133121 (2006).
- <sup>33</sup> H. He Jr., J.H. Hsu, C.W. Wang, H.N. Lin, L.J. Chen, Z.L. Wang, "Pattern and feature designed growth of ZnO nanowire arrays for vertical devices," J. Phys. Chem. B, 110, 50-53 (2006).
- <sup>34</sup> T.Y. Tan, S.T. Lee, U. Gosele, "A model for growth directional features in silicon nanowires," Appl. Phys. A, 74, 423-432 (2002).
- <sup>35</sup> H. Adhikari, A.F. Marshall, C.E.D. Chidsey, P.C. McIntyre, "Germanium nanowire epitaxy: shape and orientation control," *Nano Lett.*, 6, 318 323 (2006).
- <sup>36</sup> C.X. Wang, M. Hirano, H. Hosono, "Origin of diameter-dependent growth direction of silicon nanowires," *Nano Lett.*, 6, 1552-1555 (2006).
- <sup>37</sup> A.R. Guichard, D.N. Barsic, S. Sharma, T.I. Kamins, and M.L. Brongersma, "Tunable light emission from quantum-confined excitons in TiSi<sub>2</sub>-catalyzed silicon nanowires," *Nano Lett.*, 6, 2140-2144 (2006).
- <sup>38</sup> E. Tutuc, J. Appenzeller, M. C. Reuter, and S. Guha, "Realization of a Linear Germanium Nanowire p-n Junction", *Nanoletters*, 6, 2070 (2006).
- <sup>39</sup> K.-i. Seo, S. Sharma, A. A. Yasseri, D. R. Stewart, and T. I. Kamins, "Surface charge density of unpassivated and passivated, metalcatalyzed silicon nanowires," *Electrochem. and Solid-State Lett.*, 9, G69-G72 (2006).
- <sup>40</sup> D. Wang, Q. Wang, A. Javey, R. Tu, and H. Dai, H. Kim, P.C. McIntyre, T. Krishnamohan, and K.C. Saraswat, "Germanium nanowire field-effect transistors with SiO<sub>2</sub> and high-κ HfO<sub>2</sub> gate dielectrics," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 83, 2432-2434 (2003).
- <sup>41</sup> M. T. Bjork, B. J. Ohlsson, T. Sass, A. I. Persson, C. Thelander, M. H. Magnusson, K. Deppert, L. R. Wallenberg, and L. Samuelson, "One-dimensional steeplechase for electrons realized," *Nano Lett.*, 2, 87-89 (2002).
- <sup>42</sup> M.S. Gudiksen, L.J. Lauhon, J. Wang, D. C. Smith, and C. M. Lieber, "Growth of nanowire superlattice structures for nanoscale photonics and electronics," *Nature*, 415, 617-620 (Feb. 2002).
- <sup>43</sup> M. T. Björk, B. J. Ohlsson, T. Sass, A. I. Persson, C. Thelander, M. H. Magnusson, K. Deppert, L. R. Wallenberg, and L. Samuelson, "One-dimensional heterostructures in semiconductor nanowhiskers," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 80, 1058-1060 (2002).
- <sup>44</sup> L. J. Lauhon, M. S. Gudiksen, D. Wang, and C. M. Lieber, "Epitaxial core-shell and core-multishell nanowire heterostructures" *Nature*, 420, 57-61 (2002).
- <sup>45</sup> A. Bid, A. Bora, and A. K. Raychaudhuri, "Temperature dependence of the resistance of metallic nanowires of diameter ≥15 nm: Applicability of Block-Grüneisen theorem," *Phys. Rev. B*, 74, 035426 (2006).
- <sup>46</sup> Y.Chang, M.L. Lye, and H.C. Zeng, "Large-scale synthesis of high-quality ultralong copper nanowires" *Langmuir*, 21, 3746-3748 (2005).
- <sup>47</sup> A. Mallikarjunan, S. Sharma, and S. P. Murarka, "Resistivity of copper films at thicknesses near the mean free path of electrons in copper," *Electrochem. and Solid-State Lett.*, 3, 437-438 (2000).
- <sup>48</sup> M. Ishida, H. Hongo, F. Nihey, and Y. Ochiai, "Diameter-Controlled Carbon Nanotubes Grown from Lithographically Defined Nanoparticles", *Japan. J. Appl. Phys.*, 43, L1356–L1358 (2004).
- <sup>49</sup> H. Ago, S. Imamura, T. Okazaki, T. Saito, M. Yumura, and M. Tsuji, "CVD Growth of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes with Narrow Diameter Distribution over Fe/MgO Catalyst and Their Fluorescence Spectroscopy", J. Phys. Chem. B, 109, 10035-10041 (2005).

- <sup>50</sup> D. Kondo, S. Sato, and Y. Awano, "Low-temperature synthesis of single-walled carbon nanotubes with a narrow diameter distribution using size-classified catalyst nanoparticles", *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, 422, 481–487 (2006).
- <sup>51</sup> A. K. Geim, K. S. Novoselov, "The rise of graphene," Nature Mat. 6, 183-191 (2007).
- <sup>52</sup> K.S. Novoselov, A.K. Geim, S.V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S.V. Dubonos, I.V. Grigorieva, and A.A. Firsov, "Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films," *Science*, 306, 666-669 (2004).
- <sup>53</sup> E.H. Hwang, S. Adam, and S. Das Sarma, "Carrier Transport in Two-Dimensional Graphene Layers," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98, 186806 (2007).
- <sup>54</sup> J. Hass, R. Feng, T. Li, X. Li, Z. Zong, W.A. de Heer, P.N. First, E.H. Conrad, C.A. Jeffrey, and C. Berger, "Highly ordered graphene for two dimensional electronics," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 89, 143106 (2006).
- <sup>55</sup> B.C. Banerjee, T.J. Hirt, and P. L. Walker, "Pyrolytic Carbon Formation from Carbon Suboxide," *Nature* 192, 450-451 (1961).
- <sup>56</sup> P.R. Somani, S.P. Somani, and M. Umeno, "Planer nano-graphenes from camphor by CVD", Chem. Phys. Lett. 430, 56-59 (2006).
- <sup>57</sup> S. Stankovich, R.D. Piner, S.T. Nguyen, and R.S. Ruoff, "Synthesis and exfoliation of isocyanate-treated graphene oxide nanoplatelets," *Carbon*, 44, 3342-3347 (2006).
- <sup>58</sup> Z. Chen, Y.-M. Lin, M.J. Rooks, and P. Avouris, "Graphene Nano-Ribbon Electronics," P., Cond. Mat., 0701599 (2007).
- <sup>59</sup> M. Y. Han, B. Özyilmaz, Y. Zhang, P. Kim, "Energy Band-Gap Engineering of Graphene Nanoribbons," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98, 206805 1-4 (2007).
- <sup>60</sup> M. Y. Han, B. Özyilmaz, Y. Zhang, P. Kim, Phys. Rev. Lett. {\bf 98}, 206805 (2007).[55] G. Chumanov, D.D. Evanoff, I. Luzinov, V. Klep, B. Zdryko, W. Conley, P. Zimmerman, "Nanocomposite liquids for 193 nm immersion lithography: a progress report", Advances in Resist Technology and Processing XXII. Edited by Sturtevant, J. L., Proceedings of the SPIE, 5753, 847-850 (2005).
- <sup>61</sup> K. N. Tu, "Recent advances on electromigration in very-large-scale-integration of interconnects", J. Appl. Phys. 94 (9), 5451-5473 (2003).
- <sup>62</sup> B. Q. Wei, R. Vajtai, P. M. Ajayan, "Reliability and current carrying capacity of carbon nanotubes", *Applied Physics Letters*, 79 (8), 1172 (2001).
- <sup>63</sup> K. J. Klabunde, "Nanoscale Materials in Chemistry", Wiley/Interscience publishers, New York (2001).
- <sup>64</sup> D. Huang, F. Liao, S. Molesa, D. Redinger, and V. Subramanian, "Plastic-Compatible Low Resistance Printable Gold Nanoparticle Conductors for Flexible Electronics", *J. Electrochemical Soc.*, 150, G412-G417 (2003).
- <sup>65</sup> P. Kim, L. Shi, A. Majumdar, P. McEuen, "Thermal transport measurements of individual multi-walled carbon nanotubes", *Physical Review Letters*, 87 (21), 215502-1 (2001).
- <sup>66</sup> S. Shenogin, L. Xue, R. Ozisik, P. Keblinski, D. G. Cahill, "Role of thermal boundary resistance on the heat flow in carbon nanotube-composites", *Journal of Applied Physics*, 95 (12), 8136 (2004).
- <sup>67</sup> Xu, T.S. Fisher, "Enhanced Thermal Contact Conductance using Carbon Nanotube Arrays", *IEEE Transactions on Components and Packaging Technologies*, 29, 261 (2006).
- <sup>68</sup> E. P. Giannelis, "Polymer-layered silicate nanocomposites: Synthesis, properties and applications", *Applied Organo-metallic Chemistry*, 12, 675 (1998).
- <sup>69</sup> D. L. Hunter, K. W. Kamena, D. R. Paul, "Processing and properties of polymers modified by clays", *MRS Bulletin*, 32 (4), 323 (2007).
- <sup>70</sup> R. Krishnamoorthy, "Strategies for dispersing nanoparticles in polymers", *MRS Bulletin*, 32 (4), 341 (April 2007).
- <sup>71</sup> G. M. Wallraff, C. E. Larson, G. Breyta, L. Sundberg, D. Miller, D. Gil, K. Petrillo and W. Pierson, "The effect of photoresist/topcoat properties on defect formation in immersion lithography", *Proc. SPIE XXIII*, 6153, 1M (2006).
- <sup>72</sup> R. D. Allen W. Hinsberg, G. M. Wallraff, C.E. Larson, J. Meute, P. Brock, L. Sundberg, T. Chiba, T. Shimokawa, M. Slezak, " Design of Protective Topcoats for Immersion Lithography" *J. Photopolym. Sci. and Technology*, 18, 615 (2005); and R. D. Allen, G. Breyta, P. Brock, R. DiPietro, D. Sanders, R. Sooriyakumaran and L. Sundberg, "Fundamental Properties of Fluoroalcohol-Methacrylate Polymers for use in 193nm Lithography", *J. Photopolym. Sci. Technol.*, 19(5), 569 (2006).
- <sup>73</sup> S. Schuetter, T. Shedd, K. Doxtator, C. Van Peski, A. Grenville, S.-H. Lin, D. C. Owe-Yang, "Measurements of the dynamic contact angle for conditions relevant to immersion lithography", *J. Microlith., Microfab., Microsys.*, 5(2), 023002 (22006 ?(Apr-Jun 2006).
- <sup>74</sup> D. P. Sanders, L. K. Sundberg, R. Sooriyakumaran, P. J. Brock, R. A. DiPietro, H. D. Truong, D. C. Miller, M. C. Lawson, R. D. Allen, "Fluoro-alcohol materials with tailored interfacial properties for immersion lithography", *Proc. SPIE*, paper 6519-03, (2007).
- <sup>75</sup> R. French, H. Sewell, M. Yang, S. Peng, D. McCafferty, W. Qiu, R. Wheland, M. Lemon, L. Markoya and M. Crawford, "Imaging of 32-nm 1:1 lines and spaces using 193-nm immersion interference lithography with second-generation immersion fluids to

achieve a numerical aperture of 1.5 and a k<sub>1</sub> of 0.25", *Journal of Microlithography, Microfabrication and Microsystems*, 4(3), 031103 (2005).

- <sup>76</sup> A. Whittaker, I. Blakey, H. Liu, D. Hill, G. George, P. Zimmerman and W. Conley, *Proc. SPIE*, 5753, 827 (2005).
- <sup>77</sup> G. Gallatin, "Resist blur and line edge roughness", Proc. SPIE, 5754, 38-52 (2005).
- <sup>78</sup> G. Wallraff, D. R. Medeiros, J. Bucchignano, K. Petrillo, C. Rettner, Martha Sanchez, W. Hinsberg, F. Houle, D. Goldfarb, Karen Temple, C. E. Larson, B. Davis, L. Sundberg, P. Brock, J. A. Hoffnagle, Wu-Song Huang, *Proc. SPIE Advances in Resist Technology and Processing XXII*, 5753, 309-318 (2005).
- <sup>79</sup> R. Sooriyakumaran,; T. Hoa, L. Sundberg, M. Morris, B. Hinsberg, H. Ito, R. Allen, W.-S. Huang, D. Goldfarb, S. Burns, and D. Pfeiffer., "Positive Resists Based on Non-polymeric Macromolecules", *J. Photopolym. Sci. Technol.*, 18, 425 (2005); and H. Ito, H. D. Truong, S. D. Burns, D. Pfeiffer, and D. R. Medeiros., "Bilayer Resists for 193 nm Lithography: SSQ and POSS" *J. Photopolym. Sci. Technol.*, 19, 305 (2006).
- <sup>80</sup> G.P. Patsis, V. Constantoudis, and E. Gogolides, *Microelectron. Eng.*, 75, 297-308 (2004.); G.P. Patsis, and E. Gogolides, *Microelectron. Eng.*, 83, 1078-1081 (2006).
- <sup>81</sup> D. Drygiannakis, G. P. Patsis, I. Raptis, D. Niakoula, V. Vidali, E. Couladouros, P. Argitis, and E. Gogolides, *Microelectron. Eng.*, 84, 1062-1065 (2007).
- <sup>82</sup> H. Yamamoto, T. Kozawa, S. Tagawa, K. Ohmori, M. Sato, H. Komano, Proc. SPIE XXIV, 6519, 2G (2007).
- <sup>83</sup> Y. Fukushima, T. Watanabe, R. Ohnishi, H. Kinoshita, H. Shiotani, S. Suzuki, M. Hayakawa, Y. Endo, T. Yamamaka, S. Yusaa, J. Photopolym. Sci. Technol., 20, 419 (2007).
- <sup>84</sup> M. Wang, C.-T. Lee, C. L. Henderson, Wang Yueh, J. M. Roberts, K. E. Gonsalves, Novel anionic photoacid generator (PAGs) and photoresist for sub-50-nm patterning by EUVL and EBL", *Proc. of SPIE*, 6519, 65191N (2007).
- <sup>85</sup> R. P. Meagley, G. Sharma, A. Guptab, "Scissionable bile acid nanostructures for lithography", *Proc. SPIE*, 6517, (2007).
- <sup>86</sup> M. Yoshiiwa, H. Kageyama, Y. Shirota, F. Wakaya, K. Gamo, M. Takai, "Novel class of low molecular-weight organic resists for nanometer lithography", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 69, 2605 (1996),.
- <sup>87</sup> D. Bratton, R. Ayothi, H. Deng, H. B. Cao, C. K. Ober, "Diazonaphthoquinone Molecular Glass Photoresists: Patterning without Chemical Amplification", *Chemistry of Materials*, 19, 3780 (2007).
- <sup>88</sup> R. C. Advincula, W. J. Brittain, K. C. Caster, J. Rühe Eds.; Polymer brushes : Synthesis, Characterization, Applications; Wiley-VCH : Weinheim (2004).
- <sup>89</sup> U. Schmelmer, R. Jordan, W. Geyer, W. Eck, A. Gölzhäuser, M. Grunze, A. Ulman, "Surface-Initiated Polymerization on Self-Assembled Monolayers: Amplification of Patterns on the Micrometer and Nanometer Scale", *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 42, 559 (2003).
- <sup>90</sup> E. W. Edwards, M. Müller, M. P. Stoykovich, H. H. Solak, J. J. de Pablo, and P.F. Nealey, "Dimensions and Shapes of Block Copolymer Domains Assembled on Lithographically Defined Chemically Patterned Substrates", Macromolecules, 40, 90-96 (2007).
- <sup>91</sup> F. Houle, A. Fornof, R. Sooriyakumaran, H. Truong, D. Miller, M. Sanchez, B. Davis, T. Magbitang, R. Allen, M. Hart and G. Dubois, "Impact of curing kinetics and materials properties on imprint characteristics of resists for UV nano-imprint lithography", *Proc. SPIE*, 6519, (2007).
- <sup>92</sup> H. Ito, F. Houle, M. Hart, R. DiPietro, "Vinyl ether resist system for UV-cured nanoimprint lithography", *Proc. SPIE XXIII* 6153, 1A (2006).
- <sup>93</sup> J.L. Pitters and R.A. Wolkow, "Detailed Studies of Molecular Conductance Using Atomic Resolution Scanning Tunneling Microscopy", Nano Lett. 6, 390 (2006).
- <sup>94</sup> Z.J. Donhauser, B.A. Mantooth, K.F. Kelly, L.A. Bumm, J.D. Monnell, J.J. Stapleton, D.W. Price, Jr., A. M. Rawlett, D. L. Allara, J. M. Tour, and P. S.Weiss, "Conductance Switching in Single Molecules Through Conformational Changes", *Science*, 292, 2303 (2001).
- <sup>95</sup> Z. J. Donhauser, B.A. Mantooth, T.P. Pearl, K.F. Kelly, S.U. Nanayakkara, and P.S. Weiss, "Matrix-Mediated Control of Stochastic Single Molecule Conductance Switching", *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.*, 41, 4871 (2002).
- <sup>96</sup> N. Koch, A. Kahn, J. Ghijsen, J.-J. Pireaux, J. Schwartz, R.L. Johnson, A. Elschner, "Conjugated organic molecules on metal versus polymer electrodes: demonstration of a key energy level alignment mechanism", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 82, 70 (2003).
- <sup>97</sup> P.G. Piva, G.A. DiLabio, J.L.Pitters, J. Zikovski, M. Rezeq, S. Dogel, W.A. Hofer, and R.A. Wolkow, "Field regulation of single-molecule conductivity by a charged surface atom", *Nature*, 435, 658-661 (2005).
- <sup>98</sup> D. Geraud, T. Magebitang, W. Volksen, E. E. Simonyi, and R. D. Miller, "New Spin-On Oxycarbosilane Low-k Dielectric Materials With Exceptional Mechanical Properties", Proceedings of the IITC, 8, 226 (2005).
- <sup>99</sup> S. Li, Z. Li, D. Medina, C. Lew, and Y. Yan "Organic-Functionalized Pure-Silica-Zeolite MFI Low-k Films", Chem. of Mater., 17, 1851 (2005).

- <sup>100</sup> S. Li, Z. Li, Y. Yan, "Ultra-Low-k Pure-Silica Zeolite MFI Films Using Cyclodextrin as Porogen", Adv. Mater., 15, 1528 (2003).
- <sup>101</sup> T. Kumada, "Low-k Materials Trends for Next Generation Process: CVD Horazinic film Non-porous Development", Semicond FPD World,24(1), 62-65 (2004).
- <sup>102</sup> Y. Uchimoaru, M. Inoue, and H. Yanazawa, "Borazine-Siloxane Polymer, A Novel Low-k Material", *Trans. Mat. Res. Soc. Jpn.*, 29(3), 669-672 (2004).
- <sup>103</sup> T. Fukuda A. Nobuo, M. Azuma, M. Horonori, "Theoretical Derivation of Dielectric Constant for Low-k Materials: Aiming for k<1.5 Interconnects Process", *Technical report of IEICE. SDM*, 100(603), 51-55 (2001).
- <sup>104</sup> R. R. Tummala, "Fundamentals of Microsystems Packaging", McGraw-Hill, (2001).
- <sup>105</sup> Jieping Zhang, "Fatigue crack propagation behavior of underfill materials in microelectronic packaging", *Materials Science and Engineering A*, 314, 194-200 (2001).
- <sup>106</sup> K. Kurabayashi and K. E. Goodson, "Impact of molecular orientation on thermal conduction in spin coated polyimide films", *Journal of Applied Physics*, 86 (4), 1925 (1999).
- <sup>107</sup> K. Kurabayashi, "Anisotropic thermal properties of solid polymers", International Journal of Thermophysics, 22 (1), 277 (2001).
- <sup>108</sup> Linda S. Schadler, Sanat K. Kumar, Brian C. Benicewicz, Sarah L. Lewis and Shane E. Harton, "Designed interfaces in polymer nanocomposites: A fundamental viewpoint", *MRS Bulletin*, 32, 335 (April 2007).
- <sup>109</sup> R. A. Segalman, H. Yokoyama, and E. J. Kramer, "Graphoepitaxy of Spherical Domain Block Copolymer Films" Advanced Materials 13, 1152 (2001).
- <sup>110</sup> K. Asakawa, T. Hiraoka, H. Hieda et al., "Nano-Patterning for Patterned Media using Block-Copolymer", *Journal of Photopolymer Science and Technology*, 15 (3), 465 (2002).
- <sup>111</sup> C. T. Black and O. Bezencenet, *IEEE Transactions On Nanotechnology*, 3 (3), 412 (2004).
- <sup>112</sup> J. Y. Cheng, C. A. Ross, E. L. Thomas, Henry I. Smith, and G. J. Vancso, "Fabrication of nanostructures with long-range order using block copolymer lithography", *Applied Physics Letters* 81, 3657 (2002).
- <sup>113</sup> J. Y. Cheng, C. A. Ross, E. L. Thomas H.I. Smith, G.J. Vancso, "Templated Self-Assembly of Block Copolymers: Effect of Substrate Topography", *Advanced Materials* 15, 1599 (2003).
- <sup>114</sup> S. H. Kim, M. J. Misner, T. Xu, M. Kimura, T. P. Russell, "Highly Oriented and Ordered Arrays from Block Copolymers via Solvent Evaporation", *Advanced Materials* 16, 226 (2004).
- <sup>115</sup> M. Li, K. Douki, K. Goto, X. Li, C. Coenjarts, D. M. Smilgies, and C. K. Ober, "Spatially Controlled Fabrication of Nanoporous Block Copolymers", *Chemistry of Materials*, 16 (20), 3800 (2004).
- <sup>116</sup> K. Naito, H. Hieda, M. Sakurai Y. Kamata, and K. Asakawa, "2.5-Inch Disk Patterned Media Prepared by an Artificially Assisted Self-Assembling Method", *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics* 38 (5), 1949 (2002).
- <sup>117</sup> D. Sundrani, S. B. Darling, and S. J. Sibener, "Guiding Polymers to Perfection: Macroscopic Alignment of Nanoscale Domains", *Nano Letters*, 4 (2), 273 (2004).
- <sup>118</sup> S. G. Xiao, X. M. Yang, E. W. Edwards, Y.-H. La, and P. F Nealey, "Graphoepitaxy of cylinder-forming block copolymers for use as templates to pattern magnetic metal dot arrays" *Nanotechnology*, S324 (2005).
- <sup>119</sup> X. M. Yang, S. G. Xiao, C. Liu et al., "Nanoscopic templates using self-assembled cylindrical diblock copolymers for patterned media", *Journal Of Vacuum Science & Technology B* 22, 3331 (2004).
- <sup>120</sup> Li-Wen Chang and H. S. Philip Wong, "Diblock copolymer directed self-assembly for CMOS device fabrication", SPIE Advances in Resist Technology and Processing XXIII, 6156, 615611 (2006).
- <sup>121</sup> J. Y. Cheng, A. M. Mayes, and C. A. Ross, "Nanostructure engineering by templated self-assembly of block copolymers", *Nature Materials* 3, 823 (2004).
- <sup>122</sup> D. Sundrani, S. B. Darling, and S. J. Sibener, "Hierarchical Assembly and Compliance of Aligned Nanoscale Polymer Cylinders in Confinement", *Langmuir* 20, 5091 (2004).
- <sup>123</sup> T. Yamaguchi and H. Yamaguchi, *Journal of Photopolymer Science and Technology*, 19 (3), 385 (2006); S.-M. Park, Stoykovich M. P, R. Ruiz et al., *Advanced Materials*, 19 (4), 607 (2007).
- <sup>124</sup> R. Ruiz, N. Ruiz, Y. Zhang R. L. Sandstrom, and C. T. Black., Local Defectivity Control of 2D Self-Assembled Block Copolymer Patterns Advanced Materials 19, 2157-2162 (2007).
- <sup>125</sup> C.T. Black, R. Ruiz, G. Breyta, J. Y. Cheng, M.C. Colburn, K. W, Guarini, H.-C. Kim, Y. Zhang, "Polymer Self Assembly in Semiconductor Microelectronics", *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, 51(5), 605-633 (2007).
- <sup>126</sup> Stoykovich, M. P.; Nealey, P. F., "Block copolymers and conventional lithography", Materials Today 9, 20-29 (2006).
- <sup>127</sup> Kim, S. O.; Solak, H. H.; Stoykovich, M. P.; Ferrier, N. J.; de Pablo, J. J.; Nealey, P. F., "Epitaxial self-assembly of block copolymers on lithographically defined nanopatterned substrates", *Nature*, , 424(6947), 411-414 (2003).

- <sup>128</sup> Edwards, E. W.; Montague, M. F.; Solak, H. H.; Hawker, C. J.; Nealey, P. F., "Precise control over molecular dimensions of blockcopolymer domains using the interfacial energy of chemically nanopatterned substrates", *Advanced Materials*, , 16(15), 1315-1319 (2004).
- <sup>129</sup> Stoykovich, M. P.; Edwards, E. W.; Solak, H. H.; Nealey, P. F., "Phase behavior of symmetric ternary block copolymerhomopolymer blends in thin films and on chemically patterned surfaces", *Physical Review Letters* 97(14), 147802 (2006).
- <sup>130</sup> Edwards, E. W.; Muller, M.; Stoykovich, M. P.; Solak, H. H.; de Pablo, J. J.; Nealey, P. F., "Dimensions and shapes of block copolymer domains assembled on lithographically defined chemically patterned substrates", *Macromolecules*, 40(1), 90-96 (2007).
- <sup>131</sup> M. P. Stoykovich, M. Muller, S. O. Kim, H. H. Solak, E. W. Edwards, J. J. de Pablo, and P. F. Nealey, "Directed assembly of block copolymer blends into nonregular device-oriented structures", *Science*, 308, 1442-1446 (2005).
- <sup>132</sup> C.T. Black, R. Ruiz, G. Breyta, J. Y. Cheng, M.C. Colburn, K. W, Guarini, H.-C. Kim, Y. Zhang, "Polymer Self Assembly in Semiconductor Microelectronics", *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, 51(5), 605-633 (2007).
- <sup>133</sup> D.J. Frank, Y. Taur, M. Ieong, H.-S. P. Wong, "Monte Carlo Modeling of Threshold Variation due to Dopant Fluctuations", 1999 Symposium on VLSI Technology Technical Digest of Technical Papers, 169-170, IEEE (1999).
- <sup>134</sup> T. Shinada, S. Okamoto, T. Kobayashi and I. Ohdomari "Enhancing Semiconductor Device Performance Using Ordered Dopant Arrays", *Nature*, 437 (20) 1128-1131 (2005).
- <sup>135</sup> D.J.C. Herr, A.C. Diebold, "Dopant Fluctuations Affect High-Frequency LER Requirements at Nanoscale", Semiconductor International (2006).
- <sup>136</sup> Semiconductor Industry Association. The International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors, 2005 edition. SEMATECH:Austin, TX, 2005. Refer to the Front End Process Chapter, Table 67b.
- <sup>137</sup> Y. Ma, T.I. Wallow, B.M. LaFontaine, H. J. Levinsion, "A Methodology to Evaluate Critical-Dimension Uniformity Control for sub-32 nm Technology", *Metrology, Inspection, and Process Control XXI*, 6518, SPIE Symposium on Advanced Lithography, (March 1, 2007).
- <sup>138</sup> S. Auvray, V. Derycke, M. Goffman, A. Filoramo, O. Jost, and J.-P. Bourgoin, "Chemical Optimization of Self-Assembled Carbon Nanotube Transistors" *Nano Letters*, 5, 451-455 (2005).
- <sup>139</sup> J.B. Hannon, A. Afzali, C. Klinke, and P. Avouris, "Selective Placement of Carbon Nanotubes on Metal-Oxide Surfaces", *Langmuir*, 21(19), 8569-8571 (2005).
- <sup>140</sup> C. Klinke, J.B. Hannon, A. Afzali, P. Avouris, "Field-Effect Transistors Assembled From Functionalized Carbon Nanotubes" Nano Lett., 6, 906-910 (2006).
- <sup>141</sup> G.S. Tulevski, J. Hannon, A. Afzali, Z. Chen, P. Avouris, and C.R. Kagan, "Chemically Assisted Directed Assembly of Carbon Nanotubes for the Fabrication of Large-Scale Device Arrays", J. Am. Chem. Soc. ,129(39); 11964-11968 (2007).
- <sup>142</sup> D. Rugar, R. Budakian, H. J. Mamin, and B. W. Chui, "Single spin detection by magnetic resonance force microscopy", *Nature* 430, 329-332 (2004)
- <sup>143</sup> K.-I. Kobayashi, T. Kimura\*, H. Sawada, K. Terakura, and Y. Tokura, "Room-temperature magnetoresistance in an oxide material with an ordered double-perovskite structure" *Nature* 395, 677(1999)
- <sup>144</sup> R. P. Borges, R. M. Thomas, C. Cullinan, J. M. D. Coey, R. Suryanarayanan, L. Ben-Dor, L. Pinsard-Gaudart, and A. Revcholevschi, "Magnetic properties of the double perovskites A2FeMoO6; A = Ca, Sr, Ba", *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* 11, L445-450 (1999)
- <sup>145</sup> Sze S M, Physics of Semiconductor Devices (New York: Wiley), 1981.
- <sup>146</sup> A. T. Hanbicki, B. T. Jonker, G. Itskos, G. Kioseoglou, and A. Petrou, "Efficient electrical spin injection from a magnetic metal/tunnel barrier contact into a semiconductor", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 80(7), 1240-1242 (2002).
- <sup>147</sup> A. T. Hanbicki, O. M. J. van 't Erve, R. Magno, G. Kioseoglou, C. H. Li, B. T. Jonker, G. Itskos, R. Mallory, M. Yasar, and A. Petrou, "Analysis of the transport process providing spin injection through an Fe/AlGaAs Schottky barrier", Appl. Phys. Lett. 82, 4092-4094 (2003)
- <sup>148</sup> A. M. Bratkovsky and V. V. Osipov, "High-Frequency Spin-Valve Effect in a Ferromagnet-Semiconductor-Ferromagnet Structure Based on Precession of the Injected Spins", Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 098302 (2004)
- <sup>149</sup> V. V. Osipov and A. M. Bratkovsky, "Efficient nonlinear room-temperature spin injection from ferromagnets into semiconductors through a modified Schottky barrier" *Phys. Rev. B* 70, 235312 (2004).
- <sup>150</sup> C. Adelmann, X. Lou, J. Strand, C. J. Palmstrøm, and P. A. Crowell, "Spin injection and relaxation in ferromagnet-semiconductor heterostructures", Phys. Rev. B 71, 121301 (2005)
- <sup>151</sup> X.-G. Zhang and W. H. Butler, "Large magnetoresistance in bcc Co/MgO/Co and FeCo/MgO/FeCo tunnel junctions", Phys. Rev. B 70, 172407 (2004)

- <sup>152</sup> Y. Acremann, J. P. Strachan, V. Chembrolu, S. D. Andrews, T. Tyliszczak, J. A. Katine, M. J. Carey, B. M. Clemens, H. C. Siegmann, and J. Stöhr," Time-Resolved Imaging of Spin Transfer Switching: Beyond the Macrospin Concept", Phys. Rev.Lett 96, 217202 (2006))
- <sup>153</sup> J. Wang, J. B. Neaton, H. Zheng, V. Nagarajan, S. B. Ogale, B. Liu, D. Viehland, V. Vaithyanathan, D. G. Schlom, U. V. Waghmare, N. A. Spaldin, K. M. Rabe, M. Wuttig, and R. Ramesh, "Epitaxial BiFeO3 Multiferroic Thin Film Heterostructures," *Science* 299, pp. 1719-1722, 2003
- <sup>154</sup> C. Ederer and N. A. Spaldin, "Weak ferromagnetism and magnetoelectric coupling in bismuth ferrite," *Physical Review B* 71, pp. 060401, 2005
- <sup>155</sup> T. Zhao, A. Scholl, F. Zavaliche, K. Lee, M. Barry, A. Doran, M. P. Cruz, Y. H. Chu, C. Ederer, N. A. Spaldin, R. R. Das, D. M. Kim, S. H. Baek, C. B. Eom, and R. Ramesh, "Electrical control of antiferromagnetic domains in multiferroic BiFeO3 films at room temperature," *Nature Materials* 5, pp. 823-829, 2006
- <sup>156</sup> A. Scholl, J. Stöhr, J. Lüning, J. W. Seo, J. Fompeyrine, H. Siegwart, J.-P. Locquet, F. Nolting, S. Anders, E. E. Fullerton, M. R. Scheinfein, and H. A. Padmore, "Observation of Antiferromagnetic Domains in Epitaxial Thin Films", *Science*, 287, pp. 1014-1016, 2000.
- <sup>157</sup> H. Zheng, J. Wang, S. E. Lofland, Z. Ma, L. Mohaddes-Ardabili, T. Zhao, L. Salamanca-Riba, S. R. Shinde, S. B. Ogale, F. Bai, D. Viehland, Y. Jia, D. G. Schlom, M. Wuttig, A. Roytburd, and R. Ramesh, "Multiferroic BaTiO3-CoFe2O4 nanostructures," *Science*, vol. 303, pp. 661-3, 2004.
- <sup>158</sup> W. Eerenstein, N. D. Mathur, and J. F. Scott, "Multiferroic and magnetoelectric materials," *Nature*, 442, pp. 759-65, 2006
- <sup>159</sup> G. Srinivasan, E. T. Rasmussen, J. Gallegos, R. Srinivasan, I. Bokhan Yu, and V. M. Laletin, "Magnetoelectric bilayer and multilayer structures of magnetostrictive and piezoelectric oxides," *Physical Review B* 64, pp. 2144081-6, 2001.
- <sup>160</sup> J. Van Den Boomgaard, D. R. Terrell, R. A. J. Born, and H. Giller, "An in situ grown eutectic magnetoelectric composite material. I. Composition and unidirectional solidification," *Journal of Materials Science* 9, pp. 1705-9, 1974.
- <sup>161</sup> R. Jungho, V. Carazo, K. Uchino, and K. Hyoun-Ee, "Magnetoelectric properties in piezoelectric and magnetostrictive laminate composites," Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, Part 1, 40, pp. 4948-51, 2001.
- <sup>162</sup> K. Ando "Seeking Room-Temperature Ferromagnetic Semiconductors," *Science* 312, 1883 (2006)
- <sup>163</sup> S. Ohya, K. Ohno, and M. Tanaka, "Magneto-Optical and Magnetotransport Properties of Heavily Mn-Doped GaMnAs," *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 90, 112503 (2007)
- <sup>164</sup> H. Ohno, "Making Nonmagnetic Semiconductors Ferromagnetic", Science. 281, 951 (1998).
- <sup>165</sup> A. Arrott, Criterion for Ferromagnetism from Observation of Magnetic Isotherms", *Phys. Review* 108, 1394 (1957)
- <sup>166</sup> S. Sugahara and M. Tanaka, "Spin MOSFETs As a Basis for Spintronics" ACM Trans. on Storage 2, 197-219 (2006).
- <sup>167</sup> S.Sugahara, "Perspective on Field-Effect Spin-Transistors", Phys. Stat. Sol. C 3, 4405-4413 (2006).
- <sup>168</sup> M.Tanaka and S.Sugahara, "MOS-Based Spin Devices for Reconfigurable Logic", IEEE Trans. Electron. Dev. vol.54, no.5, 2007, pp.961-976.
- <sup>169</sup> A. T. Hanbicki, O. M. J. van 't Erve, R. Magno, G. Kioseoglou, C. H. Li, B. T. Jonker, G. Itskos, R. Mallory, M. Yasar, and A. Petrou, "Analysis of the transport process providing spin injection through an Fe/AlGaAs Schottky barrier", Appl. Phys. Lett. 82, 4092 (2003).
- <sup>170</sup> X. Jiang, R. Wang, R. M. Shelby, R. M. Macfarlane, S. R. Bank, J. S. Harris, and S. S. P. Parkin, "Highly Spin-Polarized Room-Temperature Tunnel Injector for Semiconductor Spintronics using MgO(100)", Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 056601 (2005).
- <sup>171</sup> A. Sinsarp, T. Manago, F. Takano, H. Akinaga, "Electrical Spin Injection from Out-of-Plane Magnetized FePt/MgO Tunneling Junction into GaAs at Room Temperature", *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 46, L4-L6 (2007).
- <sup>172</sup> X. Lou, C. Adelmann, S.A. Crooker, E.S. Garlid, J. Zhang, K.S. M. Reddy, S.D. Flexner, C.J. Palmstrom and P.A. Crowell, "Electrical detection of spin transport in lateral ferromagnet-semiconductor devices", Nature Materials, Nature Physics, Vol.3, 2007, p.197.
- <sup>173</sup> B.C. Min, K. Motohashi, C. Lodder and R. Jansen, "Tunable spin-tunnel contacts to silicon using low-work-function ferromagnets", *Nature Materials* 5, 817 2006.
- <sup>174</sup> I. Appelbaum, B. Huang and D.J. Monsma, "Electronic measurement and control of spin transport in silicon", *Nature* 447, 295, 2007.
- <sup>175</sup> Y. D. Park, A. T. Hanbicki, S. C. Erwin, C. S. Hellberg, J. M. Sullivan, J. E. Mattson, T. F. Ambrose, A. Wilson, G. Spanos, and B. T. Jonker, "A Group-IV Ferromagnetic Semiconductor: MnxGe1-x", Science 295, 651 (2002).
- <sup>176</sup> T. Dietl, H. Ohno, F. Matsukura, J. Cibert, and D. Ferrand, "Zener model description of ferromagnetism in zinc-blende magnetic semiconductors," *Science* 287, 1019-22 (2000).

- <sup>177</sup> K. Sato and H. Katayama-Yoshida, "Material design for transparent ferromagnets with ZnO-based magnetic semiconductors," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, Part 2 (Letters)* 39, L555-8 (2000).
- <sup>178</sup> K. M. Yu, W. Walukiewicz, T. Wojtowicz, W. L. Lim, X. Liu, U. Bindley, M. Dobrowolska, and J. K. Furdyna, "Curie temperature limit in ferromagnetic Ga1-xMnx As," *Physical Review B*. 68, pp. 41308-1-4 (2003).
- <sup>179</sup> A. M. Nazmul, T. Amemiya, Y. Shuto, S. Sugahara, and M. Tanaka, "High temperature ferromagnetism in GaAs-based heterostructures with Mn delta doping," *Physical Review Letters* 95, 017201/1-4 (2005).
- <sup>180</sup> L. Bergqvist, O. Eriksson, J. Kudrnovsky, V. Drchal, P. Korzhavyi, and I. Turek, "Magnetic percolation in diluted magnetic semiconductors," Physical Review Letters, 93, 137202/1-4 (2004).
- <sup>181</sup> K. Sato, W. Schweika, P. H. Dederichs, and H. Katayama-Yoshida, "Low-temperature ferromagnetism in (Ga, Mn)N: ab initio calculations," *Physical Review B* 70, 201202-1-4 (2004).
- <sup>182</sup> T. Fukumura, Y. Yamada, H. Toyosaki, T. Hasegawa, H. Koinuma, and M. Kawasaki, "Exploration of oxide-based diluted magnetic semiconductors toward transparent spintronics", Applied Surface Science 223, . 62-7 (2004).
- <sup>183</sup> K. Ando, "Seeking Room-Temperature Ferromagnetic Semiconductor," *Science*, 312, 1883-5 (2006).
- <sup>184</sup> K. Sato, H. Katayama-Yoshida, and P. H. Dederichs, "High Curie temperature and nano-scale spinodal decomposition phase in dilute magnetic semiconductors," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, Part 2 (Letters)* 44, L948-51 (2005).
- <sup>185</sup> R. K. Singh, S. Y. Wu, H. X. Liu, G. Lin, D. J. Smith, and N. Newman, "The role of Cr substitution on the ferromagnetic properties of Ga1-xCrxN," Applied Physics Letters, 86, 12504-1-3, (2005).
- <sup>186</sup> M. Jamet, A. Barski, T. Devillers, V. Poydenot, R. Dujardin, P. Bayle-Guillemaud, J. Rothman, E. Bellet-Almaric, A. Marty, J. Cibert, R. Mattana, and S. Tatarenko, "High-Curie-temperature ferromagnetism in self-organized Ge1-x Mnx nanocolumns," *Nature Materials* 5, 653-9(2006).
- <sup>187</sup> S. Kuroda, N. Nishizawa, K. Takita, M. Mitome, Y. Bando, K. Osuch, and T. Dietl, "Origin and control of high-temperature ferromagnetism in semiconductors," *Nature Materials* 6, 440-6 (2007).
- <sup>188</sup> H. Akinaga, T. Manago, and M. Shirai, "Material design of half-metallic zinc-blende CrAs and the synthesis by molecular-beam epitaxy," Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, Part 2 (Letters) 39, L1118-20 (2000).
- <sup>189</sup> J. H. Zhao, F. Matsukura, K. Takamura, E. Abe, D. Chiba, and H. Ohno, "Room-temperature ferromagnetism in zincblende CrSb grown by molecular-beam epitaxy," *Applied Physics Letters* 79, 2776-8 (2001).
- <sup>190</sup> J. Chen, K. L. Wang, and K. Galatsis, "Electrical field control magnetic phase transition in nanostructured MnxGe1-x", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 90, 012501 (2007).
- <sup>191</sup> Y. Akasaka, G. Nakamura, K. Shiraishi, N. Umezawa, K. Yamabe, O. Ogawa, M. Lee, T. Amiaka, T. Kasuya, H. Watanabe, T. Chikyow, F. Ootsuka, Y. Nara, and K. Nakamura, Modified Oxygen Vacancy Induced Fermi Level Pinning Model Extendable to P-Metal Pinning", *Jap. J. Appl. Phys.* 45, L1289, 2006.
- <sup>192</sup> I. Stolichnov, A. Tagantsev, N. Setter ,J. S. Cross and M. Tsukada, Control of leakage conduction of high-fatigue-endurance (Pb, La)(Zr, Ti)O3 film ferroelectric capacitors with Pt/SrRuO3 electrodes", App. Phys. Lett. 75, 1790 (1999).
- <sup>193</sup> J. Robertson and C. W. Chen, "Schottky barrier heights of tantalum oxide, barium strontium titanate, lead titanate, and strontium bismuth tantalite", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 74, 1168 (1998).
- <sup>194</sup> K. Kim and Y.J. Song, "Integration technology for ferroelectric memory devices", *Microelectron. Reliab.* 43, 385–398 (2003).
- <sup>195</sup> C.-U. Pinnow and T. Mikolajick, "Material aspects in emerging nonvolatile memories", J. Electrochem.Soc., **151**, K13–K19 (2004)
- <sup>196</sup> H. Ishiwara, "Recent progress of ferroelectric memories", Int. J. High Speed Electron. Syst. 12 315–323 (2002).
- <sup>197</sup> J. K. Lee, Y. Park, and I. Chung, "Investigation of hydrogen induced degradation in Pb(ZrxTi1-x)O3 thin film capacitors for the application of memory devices", J. Appl. Phys. 92, 2724–2728 (2002).
- <sup>198</sup> H. N. Al-Shareef, K. R. Bellur, A. I. Kingon, and O. Auciello, "Influence of platinum interlayers on the electrical properties of RuO2/Pb(Zr0.53Ti0.47)O3/RuO2 capacitor heterostructures", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 66 239–241 (1995).
- <sup>199</sup> T. Nakamura, Y. Nakao, A. Kamisawa, and H. Takasu, "Preparation of Pb(Zr,Ti)O3 thin films on electrodes including IrO2", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 65, 1522–1524 (1994).
- <sup>200</sup> J.F. Scott, "Device physics of ferroelectric thin film memories", Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 38, 2272 2274 (1999).
- <sup>201</sup> D. Lee, D. Seong, H. Choi, I. Jo, R. Dong, W. Xiang, S. Oh, M. Pyun, S. Seo, S. Heo, M. Jo, D. Hwang, H. K. Park, M. Chang, M. Hasan, and H. Hwang, "Excellent uniformity and reproducible resistance switching characteristics of doped binary
- metal oxides for non-volatile resistance memory applications", IEDM Technical Digest(2006).
- <sup>202</sup> A. Ghosh and A. K. Raychaudri, "Electric-field-induced migration of oxygen ions in epitaxial metallic oxide films: Non-Debye relaxation and 1/f noise", Phys Rev. B 64, 104304 (2001).
- <sup>203</sup> C. H. Ng, C. S Ho, S.-F. Sanford Chu, and S.-C. Sun, "MIM Capacitor Integration for Mixed-Signal/RF Applications", IEEE Trans Electron Devices 52, 1399 (2005).

- <sup>204</sup> P. W. Peacock and J. Robertson, "Behavior of hydrogen in high dielectric constant oxide gate insulators", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 83, 2025, (2003).
- <sup>205</sup> B.-Y. Jang, B.-J. Kim, Y.-H. Jeong, S. Nahm, H.-J. Sun and H.-J. Lee, "Structure and dielectric properties of BaTi<sub>4</sub>O<sub>9</sub> thin films for RF-MIM capacitor applications", J. Electroceram. 17, 387, 2006.
- <sup>206</sup> J. McAneney, L. J. Sinnamon, R. M. Bowman, and J. M. Gregg, "Temperature and frequency characteristics of the interfacial capacitance in thin-film barium-strontium-titanate capacitors J. Appl. Phys. 94, 4566, 2003.
- <sup>207</sup> Y. Tokura, "Correlated-Electron Physics in Transition-Metal Oxides," Physics Today 56, 50-55 (2003).
- <sup>208</sup> E. Dagotto, "Complexity in Strongly Correlated Electronic Systems", *Science* 309, 257-262 (2005).
- <sup>209</sup> Y. Tomioka and Y. Tokura, "Global phase diagram of perovskite manganites in the plane of quenched disorder versus one-electron bandwidth," Physical Review B 70, 14432-1-5 (2004).
- <sup>210</sup> A. Sawa, T. Fujii, M. Kawasaki, and Y. Tokura, "Interface resistance switching at a few nanometer thick perovskite manganite active layers", *Applied Physics Letters* 88, 232112-1-3 (2006).
- <sup>211</sup> E. Saitoh, S. Okamoto, K. T. Takahashi, K. Tobe, K. Yamamoto, T. Kimura, S. Ishihara, S. Maekawa, and Y. Tokura, "Observation of orbital waves as elementary excitations in a solid", Nature 410, 180-3 (2001).
- <sup>212</sup> T. Arima, D. Higashiyama, Y. Kaneko, J. P. He, T. Goto, S. Miyasaka, T. Kimura, K. Oikawa, T. Kamiyama, R. Kumai, and Y. Tokura, "Structural and magnetoelectric properties of Ga2/Fe/O3 single crystals grown by a floating-zone method," *Physical Review B* 70, 64426-1-8 (2004).
- <sup>213</sup> H. Yamada, Y. Ogawa, Y. Ishii, H. Sato, M. Kawasaki, H. Akoh, and Y. Tokura, "Engineered interface of magnetic oxides," *Science* 305, 646-8 (2004).
- <sup>214</sup> T. Kimura, T. Goto, H. Shintani, K. Ishizaka, T. Arima, and Y. Tokura, "Magnetic control of ferroelectric polarization", Nature 426, pp. 55-58, 2003.
- <sup>215</sup> H. Y. Hwang, "APPLIED PHYSICS: Tuning Interface States," Science 313, 1895-1896 (2006).
- <sup>216</sup> M. Huijben, G. Rijnders, D. H. A. Blank, S. Bals, S. Van Aert, J. Verbeeck, G. Van Tendeloo, A. Brinkman, and H. Hilgenkamp, "Electronically coupled complementary interfaces between perovskite band insulators", *Nature Materials* 5, 556-60 (2006).
- <sup>217</sup> S. Thiel, G. Hammerl, A. Schmehl, C. W. Schneider, and J. Mannhart, "Tunable quasi-two-dimensional electron gases in oxide heterostructures," *Science* 313, 1942-1945 (2006).
- <sup>218</sup> A. Sawa, T. Fujii, M. Kawasaki, and Y. Tokura, "Interface resistance switching at a few nanometer thick perovskite manganite active layers", Appl. Phys. Lett. 88, 232112 (2006).
- <sup>219</sup> H. Yamada, M. Kawasaki, T. Lottermoser, T. Arima, and Y. Tokura, "LaMnO3/SrMnO3 interfaces with coupled charge-spinorbital modulation", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 89, 052506 (2006).
- <sup>220</sup> 214 A. Gruverman and S. V. Kalinin, "Piezoresponse force microscopy and recent advances in nanoscale studies of ferroelectrics", *Journal of Materials Science* 41, 107-16 (2006).
- <sup>221</sup> S. V. Kalinin, B. J. Rodriguez, S. Jesse, S. Junsoo, A. P. Baddorf, P. Gupta, H. Jain, D. B. Williams, and A. Gruverman, "Vector piezoresponse force microscopy", *Microscopy and Microanalysis* 12, 206-20 (2006).
- <sup>222</sup> S. V. Kalinin, S. Jesse, B. J. Rodriguez, J. Shin, A. P. Baddorf, H. N. Lee, A. Borisevich, and S. J. Pennycook, "Spatial resolution, information limit, and contrast transfer in piezoresponse force microscopy," *Nanotechnology*, 17, 3400-11 (2006).
- <sup>223</sup> J.E. Jaffe, R.A. Bachorz, M. Gutowski, "Band offset and magnetic property engineering for epitaxial interfaces", *Phys Rev B* 75, 205323 (2007)
- <sup>224</sup> B. Larade and A.M. Bratkovsky, "Effect of impurities on transport through organic self-assembled molecular films", *Physical Review B* 72, 035440 (2005).
- <sup>225</sup> B. J. LeRoy, I. Heller, V. K. Pahilwani, C. Dekker, and S. G. LeMay, "Simultaneous electrical transport and scanning tunneling spectroscopy of carbon nanotubes", *Nano Letters*, 7(10), 2937-2941, 2007
- <sup>226</sup> A. Javey, J. Guo, Q. Wang, M. Lundstrom, and H. Dai, "Ballistic carbon nanotube field effects transistors", *Nature* 424, 654 (2003).
- <sup>227</sup> Y. Li, D. Mann, M. Rolandi, W. Kim, A. Ural, S. Hung, A. Javey, J. Cao, D. Wang, E. Yenilmez, Q. Wang, J. F. Gibbons, Y. Nishi, and H. Dai, "Preferential Growth of Semiconducting Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes by a Plasma Enhanced CVD Method", Nano Lett. 4, 317 (2004).
- <sup>228</sup> N.A. Bruque, K. Alam, R.R. Pandey, R. Lake, J.P. Lewis, X. Wang, F. Liu, C.S. Ozkan, M. Ozkan, and K.L. Wang, "Selfassembled carbon nanotubes for electronic circuit and device applications", Journal of Nanoelectronics and Optoelectonics. 1, 74-81 (2006).
- <sup>229</sup> S. Schmidt, D.O. Klenov, S.P. Keane, J. Liu, T.E. Mates, and S. Stemmer, "Atomic structure of (111) SrTiO<sub>3</sub>/Pt interfaces", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 88, 131914 (2006).
- <sup>230</sup> H. Ishiwara, "Recent progress in ferroelectric memories", Int. J. High Speed Electronic Systems 12, 315 (2002).

- <sup>231</sup> N. Koch, A. Kahn, J. Ghijsen, J.-J. Pireaux, J. Schwartz, R.L. Johnson, A. Elschner, "Conjugated organic molecules on metal versus polymer electrodes: demonstration of a key energy level alignment mechanism", Appl. Phys. Lett. 82, 70 (2003)
- <sup>232</sup> N. Koch, A. Elschner, J. Schwartz, and A. Kahn, "Organic molecular films on gold versus conducting polymer: influence of injection barrier height and morphology on current-voltage characteristics", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 82, 2281 (2003).
- <sup>233</sup> H. Ishii and K. Seki, "Energy level alignment at organic-metal interfaces studied by UV photoemission: breakdown of traditional assumption of a common vacuum level at the interface", *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* 44, 1295 (1997).
- <sup>234</sup> I. G. Hill, A. Rajagopal, A. Kahn, and Y. Hu, "Molecular level alignment at organic semiconductor-metal interfaces", Appl. Phys Lett. 73, 662 (1998).
- <sup>235</sup> P.E. Kornilovitch and A.M. Bratkovski, "Orientational dependence of current through molecular films", Phys. Rev. B 64, 195413 (2001)
- <sup>236</sup> A.M. Bratkovsky, "Current rectification, switching, polarons, and defects in molecular electronic devices", in *Polarons in Advanced Materials*, ed. A.S. Alexandrov (Canopus/Springer, Bristol, 2007)
- <sup>237</sup> R.M. Stroud, A.T. Hanbicki, Y.D. Pard, G. Kioseoglou, A.G. Petukhov, and B.T. Jonker, "Reduction of spin injection efficiency by interface defect spin scattering in ZnMnSe/AlGaAs-GaAs spin polarized light-emitting diodes", *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 89, 166602 (2002).
- <sup>238</sup> A. M. Bratkovsky and V. V. Osipov, "High-Frequency Spin-Valve Effect in a Ferromagnet-Semiconductor-Ferromagnet Structure Based on Precession of the Injected Spins", *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 92, 098302 (2004); V. V. Osipov and A. M. Bratkovsky, Appl. Phys. Lett. 84, 2118 (2004).
- <sup>239</sup> P.G. Mather, J.C. Read, and R.A. Buhrman, "Disorder, defects, and band gaps in ultrathin (100) MgO tunnel barrier layers", Phys. Rev. B 73, 205412 (2006).
- <sup>240</sup> W. H. Butler, X.-G. Zhang, S. Vutukuri, M. Chshiev, and T. C. Schulthess, "Theory of Tunneling Magnetoresistance for Epitaxial Systems", IEEE Trans. On Mag. 41, 2645 (2005).
- <sup>241</sup> D.D. Gandhi, M. Lane, Y. Zhou, S. Nayak, U. Tisch, M. Eizenberg, and G. Ramanath, Annealing-induced interfacial toughening using a molecular monolayer, *Nature* 447, 299 (2007).
- <sup>242</sup> G. Oberdörster, Z. Sharp, V. Atudorei, A. Elder, R. Gelein, A. Lunts, W. Kreyling, and C. Cox, "Extrapulmonary translocation of ultrafine carbon particles following whole-body inhalation exposure of rats", *J. Toxicology & Environmental Health* 65, 1531– 1543 (2002).
- <sup>243</sup> G. Oberdörster, Z. Sharp, V. Atudorei, A. Elder, R. Gelein, W. Kreyling, and C. Cox, "Translocation of inhaled ultrafine particles to the brain", *Inhalation Toxicology* 16, 437–445 (2004).
- <sup>244</sup> D. B. Warheit, B. R. Laurence, K. L. Reed, D. H. Roach, G. A. M. Reynolds and T. R. Webb, "Comparative Pulmonary Toxicity Assessment of Single-wall Carbon Nanotubes in Rats", Toxicological Sciences 77, 117-125 (2004).
- <sup>245</sup> E.A. Schellenberger, F. Reynolds, R. Weissleder, and L. Josephson, "Surface-functionalized nanoparticle library yields probes for apoptotic cells", *ChemBioChem* 5, 275-279 (2004).
- <sup>246</sup> P. J. A. Borm and W. Kreyling, "Toxicological hazards of inhaled nanoparticles potential implications for drug delivery". Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 4, 1–11 (2004).
- <sup>247</sup> W. G. Kreyling, M. Semmler, F. Erbe, P. Mayer, S. Takenaka, H. Schulz, G. Oberdörster, and A. Ziesenis, "Translocation of ultrafine insoluble iridium particles from lung epithelium to extrapulmonary organs is size dependent but very low", *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health* 65, 1513-1530 (2002).
- <sup>248</sup> A. Nemmar, P. H. Hoet, B. Vanquickenborne, D. Dinsdale, M. Thomeer, M. F. Hoylaerts, H. Vanbilloen, L. Mortelmans, and B. Nemery, "Passage of inhaled particles into the blood circulation in humans", *Circulation* 105, 411-414 (2002).
- <sup>249</sup> J. P. Ryman-Rasmussen, J. E. Riviere, and N. A. Monteiro-Riviere, "Penetration of intact skin by quantum dots with diverse physicochemical properties", *Toxological Sci.* 91, 159-165 (2006).
- <sup>250</sup> G. Oberdörster, A. Maynard, K. Donaldson, V. Castranova, J. Fitzpatrick, K. Ausman, J. Carter, B. Karn, W. Kreyling, D. Lai, S. Olin, N. Monteiro-Riviere, D. Warheit, and H. Yang, "Principles for characterizing the potential human health effects from exposure to nanomaterials: elements of a screening strategy", *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 2, Article 8 (2005).
- <sup>251</sup> S. Schmidt, D.O. Klenov, S.P. Keane, J. Liu, T.E. Mates, S. Stemmer, "Atomic structure of (111) SrTiO<sub>3</sub>/Pt interfaces", Appl. Phys. Lett. 88, 131914 (2006).
- <sup>252</sup> N. Koch, A. Elschner, J. Schwartz, A. Kahn, "Organic molecular films on gold versus conducting polymer: influence of injection barrier height and morphology on current-voltage characteristics", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 82, 2281 (2003)
- <sup>253</sup> J. C. Read, P. G. Mather, and R. A. Buhrman, "X-ray photoemission study of CoFeB/MgO thin film bilayers", *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 90, 132503 (2007).
- <sup>254</sup> G. S. Shekhwat and V. P. Dravid, "Nanoscale imaging of buried structures via scanning near-field ultrasound holography", *Science* 310, 89 (2005).

- <sup>255</sup> N. Anderson, P. Anger, A. Hartschuch, L. Novotny, Subsurface Raman imaging with nanoscale resolution, Nano Letters, vol. 6, 744, (2006)
- <sup>256</sup> V. Narayanamurti and M. Kozhevnikov, "BEEM Imaging and spectroscopy of buried structures in semiconductors", *Physics Reports* 349, 447 (2001).
- <sup>257</sup> A. Bannani, C. Babisch, and R. Möller, "Ballistic electron microscopy of individual molecules", *Science* 315, 1824 (2007).
- <sup>258</sup> G. Kirczenow, "Ballistic electron spectroscopy of individual buried molecules", *Phys. Rev. B* 75, 045428 (2007).
- <sup>259</sup> M. R. Scheinfein, J. Unguris, M. H. Kelley, D. T. Pierce, and R. J. Celotta, "Scanning Electron Microscopy With Polarization Analysis (SEMPA)", *Review Scientific Instruments* 61, 2501 (1990).
- <sup>260</sup> J. Unguris, G. G. Hembree, R. J. Celotta, and D. T. Pierce, "Scanning electron microscope with polarization analysis of magnetic materials", J. Vac. Sci. Technol, A 5, 1976 (1987).
- <sup>261</sup> X. Lou, C. Adelmann, S.A. Crokker, E.S. Garlid, J. Zhang, K.S. Reddy, S.D. Flexner, C.J. Palmstrom, and P.A. Crowell, "Electrical detection of spin transport in lateral ferromagnet-semiconductor devices", *Nature Physics* 3, 197 (2007).
- <sup>262</sup> J. A. Sidles, J. L. Garbini, K. J. Bruland, D. Rugar, O. Zuger, S. Hoen and C. S. Yannoni, "Magnetic resonance force microscopy", *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 67, 249 (1995).
- <sup>263</sup> D. Kan, T. Terahima, R. Kanda, A. Masuno, K. Tanaka, S. Chu, H. Kan, A. Ishizumi, Y. Kanemitsu, Y. Sshimakawa, and M. Takano, "Blue-light emission at room temperature from Ar+-irradiated SrTiO3", *Nature Materials* 4, 814-819 (2005).
- <sup>264</sup> D. A. Muller, N. Nakagawa, A. Ohtomo, J. L. Grazul and H. Y. Hwang, "Atomic-scale imaging of nanoengineered oxygen vacancy profiles in SrTiO<sub>3</sub>", *Nature* 430, 657-661 (2004).
- <sup>265</sup> C-L Jai, M. Lentzen, and K Urban, "High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy Using Negative Spherical Abberration", *Microsc. Microanal.* 10, 174–184 (2004)
- <sup>266</sup> R. S. Berry in "Theory of Atomic and Molecular Clusters", J. Jellinek (Ed), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany, 1999.
- <sup>267</sup> S. Senkader and C. D. Wright, "Models for phase-change of Ge<sub>2</sub>Sb<sub>2</sub>Te<sub>5</sub> in optical and electrical memory devices", *J. of Appl. Phys.* 95, 504 (2004).
- <sup>268</sup> T. L. Hill, "A Different Approach to Nanothermodynamics", Nanoletters 1, 273 (2001).
- <sup>269</sup> G. A. Mansoori, Principles of nanotechnology: molecular based study of condensed matter in small systems, World Scientific, Singapore, 2005.
- <sup>270</sup> J. W. Cahn and J. E. Hilliard, "Free Energy of a Nonuniform System. III. Nucleation in a Two-Component Incompressible Fluid", J. Chem. Phys. 31, 688 (1959).
- <sup>271</sup> D. W. Oxtoby, "Nucleation of First-Order Phase Transitions", Acc. Chem. Res. 31, 91 (1998).
- <sup>272</sup> E. Kaxiras, Atomic and Electronic Structure of Solids, Cambridge, 2003
- <sup>273</sup> A. Nakano, a R. K. Kalia, a K. Nomura, a A. Sharma, P. Vashishta, F. Shimojoa, "De novo Ultrascale atomistic simulations on highend parallel supercomputers", Int'l J. High Performance Comput. Appl, pre-print, 2007